
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Regulatory Board 
(Planning)

Members of the Regulatory Board (Planning) of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 4 September 2019 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda 
is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 12)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;



A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

a) 20160215 - Tollgate Hotel, Watling Street, Gravesend DA13 9RA - 
report herewith

(Pages 13 - 
120)

b) 20190451 - 74 Parrock Street, Gravesend DA12 1HF - report 
herewith

(Pages 121 - 
154)

c) 20190372 - Land adjacent to 90 Downs Road, Istead Rise, 
Gravesend DA13 9HQ - report herewith

(Pages 155 - 
172)

d) 20180682 - Hevercourt Residential Care Home, Goodwood 
Crescent, Gravesend DA12 5EY - report herewith

(Pages 173 - 
196)

e) 20190678 - 2 Portland Villas, Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 
1LQ - report herewith

(Pages 197 - 
210)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Housing & Regeneration) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Burden
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Brian Sangha

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


Substitutes: To be notified



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Regulatory Board (Planning)

Wednesday, 24 July 2019 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Burden
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Bob Lane
Brian Sangha
Frank Wardle

Note: Councillors: Baljit Hayre, Leslie Hoskins and Tony Rana were also in attendance

Vicky Nutley Assistant Head of Legal Services (Place)
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Richard McEllistrum Interim Planning Manager (Development Management)
Richard Hart Principal Planner (Major Sites)
Peter Price Principal Planner
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

68. Apologies for absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Jordan Meade and Cllr Frank Wardle 
attended as his substitute.

69. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2019 were signed by the Chair.

70. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr John Burden declared an other significant (not pecuniary) interest in relation to 
application 20190503 – Amenity Space, St Patrick’s Gardens, Gravesend as he was the 
Leader of the Council and that the Borough Council was the applicant. Cllr Burden advised 
he would not speak or vote on this item.

Cllr John Burden declared an other significant (not pecuniary) interest in relation to 
application 20190252 – Land behind Tesco Express, Whitehill Parade, Whitehill Road, 
Gravesend. This application had been submitted by the same applicant as application 
20190169 -  Cobham Lodge, Valley Drive.  20190169 had been deferred to enable 
negotiations with the applicant to address the Board’s concerns in regard to all five grounds 
of refusal. The fifth ground was the proposed development’s failure to make any provision for 

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Regulatory Board (Planning) 24.07.2019

2

affordable housing, or any other developer contributions. Cllr Burden’s interest was related 
to two of the identified developer contributions. The first element was for the elderly and Cllr 
Burden was Chairman and Director of Age UK North West Kent and the second was for the 
youth and he was a Director and the Council’s representative for The Gr@nd. Cllr Burden 
advised that he would leave the meeting during the discussion and voting on this application.

Cllr Harold Craske declared an other interest in relation to application 20190503 – Amenity 
Space, St Patrick’s Gardens, Gravesend as he had been made aware of the application 
when he was a member of the Cabinet. 

71. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be considered in 
private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

None.

72. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

72.1 20190503 - Amenity Space, St Patrick's Gardens, Gravesend DA12 4AN 

Cllr John Burden remained in the Council Chamber but took no part in the discussions or 
voting on this application.

The Board considered application reference 20190503 which proposed the erection of a 
block of flats with ancillary spaces, associated car parking, landscaping and improvements 
to existing children’s playground in the amenity green space at St Patrick’s Gardens, 
Gravesend DA12 4AN. The flat block would contain a total of 23 affordable units including 7 
one bedroom rented flats and 16 two bedroom rented flats. The Principal Planner (Major 
Sites) advised that the building was 4 storeys in height which was considered to be in 
keeping with the character and appearance of the area. In addition, the loss of amenity 
greenspace which served the existing development known as St Patrick’s Gardens had been 
balanced with the proposed improvements to the remaining amenity greenspace 
(landscaping, redevelopment of the children’s play area and the planting of semi mature 
trees) and this was considered to offset the loss of part of the amenity greenspace including 
the loss of the mature trees.

The application had been referred for consideration by the Regulatory Board (Planning) as it 
was a major development proposal for 100% affordable housing and the Local Planning 
Authority was the applicant.

Members were advised that no objections to the proposal had been received from 
consultees. Four letters of objection had been received from neighbouring properties which 
have been carefully considered and none of the concerns raised in the objection letters raise 
any further issues which have not been already been considered during the planning 
application.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 A question was raised on the definition of low quality open space in the 2016 Open 
Space Assessment in that open spaces considered attractive for development might 
be in danger of always being considered to be low quality. 

Page 6



Regulatory Board (Planning) 24.07.2019

3

 The application was not considered to have any adverse impact on neighbouring 
properties as the proposal was a significant distance from them.

 Concern was expressed that semi mature trees would not be as efficient as mature 
trees in absorbing carbon dioxide and other pollutants. Members were informed that 
6 mature trees would be lost and a higher number of semi mature trees would be 
planted in replacement.

 Following a question about the height of the building, it was confirmed that the 4 
storey proposal was an efficient use of the site and was in keeping with the 
surrounding area.

 The Board was advised that a “winter garden” was an enclosed balcony which 
provided ventilation when the windows were closed, but could be opened fully or 
partially using a slide and fold system on the top half of the balcony. This would 
enable residents to use their private amenity space in the winter as well as summer.

 Concern was raised regarding the proximity of the play area to the road and the car 
park. It was confirmed that no supervision was to be provided. However, the play 
area would be fenced, have seating for parents and childminders and would have 
leading to and from the car park. Officers intended to consult with existing residents 
as to their requirements for this area. For example, it might be built using natural 
materials and an outdoor gym incorporated.

 A landscape architect had been involved in the project since its inception.
 It was noted that the demand for affordable housing in the Borough was very high 

and there were currently 2,500 to 3,000 people on the waiting list the majority of 
which required a 2 bedroom unit.

 The Board was informed that it was proposed that the previously unused space in the 
corner of the site be used for car parking and a new waste collection area. 

 With regard to energy efficiency measures, the fabric of the building was considered 
to be very energy efficient and the units would be very economical to run.  The 
installation of ducting for car charging points was also proposed.  

Resolved that application 20190503 be DELEGATED to the Assistant Director 
(Planning) and/or the Interim Planning Manager (Development Management) to 
grant Planning Permission, subject to:

(a) Securing appropriate contributions in regard to requests
from Kent County Council; and 

(b) The imposition of appropriate planning conditions as 
detailed in Appendix 1 of the report.

Note: (a) Ms Sharon Donald (applicant)(a supporter) addressed the Board.
(b) Ms Anna Kadziolka (Architect)(a supporter) addressed the Board.

72.2 20190252 - Land behind Tesco Express, Whitehill Parade, Whitehill Lane, 
Gravesend DA12 5LS 

Cllr John Burden left the Council Chamber during discussion and voting on this application.

The Board considered an application reference 20190252 which proposed the construction 
of a 3 storey building to the rear and side of the existing Tesco Express (formerly Whitehill 
Tavern Public House) to provide 12 flats comprising 10 x two bedroom and 2 x three 
bedroom units; provision of play/amenity areas and private amenity space; provision of bin 
store/bike store including replacement bin store for Tesco Express and relocation of retail 

Page 7



Regulatory Board (Planning) 24.07.2019

4

store plant to the rear flat roof of the store; a change of use of part of the Whitehill Lane 
Open Space to a car park for commercial and residential purposes involving the construction 
of 27 car parking spaces with vehicle turning area and with vehicular access from Whitehill 
Parade and the removal of the existing layby parking.

The application was referred for consideration by the Regulatory Board (Planning) at the 
request to Cllr Brian Sangha to (i) allow the Board to assess the scale and nature of the 
development and whether or not it was consistent with the character and appearance of the 
area; (ii) to allow Members to consider whether or not on balance, the loss of amenity space 
was acceptable; and (iii) to consider the acceptability and layout of the design, including the 
adequacy of living and storage space standards for future occupants; and noting that the 
development scheme was finely balance and somewhat complex.

The Principal Planner advised that the application site comprised two separate areas (i) the 
customer car park and servicing area on the west side of the existing Tesco Express 
supermarket, and a grassed garden area at the rear and (ii) the southern part of the existing 
Whitehill Lane open space, which had not been classed as surplus to requirements, and was 
a grassed amenity area. The Board noted that planning permission had been refused on 6 
November 2018 under officer delegated powers for an application (ref 20180867) submitted 
by the same applicant but was just for the change of use of part of Whitehill Lane Open 
Space to a car park involving the construction of 27 car parking spaces with vehicle turning 
area and with vehicular access from Whitehill Parade including removal of the existing lay by 
parking. The application had not included any associated residential development. The 
officer further advised that an appeal against the decision of the Borough Council to refuse 
permission for a proposed car park on the Whitehill Lane open space had been dismissed by 
the Planning Inspectorate in May 2019 with the appointed Planning Inspector agreed with 
the Borough Council that the proposed loss of designated amenity greenspace would have a 
materially harmful impact on the supply and provision of greenspace in the locality in conflict 
with local and national planning policies. The Board noted that the Whitehill Lane open 
space was part owned by the applicant and part owned by the Council who had, for a 
number of years, maintained the whole of the area. More recently a picket fence had been 
erected by the applicant on the ownership boundary and the layby had been closed for use 
with the aid of concrete blocks.

Members were advised that in response to the publicity given to the application there had 
been a considerable number of neighbour objections from local residents principally from 
properties at the rear on the south side of the site in Ivy Close and which were clearly the 
most affected by the development. The objections were in relation to impact on local 
amenity, significant traffic generation, congestion and inadequacy of parking, impact on the 
character of the area, the scale and design being inappropriate and to the loss of open 
space and ecology on the site. A number of letters of support for the application had also 
been received.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 The Principal Planner confirmed that nothing had changed in relation to the open 
space since the decision of the Planning Inspectorate had been made.

 Following a question from the Board, the officer outlined the reasons for the 
difference between the Whitehill open space and the one detailed in the St Patrick’s 
Gardens application. The reasons included that the proposal would impact living 
conditions of neighbouring properties, the design was not complimentary to the 
character of the site or the area and no mitigation had been proposed to balance the 

Page 8



Regulatory Board (Planning) 24.07.2019

5

loss of the open space. Also, there were very few other alternative open spaces in 
the locality and the development at St Patrick’s Gardens resulted in fully affordable 
housing and not affordable housing provision was being made in respect of the 
Tesco Express development as it fell under the threshold.

 Concern was voiced with regard to the height and bulk of the proposed building and 
that it would dwarf the parade of shops it would be built around making the design 
overbearing. 

 The increase in traffic in the area as a result of the proposed residences was also 
considered to be an issue together with increased pressure on parking.

 Following a question about the Appeal decision, Members were advised that they 
must consider each application on its merits. However, the Appeal decision was a 
material consideration.

 The Board was advised that the distance between the amenity space balconies at 
the rear of the proposed development, facing Ivy Close, measured 5 metres. It was 
noted that the applicant had sought to mitigate the impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties by introducing angled windows and screening on the 
balconies. However, whilst the scheme complied with the 25 degree rule but would 
still overshadow neighbouring properties.

 Following a question from a Member, the Principal Planner confirmed that the letters 
of objections had all been received from local residents and that some of the letters 
of support had been received from people who did not live in the local area. The 
officer advised that this was not unusual and could work both ways.

 Cllr Leslie Hoskins, a Ward Member, highlighted residents’ concerns that the 
proposal would increase the existing parking issues in Whitehill Road which the 
closure of the layby had already made worse and the construction of the building 
would cause further chaos. The Member politely requested that the open space be 
returned to its previous condition and placed into the ownership of the Council.

 Cllr Rana, another Ward Member, stated that he felt the size of the proposed building 
to be overbearing and coupled with the loss of amenity made the proposal 
unacceptable.

 The agent made the point that he considered that the ‘Open Space’ use had 
effectively ceased when the land had been taken back into private ownership. He 
further explained that as the general public no longer had the right to use it and as 
such the issue over it being public open space was academic, he considered that it 
was now private land and not for use by the general public.

 The Board noted that there was no objection to the principle of the development of 
this site but considered this application to be unacceptable for the reasons set out in 
the report. 

 The possibility of a decision for deferral was raised to allow possibility for the 
applicant to address the Board’s concerns.

Resolved that application 20190252 be REFUSED on the grounds of loss of 
amenity greenspace contrary to local and national planning policy, harm to the 
character of the area, overdevelopment and the height, mass and form of the 
development being inappropriate and due to the unneighbourly impact and 
potential overlooking particularly of properties adjoining the site at the rear of 
Ivy Close. 

Note: (a) Mr Darren Bland (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Board.
(b) Mr Singh (a supporter) addressed the Board.

Page 9



Regulatory Board (Planning) 24.07.2019

6

(c) Cllr Leslie Hoskins spoke with the permission of the Chair.
(d) Cllr Tony Rana spoke with the permission of the Chair.

72.3 20190451 - 74 Parrock Street, Gravesend DA12 1HF - report herewith 

The Board considered an application reference 20190451 which proposed the change of use 
to Sui Generis House from an existing single family dwelling into Housing in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) at 74 Parrock Street, Gravesend DA12 1HF.

The Principal Planner (Major Sites) advised that the application site comprised a four storey 
dwelling which was located on the west side of Parrock Street to the south of its junction with 
Homemead Close. The area lay within the most northern part of the Windmill Hill 
Conservation Area. The proposal was for the change of use of an existing single family 
dwelling into a HMO for 8 people. The conversion would provide 8 bedrooms with dedicated 
shower facilities for each room and a shared kitchen/diner and utility room. The rear garden 
would provide space for 2 vehicles to park, a bin store and cycle storage plus amenity space 
for future occupiers. Alterations that were proposed to the exterior of the building included 
the front boundary wall, piers and railings being re-instated along with the site frontage with 
new windows and doors being installed. The rear garden would be resurfaced in accordance 
with details to be controlled via a planning condition. The application was located on a busy 
arterial route into the town centre where most properties had already been converted into 
flats and maisonettes. Given the high levels of flatted development, this was considered to 
be an appropriate location for conversion in an accessible and sustainable location. The size 
and internal arrangement of the building would qualify as being appropriate for conversion 
pursuant to criteria set out in saved policy H5 of the Gravesham local Plan First Review and 
the emerging Development Management Policy DM29. The applicant had submitted a 
signed SAMMS Agreement form and payment towards the provision of appropriate 
mitigation. As such the proposal accords with Core Strategy policy CS12 (Green 
Infrastructure) which affords internationally important areas such as Ramsar sites and SPA’s 
the highest protection and addresses the comments raised by Natural England. 

The application was before the Board on the request of Cllr Steve Thompson who 
considered that:

 The number of HMOs on Parrock Street and surrounding streets was over saturation.
 There was insufficient on-street parking for current residents.
 The accumulation of refuse on the stretch of Parrock Street, due in part to the lack of 

refuse storage space in the HMOs and No 74 appeared to have no such storage 
space either.

 There was a lack of space for the storage of bicycles.

Members were advised that in response to the publicity given to the application no 
representations had been received from members of the public.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Following a question in relation to the size of the shared kitchen/diner, the officer 
confirmed it would be 20 sqm and the national space standard was 27 sqm. 
However, the bedrooms would be slightly over the minimum  size which would 
compensate to a degree.

 It was intended that 8 adults would live in the HMO and concern was raised about the 
lack of parking. The Board was advised that the site was close to the town centre, 

Page 10



Regulatory Board (Planning) 24.07.2019

7

there was a public car park in close proximity and parking was subject to parking 
permits.

 The Board noted that the bathrooms, which comprised a toilet, a sink and a shower 
cubicle, were very small and a question was raised as to their usability for future 
occupants.

 Members were advised that refuse storage would be located in the rear garden which 
would be accessed by the refuse collection services. This could be controlled by 
condition and could also include a refuse management plan.

 The Assistant Head of Legal Services (Place) advised that, in this instance, there 
were a number of regulatory schemes that had to run alongside each other and it 
was possible that an HMO licensing decision might contradict a planning decision. If 
the conversion to an HMO was given planning permission, the applicant would have 
to apply for a HMO licence and living space would be a consideration of this process 
as would include details such as fire safety features. 

 In relation to the possible saturation of the area with regard to numbers of HMOs, the 
Principal Planner (Major Sites) advised that research had shown no. 84 Parrock 
Street had 14 bedrooms and there were 2 others. However, conversion to HMOs up 
to a maximum of 6 bedrooms could take place under Permitted Development Rights 
and would therefore not have come to the attention of the Council. Anything over 5 
bedrooms had to be licensed as an HMO.

 The lack of scale in the layout drawings was commented on and how this made it 
difficult to consider whether the rooms would be usable by future occupiers.

Resolved:

(a) that application 20190451 be DEFERRED to enable negotiations with the 
applicant and/or the applicant’s agent to address the Board’s concerns in 
regard to the small size of the bathrooms and to confirm that they would be 
fit for purpose, and to provide further information regarding the adequacy 
of the kitchen/diner and the utility room; and

(b) that the application be reported back to the Regulatory Board (Planning) 
for determination of the application.

73. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Housing & Regeneration) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Housing & Regeneration) 
under delegated powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.00 pm

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20160215

Site Address: Tollgate Hotel, Watling Street, Gravesend DA13 9RA

Application 
Description:

Demolition of all former Tollgate hotel/restaurant and construction of a 
petrol filling station and forecourts, sales building, ATM, underground 
fuel tanks, refuse/recycling, AC/refrigeration units, vehicular access, 
substation, parking and all associated works and services on part of the 
site.

Applicant: B P Oil UK Limited

Agent: Aitchison Raffety (Nigel Ozier)

Ward: Woodlands

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: Originally 06 June 2016

Publicity expiry date: Previously on 01 September 2017

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board - 04 September 2019 

Reasons for referral: Board decision required in respect of an appeal against non-
determination. Application previously considered by the Board.  

Recommendation:

That having regard to:

- all of the grounds of challenge in the Judicial Review claim 
brought against the Borough Council that resulted in the 
quashing on 26 June 2018 of the decision to grant planning 
permission on 7 February 2018, and 

- the failure of the applicants to respond directly to the Borough 
Council to those grounds of challenge or to the Council’s Advice 
Note sent to the applicants on 26 July 2018 with any additional or 
revised information, documents or plans, 

that, if it had been possible to determine the current planning 
application, the Board would have REFUSED to grant planning 
permission.

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

This planning application (ref 20160215) for the construction of a BP Connect petrol filling 
station on the site of the former Tollgate Hotel (and with all existing hotel/restaurant buildings to 

Page 13 Agenda Item 5a



be demolished) was originally reported to and considered by the Council’s Regulatory Board at 
its meeting on 07 February 2018.

The site is located next to what was the former off slip road to the former line of the A2 trunk 
road, now a linear greenspace, following the Highways Agency (now Highways England) 
scheme that relocated the route of the A2 southwards in 2009.  The site is within the Green Belt 
just beyond the urban area of Gravesend and Northfleet to the north but it is a previously 
developed site.

The Board meeting on 7 February 2018 agreed with the officer recommendation and resolved 
to grant planning permission subject to planning conditions, reasons and informatives.

An earlier planning application (ref 20131018) for both a BP Connect petrol filling station and a 
restaurant/drive thru for the McDonalds franchise was the subject of decisions to grant 
conditional planning permission by the Board at its meetings on 15 January 2014 and 
subsequently on 22 July 2015.  However Judicial Review (JR) claims were brought against 
both of the Borough Council’s decisions, with the Borough Council consenting to the quashing 
of the first decision to grant planning permission in June 2014 as the Council had failed to 
properly apply the correct policy tests for the development in the Green Belt in relation to what 
was then paragraph 89 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  The subsequent 
planning permission issued on 29th July 2015 was quashed as a result of a High Court decision 
on 18 March 2016 on the single ground that the Local Planning Authority failed to quantify in 
the officer report to the Board the entire footprint of built-on land before and after the 
development, specifically in relation to hardstandings.  That application, having been returned 
to the Council for determination following the quashing of the permission issued, was 
subsequently withdrawn.

In regard to the current planning application for a BP Connect filling station only, following the 
Board’s resolution to grant planning permission on 7th February, after which a decision notice 
was issued the following day, this decision was also the subject of a legal challenge by the 
same objector, who had brought about the judicial review claims in relation to the 2013 
planning application, Simon Privett (owner of the Tollgate Service Station).  

The judicial review claim was on four grounds, in summary:

 Baseline/Fallback (i.e. that the Borough Council should have used the comparison 
between the proposed use of the site and the previous hotel use as though the site was 
empty);

 Green Belt (i.e. that the Council had failed to consider the impact of the development on 
the Green Belt in terms of a material change in the intensification of use in the Green 
Belt);

 Need and the Impact on Tollgate Service Station (i.e. that the Council had failed to 
properly consider the impact on the Tollgate Service Station and its likely closure which 
was a material consideration or the need for another petrol filling station and the 
inconsistency with the approach taken by the Environment Agency); and 

 Ground Water (i.e. that it was a material consideration to have regard to the delivery of 
the Water Framework Directive objectives to support the protection of groundwater) 

Following legal advice taken by the Borough Council, it was consented on 21 June 2018 to 
quash the decision and for the application to be remitted for re-determination, on the single and 
first ground only that the Council had relied upon a comparison between the impacts of the 
development and the impacts of a resumed hotel use actually taking place in the event that the 
development was not granted planning permission and that the Council had accordingly failed 
to have regard to a material consideration. 

Page 14



The 3 other grounds of challenge in the Judicial Review claim were not conceded by the 
Borough Council.

An Advice Note was sent by officers on 26 July 2018 to the applicant’s agents, Aitchison 
Raffety, following legal direction, providing advice on the issues to be addressed and additional 
information required in response to all the grounds in the Judicial Review claim. 

A planning appeal was subsequently received by the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) against 
non-determination on 20 March 2019 as more than 13 weeks had elapsed following the 
decision to remit the application for re-determination.  The planning application will therefore 
now be determined by a Planning Inspector (not the Borough Council) and the intention is that 
the appeal will be dealt with by way of an informal hearing.

The start date of the planning appeal against non-determination has been held in abeyance 
pending the reporting of the appeal to the Board with the expectation that the Borough Council 
would then be in a position to give a clear view on what, if it had been possible, the Council’s 
decision on the appealed planning application would have been.

The Board is advised that as part of the appeal submission the applicants have submitted a 
number of revised plans and documents in part to address the July 2018 Advice Note.  The 
applicant’s agents have suggested that the amendments to the plans do not materially change 
the development proposals.  The new plans/documents have not previously been presented to 
the Borough Council for its consideration and therefore have not been the subject of any re-
consultation or revised publicity. This was a concern of your officers and your officers sought a 
response on this issue from PINS.   

PINS have advised in a response received on 24 July 2019 that in seeking a view of the 
Council as to how it would have determined the application it could do so on the basis of all the 
original documents meaning that the new (post appeal submission) plans/documents are not 
part of the remit and to comment on any new plans and documents only after the appeal starts. 

Therefore the Board is now required to give a view on how they would have determined the 
current planning application on the basis of the original proposals (thus in relation to the same 
nature, scale, layout and appearance of the development as presented to the Board at the 
meeting on 07 February 2018) disregarding any new information and plans that may have been 
submitted by the applicants for the purpose of the current planning appeal, but clearly having to 
consider the application in the light of all the grounds that were set out in the Judicial Review 
claim against the Council’s decision to grant planning permission and  especially the reason 
why the Borough Council consented to quash the decision and for the application to be remitted 
for re-determination.

The planning application proposals have also been considered against any material changes 
relating to either relevant planning decisions or to revised local or national planning policy that 
might otherwise suggest that a different recommendation ought to be made in relation to the 
proposals.

In your officer’s opinion here have been no significant approved planning applications that 
have, or are likely to have a material impact on the Tollgate hotel site in relation to the nature of 
the proposals or potential cumulative highway impacts that might not otherwise by mitigated.

In respect of the adopted development plan at a local level there has been no change in local 
planning policy.  The application was originally considered against the 2014 Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy and earlier saved policies.  The site remains as being subject to Green Belt 
policy.  Although there are now draft policies in the Draft Development Management Policies 
Document, it is at an early stage and will carry only very limited weight.  There have been some 

Page 15



changes to national planning guidance, and the NPPF, not least a complete re-ordering of 
paragraphs but only limited changes in respect of Green Belt policy with the change relevant to 
this application being confirmation that material changes of use of land are not inappropriate 
within the Green Belt.

However, fundamentally in respect of the four matters which were set out in the Judicial Review 
Claim that subsequently resulted in the quashing of the decision to grant planning permission, 
no new information or evidence has been provided directly to the Borough Council by the 
applicants to respond to all of these matters and furthermore no new information or evidence 
has been provided by the applicants in response to the detailed Advice Note that had been 
prepared by the Borough Council to outline the issues that the developer would need to resolve 
in order to address all the reasons in the Letter before Claim (Judicial Review) and enable the 
Council to properly determine the application.

Without this additional information and supporting evidence, officers are unable to re-assess 
the proposals to reach a conclusion as to whether the development is fully compliant with local 
or national planning policy. 

The overall conclusion therefore must be that, having regard to all of the grounds of challenge 
in the Judicial Review claim brought against the Borough Council that resulted in the quashing 
on 26 June 2018 of the grant of planning permission on 8 February 2018, and the failure of the 
applicants to respond directly to the Borough Council to those grounds of challenge or to the 
Council’s Advice Note sent to the applicants on 26 July 2018 with any additional or revised 
information, documents or plans, that, if it had been possible to determine the current planning 
application, the Board would have REFUSED to grant planning permission.

_______________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Introduction

Report to the Board 07 February 2018

1.1 This planning application (ref 20160215) was originally reported to and considered by 
the Council’s Regulatory Board at its meeting on 07 February 2018.

1.2 The recommendation of the Planning Manager (Development Management) to the 
Board was for the grant of planning permission subject to planning conditions, reasons 
and informatives. 

1.3 It was RESOLVED by the Board that the application be permitted.  The minute of the 
Board meeting states:

 The Board considered an application reference 20160215 for the demolition of all former 
Tollgate hotel/restaurant and construction of a petrol filling station and forecourts, sales 
building, ATM, underground fuel tanks, refuse/recycling, AC/refrigeration units, vehicular 
access, substation, parking and all associated works and services on part of the site.

Members’ attention was drawn to a letter which the Council received on the morning of 6 
February 2018 from Clyde and Co, solicitors acting for the chief objector to the application 
(and who acted for the chief objector in the judicial review claims in 2014 and 2016 in 
respect of the now withdrawn application 20131018 for the development of the whole site 
(for a petrol filling station and McDonalds). This letter, together with further representations 

Page 16



received by the Council, and the Council’s response had been published as a 
supplementary to the report.

Attention was also drawn to a response received from the Environment Agency who 
advised that taking the whole of the guiding principles in “The Environment Agency's 
Approach to Groundwater Protection" (November 2017) into account, they would not 
change their previous advice on this particular application, and specifically that they would 
not object subject to their recommended planning conditions being imposed.

1.4 At the meeting the Board was addressed by Nigel Ozier and Simon Ellis (in support of 
the application) and Simon Privett and Julian Sutton (as objectors to the development).

1.5 A full copy of the main officer report to the Board meeting on 07 February 2018 is 
attached to this report (Appendix 1) along with the supplementary report to the Board 
(Appendix 2).  Planning Permission (now quashed) was issued the following day, on 8th 
February 2018.

The Previous Application - 20131018

1.6 By way of background an earlier planning application (ref 20131018) which was 
originally submitted in November 2013 by the same applicants for both a BP Connect 
petrol filling station and a restaurant with drive thru for the McDonalds franchise was the 
subject of decisions to grant conditional planning permission by the Board at its 
meetings on 15 January 2014 and subsequently on 22 July 2015.  However Judicial 
Review (JR) claims were brought against both of the Borough Council’s decisions, with 
the Borough Council consenting to the quashing of the first decision to grant planning 
permission in June 2014 as the Council had failed to properly apply the correct policy 
tests for the development in the Green Belt in relation to what was then paragraph 89 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) while the subsequent decision of July 
2015 was quashed as a result of a High Court decision on 18 March 2016 on the single 
ground that the Local Planning Authority failed to quantify in the officer report to the 
Board the entire footprint of built-on land before and after the development, specifically 
in relation to hardstandings. 

1.7 That earlier application (20131018) for the development of the whole site had remained 
undetermined following the successful Judicial Review claims but on 15 November 
2017 the applicant’s agents on behalf of BP Oil UK Ltd withdrew the application in its 
entirety.

Judicial Review - 20160215

1.8 Following the issue of the permission on the subsequent planning application (ref 
20160215) a further judicial review claim was lodged by the same objector that brought 
about the JR claims to the previous application, Simon Privett (owner of the Tollgate 
Service Station), on four grounds, which can be summarised as:

 Baseline/Fallback  

That the Council, when conducting its assessment of the likely impact of the proposed 
development, was wrong to use the fallback position of the site with its existing hotel 
use and planning permission for a Use Class C1 use as a baseline and the Council 
should have used the comparison as though the site was empty.

 Green Belt 

Page 17



That the Council had failed to consider the impact of the development on the Green Belt 
and in particular had failed to address the test as set out in R (on the application of Privett 
v Gravesham Borough Council) [2016] EWHC 1276 by Mr Justice Jay in terms of a 
material change in the intensification of use in the Green Belt.

 Need and the Impact on Tollgate Service Station

That the Council had failed to properly consider the impact on the Tollgate Service 
Station and its likely closure which was a material consideration or the need for another 
petrol filling station given the existence of the Tollgate Service Station; and that the 
Council’s consideration of need was inconsistent with the approach taken by the 
Environment Agency (EA).

 Ground Water

That it was a material consideration to have regard to the delivery of the Water 
Framework Directive objectives to support the protection of groundwater and it was 
material as to whether there was evidence to demonstrate that the EA’s policy which 
allows development in locations such as that proposed only in exceptional 
circumstances was actually met; and that there has never been any assessment of 
whether the petrol filling station (PFS) could be provided outside of the Source 
Protection Zone (SPZ) or whether above ground storage could be used.

1.9 Following legal advice (from Counsel) taken by the Borough Council it was consented 
on 21 June 2018 to quash the decision and this was approved by the High Court on 26 
June, and it was also consented for the application to be remitted for re-determination, 
on the single and first ground only that the Council had relied upon a comparison 
between the impacts of the development and the impacts of a resumed hotel use 
actually taking place in the event that the development was not granted planning 
permission and that the Council had accordingly failed to have regard to a material 
consideration and that it cannot be said that the decision would have been the same but 
for the legal error.  

1.10 The 3 other grounds of challenge were not conceded but it was accepted within the 
quashing order that in the event of a similar determination relating to those grounds the 
claimant would not be barred from challenging the Council’s decision in relation to any 
such determination.

1.11 A further planning application had been made by the applicants (20180784) at the end 
of July 2018 for redevelopment of the site for a petrol filling station and forecourts, 
underground fuel tanks, sales building with ATM, air conditioning and refrigeration units, 
refuse/recycling area, substation, vehicular access, parking and all associated works 
and services. and what effectively amounted to a duplicate type application but this was 
invalid as the applicants had not at the time of submission responded to the advice note 
sent by officers to the applicant’s agents providing advice on the issues to be addressed 
in response to all the grounds in the Judicial Review claim.  It has remained invalid.

1.12 On 26 July 2018 the applicant’s agents had indicated that they were considering 
whether it was appropriate to appeal against non-determination in relation to the 2016 
planning application and sought an indication of the new determination date and 
confirmation on what information the Council required from the applicants to address 
any issues on 20160215 and the fresh application.

1.13 On that same day an advice note was sent by officers to the applicant’s agents, 
Aitchison Raffety, following legal direction, providing advice on the issues to be 

Page 18



addressed and additional information required in response to all the grounds in the 
Judicial Review claim but it was made clear that it did not seek to express any views 
regarding the merits of the proposal and was provided entirely without prejudice to the 
right of the Council to determine the remitted planning application in whichever way it 
may decide.

1.14 In late November 2018 the applicant’s agent had indicated to the Council that they were 
still intending to progress the 2016 planning application with a view to seeking to obtain 
permission through a further determination by the Borough Council and responding to 
the Council’s advice note and also in relation to the invalid application.

Appeal against Non-Determination 

1.15 However an appeal was received by the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) against non-
determination in relation to the 2016 planning application by the applicants BP Oil UK 
Ltd on 20 March 2019 (Planning Inspectorate reference APP/K2203/W/19/3225105; 
GBC appeal reference 2019/00024/NONDET), as more than 13 weeks had elapsed 
following the decision to remit the application for re-determination 

 
1.16 At the request of the appellants, PINS have held the start date of the appeal (and which 

is to be determined currently by way of an informal hearing) in abeyance pending the 
reporting of the appeal to the Council’s Regulatory Board (Planning Committee), 
originally anticipated to be on Wednesday 24 July 2019, with the expectation that the 
Borough Council would then be in a position at that meeting to indicate how the Board 
might have determined the planning application, as revised, were it not for the fact that 
the applicants, BP Oil UK Ltd, had appealed against non-determination taking away 
from the Borough Council its ability to determine the application and passing it direct to 
the Planning Inspectorate.

1.17 The Board is advised that in the appellant’s submission to PINS a number of new plans 
and documents have been submitted and the appellants acknowledge that the new 
plans/documents have not been seen previously by the Local Planning Authority.

1.18 Officers wrote to PINS on 13 June 2019 seeking their opinion as to how the Borough 
Council can now report the application to seek a resolution on how it might have 
determined the application (were it not for the appeal against non-determination) having 
regard to:

 The submission of new plans and documents (including a revised red line plan) not 
been seen by the Local Planning Authority

 The fact that the above new plans/documents have not been the subject of any re-
consultation or revised publicity.

 The fact that the appellants submission to PINS does not (in the opinion of officers) 
fully respond to or address all the matters and points in the advice note that was 
prepared by the Borough Council subsequent to the decision to the quashing of the 
permission and sent to the current appellants on 26 July 2018 to address all the 
reasons in the Letter before Claim (Judicial Review) 

 The potential risk of complaint/challenge.

1.19 The appellants agent wrote to the Council on 15 July 2019 expressing their concern that 
officers had not been able to prepare a report for the meeting on 24 July and requested 
confirmation on whether officers intended to report the appeal to the Regulatory Board, 
and by when and requested that officers provide as soon as possible a clear view on 

Page 19



what, if it had been possible, the Council’s decision on the appealed planning 
application would have been.

1.20 In response to officers concerns about the introduction of new evidence and that this 
would need to be the subject of possible additional consultation and publicity the 
appellant’s agents (Nigel Ozier) commented on 15 July 2019:

…you are concerned about the need to re-consult on the appeal documents and plans 
as you consider there are material changes to the proposals.  This is not the case as 
the drawings and reports submitted as part of the appeal only clarify matters already 
agreed with you prior to the planning application being presented to the Regulatory 
Board in February 2018. They also respond to appropriate matters set out in a note 
prepared by your officer.

1.21 PINS responded on 24 July to the officer’s concerns expressed on 13 June 2019, and 
following a subsequent chase-up on 15 July, advising:

You can still discuss the application at the Planning Committee meeting, rather than the 
appeal, meaning that the new plans/documents are not part of the remit. The outcome 
of the meeting would then inform the agent’s revised (Statement of Case) SoC. The 
LPA can then comment on the new plans/documents & SoC at statement stage after 
the appeal starts.

1.22 In the light of the above the remainder of this report sets out any necessary updates to 
the previous sections of the reports and provides an analysis of whether or not a 
different recommendation should now be made having regard to the Judicial Review 
claim and any changing circumstances.

2. Planning History

The Application Site 

2.1 The original reports as appended set out the planning history in full in relation to the 
application site (the ‘appeal site’) in paragraphs 2.1 - 2.15.

2.2 As indicated above what effectively amounts to a duplicate type planning application 
(20180784) was submitted by the same applicant and agent at the end of July 2018 for 
the redevelopment of the site for a petrol filling station and forecourts, underground fuel 
tanks, sales building with ATM, air conditioning and refrigeration units, refuse/recycling 
area, substation, vehicular access, parking and all associated works and services but it 
remains an invalid application.

2.3 There has been no other subsequent planning application submitted in relation to the 
application site from the current applicants or another party.

Other Relevant History 

2.4 In relation to other relevant local sites the following planning applications have been 
submitted or determined since the date when this planning application (20160215) was 
originally considered by the Board on 07 February 2018.

Tollgate House/Service Station 

Page 20



20180781: Change of use from office to a one bedroom dwelling. Pending 
Consideration 

Cyclopark

20190656: Continued use of part of the car park for Hertz car hire business. Invalid on 
Receipt

Land North of Coldharbour Road

20180041: Reserved Matters Application for the approval of details of appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale pursuant to outline planning permission reference number 
20141214 for residential development for up to 400 new homes, including details 
pursuant to conditions 4, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 14, 27, 28, 31, 32, 33, 35, 39, 44 and 45.  
Approved 23 July 2018

Land South of Coldharbour Road 

20160721: Outline application with all matters reserved for the erection of offices, 
workshops and light industrial units with associated car parking, servicing and 
landscaping, with alterations to the vehicular access for Capital Space.  Resolved on 16 
May 2019 to grant planning permission subject to completion of s106

20181271: Erection of a Foodstore (Use Class A1 Retail - for Lidl) and business units 
(Kier Trade City format) providing employment floorspace (to be used flexibly within Use 
Classes B1(c), B2 and B8 - light industrial, general industrial and storage and 
distribution including the provision for ancillary retail sales to facilitate specialist, trade 
counter operations); creation of new infrastructure including a pedestrian footway / 
cycleway and 'toucan' crossing on Coldharbour Road, access, car parking and 
servicing; hard and soft landscaping and associated retaining structures and ground 
works, submitted by Kier Property Developments Limited.  Pending Consideration 

Ellenor Hospice

20190756: Expansion and refurbishment of the existing Ellenor Hospice to provide 12 
en-suite rooms consisting of a single storey extension at the eastern end to provide 5 
single en-suite rooms with amenity space and nurses space together with 7 refurbished 
rooms within the existing hospice layout; construction of two storey addition on south 
side for offices, meeting rooms for well-being centre and improved outpatient facilities; 
provision of ambulance access from Marks Square; alterations and extension to existing 
car parking layout and provision of external storage and sub-station.  Pending 
Consideration 

3. Proposals

3.1 The nature, scale, layout and appearance of the development all are as in the details 
presented to the Board at the meeting on 07 February 2019.  

3.2 The proposals therefore remain as being for the demolition of all former hotel and 
restaurant buildings and the construction of a petrol filling station and forecourts with 
underground fuel tanks, sales building and ATM, air conditioning (a/c) and refrigeration 
units, refuse/recycling area, substation, vehicular access, parking and all associated 
works and services.

Page 21



3.3 Full details of the proposals are set in paragraphs 3.1 - 3.35 of the original report to the 
Board on 07 February 2018.

4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1 Paragraphs 4.1 - 4.58 of the original report to the Board on 07 February 2018 set out 
the detailed national and local planning policies against which the planning application 
was originally determined.

Local Plan Policies and Guidance  

4.2 In respect of the local context there has been no material change to local planning 
policy (Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 and saved policies within 
the Gravesham Local Plan First Review November 1994).  There has been no change 
to supplementary planning guidance relevant to this planning application. 

4.3 The consultation on the Gravesham Local Plan Regulation 18 Stage 1 Part 2: 
Development Management Policies Document ran between 25 April 2018 and 11 July 
2018.   It reviews the current strategic policy on the scale and distribution of 
development in Gravesham and sets out detailed policies to guide decisions on 
planning applications. Once adopted, it will replace the remaining saved policies in the 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review.  As it is at an early stage it will carry only very 
limited weight in the determining of planning applications.  Policies relevant to this 
application include: 

Proposed Policy DM 6 Extensions, Replacement Buildings and Ancillary Development 
in the Green Belt
Proposed Policy DM 7 Limited Infilling in Villages and Development of Previously 
Developed Sites in the Green Belt  
Proposed Policy DM 16 Transport Hierarchy
Proposed Policy DM 17 Mitigating Transport Impacts
Proposed Policy DM 18 New Accesses and Junctions
Proposed Policy DM 19 Electric Vehicle Charging Points
Proposed Policy DM 33 Air Quality
Proposed Policy DM 34: Contaminated Land
Proposed Policy DM 35: Light Pollution
Proposed Policy DM 37: Noise and Vibration

National Planning Policies

4.4 It is a material consideration that the original application was considered and 
determined in relation to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), March 2012.

4.5 This has now been replaced by the revised version of the NPPF July 2018 and which 
has itself been amended in both February and June 2019.  The 2018 version of the 
NPPF significantly changed the paragraphs numbers whilst (in relation to the Green 
Belt) not changing the essence of national Green Belt policy.

4.6 As before at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development (NPPF 2019 -  paragraph 11) which means approving development 
proposals that accord with the development plan without delay and where there are no 
relevant development plan policies or where the policies are out of date planning 
permission should be granted unless policies of the Framework provide a clear reason 
for refusing the development such as where land is designated as Green Belt or any 

Page 22



adverse impacts would so significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits or 
specific policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

4.7 The NPPF now includes (in paragraph 8) three overarching objectives to achieving 
sustainable development:

 an economic objective; 
 a social objective; and
 an environmental objective. 

4.8 Numerous sections of the NPPF are directly relevant to the consideration of the 
development.  The following paragraphs are specifically highlighted as being of 
importance to the consideration of the proposals, but it should not be taken that these 
are the only parts of the NPPF that need to be considered.

Section 2, Paragraphs 7 - 14: Achieving sustainable development
Section 4, Paragraphs 38 - 58: Decision Making 
Section 6, Paragraphs 80 - 84: Building a Strong, Competitive Economy
Section 7, Paragraphs 85 - 90: Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres
Section 9, Paragraphs 102 - 111: Promoting Sustainable Transport
Section 11, Paragraphs 117 - 123: Making effective use of land
Section 12, Paragraphs 124 - 132: Achieving well-designed places
Section 13, Paragraphs 133 - 147: Protecting Green Belt Land
Section 14, Paragraphs 148 - 169: Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding 
and Coastal Change
Section 15, Paragraphs 170 - 183: Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment
Section 16, Paragraphs 184 - 202: Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment

National Green Belt Policy under the Revised NPPF

4.9 In respect of the Green Belt Paragraph 133 of the revised NPPF (paragraph 79 of the 
NPPF 2012) indicates that the Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. 
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and 
their permanence.

4.10 Paragraph 134 of the revised NPPF (paragraph 80 of the 2012 NPPF) advises that 
Green Belt serves five purposes:

• to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
• to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
• to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
• to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
• to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land.

4.11 In addition to the above five nationally defined purposes of the Green Belt, policy CS02 
of the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy states that the local purposes of 
the Green Belt will be maintained. Paragraph 4.2.7 of the document sets these 
purposes as being:

• to maintain the break in development between the eastern edge of Gravesend and 
the Medway Towns which is one of the few barriers preventing the further eastward 
sprawl of London and the merging of towns along the southern part of the Thames 
Estuary;

Page 23



• to assist in safeguarding the countryside by minimising the expansion of the 
Borough’s rural settlements; and

• to assist in concentrating development on underused, derelict and previously 
developed land in the urban area of Gravesend and Northfleet.

4.12 Paragraph 143 of the revised NPPF (paragraph 87 of the 2012 NPPF) sets out that 
‘inappropriate development’ is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not 
be approved except in very special circumstances.

4.13 Paragraph 144 of the revised NPPF (paragraph 88 of the 2012 NPPF) advises that, 
when considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that 
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ 
will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, 
and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.

4.14 Any development in the Green Belt is inappropriate unless it falls within one of the 
exceptions set out in the closed lists contained in paragraphs 145 and 146 of the NPPF.

4.15 Paragraph 145 of the revised NPPF states that a local planning authority should regard 
the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in Green Belt. Exceptions to this are:-

a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a 

change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds 
and allotments, as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and 
do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;

c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;

d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces;

e) limited infilling in villages;
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in the 

Local Plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 

land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which 
would:

- not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development;

- not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an 
identified affordable housing need within an area of the local planning authority 

4.16 Paragraph 146 states that other forms of development are also not inappropriate in 
Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes of 
including land within it. These are:

a) mineral extraction;
b) engineering operations;
c) local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt 

location;
d) the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and substantial 

construction; and
e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or 

recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and

Page 24



f) development brought forward under a Community Right to Build Order or 
Neighbourhood Development Order.

4.17 In respect of the limited changes in respect of Green Belt policy in the revised NPPF 
(paragraphs 145 and 146) there are two main areas that differ from the original 2012 
NPPF (paragraphs 89 and 90)

• The provision of limited affordable housing for local community needs (rural 
exception sites) as an exception to being inappropriate development.  

• The confirmation that material changes of use of land are not inappropriate within 
the Green Belt.

4.18 The former is not relevant to the current planning application whereas the latter would 
be relevant only in the event of the applicants demonstrating that the openness of the 
site has been preserved.

5. Consultations Publicity and Representations 

Consultations 

5.1 Paragraphs 5.1 - 5.79 of the original report to the Board on 07 February 2018 set out 
the various consultation responses received to the planning application. 

5.2 At the Board meeting the comments of the Environment Agency as set out in an email 
dated 07 February 2018 in response to late representations received from Clyde and Co 
on behalf of Simon Privett, Tollgate Service Station were reported verbally and are now 
set out in writing below:

Environment Agency - Additional Comments 7th February 2018

Although the site is in a sensitive setting, it is seen as being suitably located to replace a 
previous nearby facility serving the A2. Representation for it meeting relevant local and 
A2 related need is accepted along with fundamental design to allow for the sensitive 
setting over a principal aquifer and within an SPZ2 in this instance. We have not given 
any approval carte blanche and any permitted development would be required to meet 
specific deign/construction measures relevant to a modern PFS (Petrol Filling Station) 
and this specific site setting, which have been discussed with the applicant and suitable 
covered in draft planning conditions. 

Our severest restrictions for modern PFS are mainly related to SPZ1, where we would 
normally object to new developments, unless storage can be other than below ground. 
However in other settings we take all local and development considerations into account 
and work with industry to provide up to date facilities. These facilities would be modern, 
site specific and appropriately monitored to reduce risks to groundwater to a minimum. 
Older facilities would not necessarily have the same level of monitoring or standard of 
build. The existing PFS at Tollgate services is also in an SPZ2. Both service providers 
would have to abide by relevant industry standards and comply with government 
guidance on the underground storage of hydrocarbons, requiring relevant best practice 
Environmental Management plans. We treat all applications consistently with regard to 
site specific risk assessment and detailed design.

On this basis, taking the whole of the guiding principles in “The Environment Agency's 
approach to groundwater protection" (November 2017) into account, we would not 
change our previous advice on this particular application.

Page 25



5.3 Post the decision by the Board to grant planning permission comments were received 
from Dartford and Gravesham Cycle Forum on 22 February 2018 who commented:

The Cycle Forum would like to raise its concerns regarding the recent granting of 
Tollgate Hotel planning application in that there is no clear plan as to how pedestrians 
and cyclists are to safely cross the east bound slip road onto the A2. We are not 
concerned about the approval for a change of use on the site our concerns are only 
about the safety of cyclists and pedestrians.

 
Currently there is a designated pedestrian and cycle pathway from the cycle track to the 
slip road and a pedestrian and cycle pathway which skirts the roundabout and links up 
with a pathway which runs adjacent to Cold Harbour Road.

 
The crossing at the east bound slip is the only crossing point across the A2 and HS1 for 
about a mile each way and is regularly used by both pedestrians and cyclists accessing 
the designated pathway on the side of the A227, travelling both Northbound and 
Southbound.

 
I note from the Regulatory Board agenda dated the 7th of February there was a traffic 
survey conducted on the roundabout and slip roads but there does not seem to have 
been any survey of how many pedestrians and cyclists cross the East bound slip road.

 
The traffic survey does show increased vehicle movements on the East bound slip road. 
It is also noted that are to be changes to the roundabout and the slip road is to be 
widened.

 
As a cyclist who uses this route on a daily basis I am concerned about the safety of 
cyclists if they have to cycle on the busy and fast moving roundabout.

 
The Forum is concerned that the fact that this is the only crossing point of the A2 and 
HS2 for pedestrians and cyclists and this fact was not given due concern by Gravesham 
and Kent Highways during the application process.

 
In light of the above I would like to raise the following questions: -

 
1 How will pedestrian and cycling access be maintained using the designated 
pedestrian/cycle way across the eastbound slip road during the construction period. 

 
2. If the pedestrian/cycle route is to be blocked during the construction period, how will 
pedestrians/ cyclists cross the A2 and HS1 in order to come to and go from Istead Rise 
(the A227).

 
3. What will be the method of traffic control on the eastbound slip road when 
construction is completed in order to allow the safe and timely crossing of pedestrians 
and cyclists.

 
There is a real issue of safety for pedestrians and cyclists both during the construction 
period and when the works to the slip road have been completed. 

 
The Forum asks how the maintenance of the safety of pedestrians and cyclists is to be 
achieved and requests that they are given responses to the questions above. At that 
point we, the Forum can consider our response and make further representations as 
necessary.

Page 26



5.4 Officers responded to the comments of the Dartford and Gravesham Cycle Forum on 02 
March 2018 as follows:

The issue of safety for pedestrians and cyclists both during the construction period and 
after completion of the development was a material consideration for both officers and 
the Board Members when the application was considered and involved some debate as 
to how this could be addressed at the Board meeting.

Both my colleague from KCC Highways and I stressed the fact that, notwithstanding the 
submission of the application, users of the existing cycleway and footway that crosses 
in front of the Tollgate Hotel site would have come into conflict with the continued use of 
the site as a hotel if it had re-opened, which potentially it could do so without necessarily 
requiring planning permission and that the petrol filling station proposals would enable 
the cycleway and footway to be re-routed and there is a planning condition (condition 
26) that requires such details to be submitted.  The condition states:

Full details including appropriately scaled drawings of the proposed diverted route of the 
cycleway and footway through the site connecting the existing activity park and public 
footpath to the north with the A227 Wrotham Road at the adjacent roundabout junction, 
and showing  pedestrian crossing points and signage, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the commencement of the 
development; the route shall not be less than 3.0m in width; the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall be available for use before 
the development hereby permitted is first occupied.

Reason: To ensure the development maintains satisfactory and safe linkages and 
routes for cyclists and pedestrians and pursuant to Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy Policy CS11: Transport.

Condition 24 of the planning permission also recognises the importance of the route 
during construction and requires submission of a traffic management plan prior to the 
commencement of the development including, amongst other things,  Retention of and 
protection of cycleway/footway though the site during construction.

On the last point you make relating to traffic controls post construction there are no 
additional requirements that have been requested by either Highways England or Kent 
County Council Highways and Transportation or imposed on the grant of planning 
permission.  The crossing point over the eastbound slip would be as at present.  Again it 
is pertinent to note that if the site re-opened as a hotel then the same circumstances 
would arise.

I do recall that I had consulted with the KCC Cycling Transport Planner during the 
application process but received no response and I had consulted with KCC Footpaths 
who had raised no specific objection.

I trust that responds to the matters raised in your email but I would repeat that the issue 
of the safety for cyclists and pedestrians was given careful consideration during the 
debate on the application.  In view of a number of planning applications that have been 
approved and which will impact on the various junctions and roads on the highway 
network there may need to be a more holistic consideration as to how pedestrian and 
cycle safety can be improved.

Publicity 

Page 27



5.5 The original main report to the Board on 07 February 2018 set out a comprehensive 
summary of all the neighbour representations in paragraphs 5.80 - 5.101.  

5.6 The original supplementary report to the Board on 07 February 2018 also included a 
copy of the late representations received from Clyde and Co on behalf of Simon Privett, 
owner of the Tollgate Service Station and 3 additional late neighbour representations 
received post the completion of the main report. 

5.7 There have been no further ‘neighbour’ representations received by the Borough 
Council either in support or against the planning application since the original decision 
to grant planning permission.

6. Planning Analysis and Development Manager Comments

6.1 The original main report to the Board on 07 February 2018 examined the applications 
proposals in detail focusing on what were regarded as the key issues and being:

• The principle of the development
• The impact of the development with regard to Green Belt policy
• The visual impact of the development and amenity impacts on any nearby 

residential properties
• Layout and Design Issues
• Highway impacts, access and parking
• Any other material considerations - flood risk, air quality, ecology and archaeology 

6.2 It is not intended to re-assess the development in relation to these key issues again as 
the development proposals have not changed in their form or content and in your 
officer’s opinion there have been no material changes to local and national planning 
policy, or in relation to any relevant other development proposals relating to the site or 
in the locality that impact on the development and neither have there been any 
subsequent additional consultation or publicity responses that have a material bearing 
on the consideration of the proposals. 

6.3 What is fundamental however to the further consideration of the development and how 
the Borough Council should respond to the appeal against non-determination is the 
various grounds of challenge to the Council’s decision in the Letter before Claim 
(Judicial Review) that was lodged by Clyde and Co on behalf of the Chief Objector 
(Simon Privett), the fact that the decision was quashed on one of the grounds and that 
in response to the Judicial Review the Borough Council had prepared an Advice Note 
that was sent to the applicants to address all the reasons in the Letter before Claim.

6.4 A copy of the Advice Note is appended to this report (Appendix 3) and which sets out 
what the applicants needed to revise in their application and what further revised or 
supporting documents were considered necessary.  

6.5 No new information or evidence has been provided directly to the Borough Council by 
the applicants to respond to all of these matters and furthermore no new information or 
evidence has been provided by the applicants in response to the detailed Advice Note.

6.6 Without this additional information and supporting evidence officers are unable to re-
assess the proposals to reach a conclusion as to whether the development is fully 
compliant with local or national planning policy.  The proper re-assessment of the 
application could not have been undertaken without the provision of the requested 
information by the applicant.

Page 28



7. Conclusions and Balancing Exercise 

7.1 This planning application (ref 20160215) for the construction of a BP Connect petrol 
filling station on the site of the former Tollgate Hotel site (and with all existing 
hotel/restaurant buildings to be demolished) was originally reported to and considered 
by the Council’s Regulatory Board at its meeting on 07 February 2018.  The Board 
meeting agreed with the officer recommendation and resolved to grant planning 
permission subject to planning conditions, reasons and informatives.

7.2 The current application was the subject of a legal challenge on four grounds.  It was 
consented on 21 June 2018 to quash the decision and for the application to be remitted 
for re-determination, on one of the four grounds only, that the Council had relied upon a 
comparison between the impacts of the development and the impacts of a resumed 
hotel use actually taking place in the event that the development was not granted 
planning permission and that the Council had accordingly failed to have regard to a 
material consideration.

7.3 An appeal was received by the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) against non-determination 
on 20 March 2019 as more than 13 weeks had elapsed following the decision to remit 
the application for re-determination.  The planning application will therefore now be 
determined by a Planning Inspector (not the Borough Council) and the intention is that 
the appeal will be dealt with by way of an informal hearing.  The purpose of this report is 
for the Board to give a view on what, if it had been possible, the Council’s decision on 
the appealed planning application would have been.

7.4 As part of the appeal submission the applicants have submitted a number of revised 
plans and documents in part to respond to the advice note of officers on the issues to 
be addressed in relation to all the grounds in the Judicial Review claim.  The applicant’s 
agents consider that the amendments to the plans do not materially change the 
development proposals.

7.5 The new plans/documents have not previously been presented to the Borough Council 
for its consideration and therefore have not been the subject of any re-consultation or 
revised publicity. This was a concern of your officers and your officers sought a 
response on this issue from PINS.   

7.6 PINS have advised in a response received on 24 July 2019 that in seeking a view of the 
Council as to how it would have determined the application it could do so on the basis of 
all the original documents meaning that the new plans/documents are not part of the 
remit and to comment on any new plans and documents only after the appeal starts. 

7.7 Therefore the Board is now required to give a view on how they would have determined 
the current planning application on the basis of the original proposals (thus in relation to 
the nature, scale, layout and appearance of the development as presented to the Board 
at the meeting on 07 February 2018) disregarding any new information and plans that 
may have been submitted by the applicants for the purpose of the current planning 
appeal but clearly having to consider the application in the light of all the grounds that 
were set out in the Judicial Review claim against the Council’s decision to grant 
planning permission and  especially the reason why the Borough Council consented to 
quash the decision and for the application to be remitted for re-determination.

7.8 The planning application proposals have been considered against any material changes 
relating to either relevant planning decisions or to revised local or national planning 

Page 29



policy that might otherwise suggest that a different recommendation ought to be made 
in relation to the proposals.

7.9 In your officer’s opinion here have been no significant approved planning applications 
that have or likely to have a material impact on the Tollgate hotel site in relation to the 
nature of the proposals or potential cumulative highway impacts that might not 
otherwise by mitigated.

7.10 In respect of the adopted development plan at a local level there has been no change in 
local planning policy.  The application was originally considered against the 2014 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and saved policies.  The site remains as being 
subject to Green Belt policy.  Although there are now draft policies in the Development 
Management Policies Document it is at an early stage and will carry only very limited 
weight.  There have been some changes to national planning guidance in the NPPF not 
least a complete re-ordering of paragraphs but only limited changes in respect of Green 
Belt policy with the change relevant to this application being confirmation that material 
changes of use of land are not inappropriate within the Green Belt.

7.11 However fundamentally in respect of the four matters which were set out in the Judicial 
Review Claim that subsequently resulted in the quashing of the decision to grant 
planning permission, namely,

• Baseline/Fallback (i.e. that the Borough Council should have used the 
comparison between the proposed use of the site and the previous hotel use as 
though the site was empty);

• Green Belt (i.e. that the Council had failed to consider the impact of the 
development on the Green Belt in terms of a material change in the 
intensification of use in the Green Belt);

• Need and the Impact on Tollgate Service Station (i.e. that the Council had failed 
to properly consider the impact on the Tollgate Service Station and its likely 
closure which was a material consideration or the need for another petrol filling 
station and the inconsistency with the approach taken by the Environment 
Agency); and 

• Ground Water (i.e. that it was a material consideration to have regard to the 
delivery of the Water Framework Directive objectives to support the protection of 
groundwater) 

no new information or evidence has been provided directly to the Borough 
Council by the applicants to respond to all of these matters and furthermore no new 
information or evidence has been provided by the applicants in response to the detailed 
Advice Note that had been prepared by the Borough Council to outline the issues that 
the developer would need to resolve in order to address all the reasons in the Letter 
before Claim (Judicial Review) and enable the Council to determine the application. 

7.12 Without this additional information and supporting evidence officers are unable to re-
assess the proposals to reach a conclusion as to whether the development is fully 
compliant with local or national planning policy. 

7.13 The overall conclusion therefore must be that having regard to all of the grounds of 
challenge in the Judicial Review claim brought against the Borough Council that 
resulted in the quashing on 26 June 2018 of the decision to grant planning permission 
on 7 February 2018 and the failure of the applicants to respond directly to the Borough 
Council to those grounds of challenge or to the Council’s Advice Note sent to the 
applicants on 26 July 2018 with any additional or revised information, documents or 

Page 30



plans, that, if it had been possible to determine the current planning application, the 
Board would have REFUSED to grant planning permission for the following reasons:

1.  The applicants have failed to demonstrate to the Borough Council, for the purpose of 
assessing and comparing the proposed use against the previous use of the site, that 
there is a realistic possibility of the former hotel use resuming and that there is demand 
for and market interest in the site as a hotel.  In the absence of such information on the 
resumption of or reversion to a hotel use of the site the proposals would need to be 
assessed and compared effectively against the site being empty and therefore in the 
circumstances the proposed development is inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt contrary to policy CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014, and section 13 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) - Protecting Green Belt land.

2. The applicants have failed to demonstrate to the Borough Council that the development 
would not result in an intensification of use in the Green Belt and that impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt from intensification of use is no greater than the existing 
use as a hotel and therefore the proposed development is inappropriate development 
in the Green Belt contrary to policy CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) of 
the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014, and section 13 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - Protecting Green Belt land.

3. The applicants have failed to demonstrate to the Borough Council the overriding 
reasons as to why a petrol filling station has to be located at this site, in regard to the 
need for the use proposed, and the extent of the likely impact, if the development was 
permitted, on the existing Tollgate Service Station. The development would therefore 
be contrary to policy CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) and policy CS07 
(Economy, Employment and Skills) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, 
September 2014.

4. The applicants have failed to demonstrate to the Borough Council the impact of the 
development on groundwater in respect of a site that is located within a Source 
Protection Zone (SPZ) and that the development meets the overriding reason tests in 
position statement D2 of the Environment Agency (EA) policy document, ‘The 
Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection’ (November 2017) and also 
meets the EU Water Framework Directive objectives to support the protection of 
groundwater.  Therefore the development would be contrary to policy CS18 (Climate 
Change) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014, and section 15 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - Conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment.

______________________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION 

That having regard to all of the grounds of challenge in the Judicial Review claim brought against 
the Borough Council that resulted in the quashing on 26 June 2018 of the decision to grant 
planning permission on 7 February 2018 and the failure of the applicants to respond directly to the 
Borough Council to those grounds of challenge or to the Council’s Advice Note sent to the 
applicants on 26 July 2018 with any additional or revised information, documents or plans, that, if it 
had been possible to determine the current planning application, the Board would have REFUSED 
to grant planning permission on the following grounds:

1. The applicants have failed to demonstrate to the Borough Council, for the purpose of 
assessing and comparing the proposed use against the previous use of the site, that there 
is a realistic possibility of the former hotel use resuming and that there is demand for and 
market interest in the site as a hotel.  In the absence of such information on the resumption 

Page 31



of or reversion to a hotel use of the site the proposals would need to be assessed and 
compared effectively against the site being empty and therefore in the circumstances the 
proposed development is inappropriate development in the Green Belt contrary to policy 
CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy, September 2014, and section 13 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) - Protecting Green Belt land.

2. The applicants have failed to demonstrate to the Borough Council that the development 
would not result in an intensification of use in the Green Belt and that impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt from intensification of use is no greater than the existing use 
as a hotel and therefore the proposed development is inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt contrary to policy CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014, and section 13 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - Protecting Green Belt land.

3. The applicants have failed to demonstrate to the Borough Council the overriding reasons 
as to why a petrol filling station has to be located at this site, in regard to the need for the 
use proposed, and the extent of the likely impact, if the development was permitted, on the 
existing Tollgate Service Station. The development would therefore be contrary to policy 
CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) and policy CS07 (Economy, Employment 
and Skills) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014.

4. The applicants have failed to demonstrate to the Borough Council the impact of the 
development on groundwater in respect of a site that is located within a Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ) and that the development meets the overriding reason tests in position 
statement D2 of the Environment Agency (EA) policy document, ‘The Environment 
Agency’s approach to groundwater protection’ (November 2017) and also meets the EU 
Water Framework Directive objectives to support the protection of groundwater.  Therefore 
the development would be contrary to policy CS18 (Climate Change) of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014, and section 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

Page 32



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20160215

Site Address: Tollgate Hotel, Watling Street, Gravesend DA13 9RA

Application 
Description:

Demolition of all former Tollgate hotel/restaurant and construction of a 
petrol filling station and forecourts, sales building, ATM, underground 
fuel tanks, refuse/recycling, AC/refrigeration units, vehicular access, 
substation, parking and all associated works and services on part of the 
site.

Applicant: B P Oil UK Limited

Agent: Aitchison Raffety

Ward: Woodlands

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 06 June 2016.

Publicity expiry date: 01 September 2017

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board - 07 February 2018

Reason for referral:

Planning Manager’s discretion as a major development proposal, 
complexity of planning issues, volume of local objection, reports related 
to other applications on this site having been reported to the Board in 
January 2014 and July 2015 and judicial review decisions related to 
developments on this site for a petrol filling station and a McDonalds 
restaurant with drive thru (ref 20131018), the application for which was 
subsequently withdrawn.

Recommendation: Permission subject to conditions, reasons and informatives

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

This planning application for the demolition of the former Tollgate hotel/restaurant and construction 
of a BP Connect petrol filling station and forecourts, sales building, ATM, underground fuel tanks, 
refuse/recycling, AC/refrigeration units, vehicular access, substation, parking and all associated 
works and services on part of the site was originally submitted on 07 March 2016.

An earlier planning application (ref 20131018) which was originally submitted in November 2013 
for a BP Connect petrol filling station and a restaurant with drive thru for the McDonalds franchise 
was the subject of decisions to grant conditional planning permission by the Board at its meetings 
on 15 January 2014 and subsequently on 22 July 2015.  However Judicial Review (JR) claims 
were brought against the Borough Council’s decisions, with the Borough Council consenting to the 

Page 33



quashing of the first decision to grant planning permission in June 2014 as the Council had failed 
to properly apply the correct policy tests for the development in the Green Belt in relation to 
paragraph 89 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) while the subsequent decision of 
July 2015 was quashed as a result of a High Court decision on 18 March 2016 on the single 
ground that the Local Planning Authority failed to quantify in the officer report to the Board the 
entire footprint of built-on land before and after the development, specifically in relation to 
hardstandings. 

That earlier application (20131018) for the development of the whole site had remained 
undetermined following the successful Judicial Review claims but on 15 November 2017 the 
applicants agents on behalf of BP Oil UK Ltd withdrew the application in its entirety and therefore 
the application is no longer for determination, with the McDonalds restaurant and drive thru not 
now being pursued.

The 2016 application for the petrol station only on the site shows that this will be constructed on 
the western part of the site.  The eastern part of the site is shown as a future development site at 
this stage but all existing buildings on this part of the site will nevertheless be removed.  It is 
indicated that this will be retained as a grassed meadow, levelled, seeded and planted.

Similar to the earlier application (20131018) this planning application for a stand-alone petrol filling 
station has still generated a significant volume of local and other opposition to the development 
following the publicity given to the application both when it was originally submitted in March/April 
2016 and subsequently to revised plans/additional supporting information/and the revised redline 
boundary in August 2017.

The original publicity given to this application in April/May 2016 generated a total of 954 objections 
with a further 49 further objections received in response to the additional publicity given to the 
application in 2017.  There were only a total of 5 representations received in support of the 
application but it is apparent that these appear to be from neighbours who live in close proximity to 
the existing Tollgate Service Station.

Although there has been a high volume of ‘neighbour’ type objections to this planning application 
the vast majority have been in the form of circular letters generated by the owners of the Tollgate 
Service Station.  Notwithstanding this the volume of local objections and the reasons for the level 
of objection must still be weighed in the overall planning balance.

The principal reasons for the objections to the development can be summarised as:

 Impact of development in the Green Belt
 No need for additional petrol filling station; impact on existing Tollgate Service Station and 

possible closure of that station and loss of jobs
 Environmental impacts - noise, litter, lighting, pollution
 Highway impacts - additional traffic, congestion, HGV’s accessing the site, hazards and 

accidents, conflicts to other road users (cyclists/pedestrians)
 Other uses more appropriate - hotel, lorry park, retail, residential, tourism, park or play area
 Landscape/built form impacts - existing building should be retained; impact on Cyclopark

The application stands to be considered on its own merits notwithstanding that the Regulatory 
Board had previously permitted the redevelopment of the whole site on two previous occasions for 
a petrol filling station and a restaurant/drive thru, albeit that both of those previous decisions were 
quashed by the High Court.

The key issues are the principle of the development, the impact of the development with regard to 
Green Belt policy, the visual impact of the development and amenity impacts on any nearby 

Page 34



residential properties, layout and design issues, highway impacts, access and parking, and any 
other material considerations.

There is a reasonable weight of argument that suggests that the use site as proposed would be 
appropriate to serve the needs of road users and particularly traffic using the adjoining A2 trunk 
road.  It should be noted the site had in the past similarly catered for the needs of travellers on the 
A2 and was effectively a service area providing hotel/restaurant facilities.

In terms of the neighbour objections suggesting that other uses for the site are more appropriate 
the current application has to be treated on its own merits having regard to the development plan 
and all other material planning considerations and not what might be perhaps regarded as more 
preferable or desirable uses for the site.

Although there are significant objections to the development on grounds of potential harm to other 
similar businesses, and questions over the need for the development, competition between 
businesses or diversion of trade is not a material planning consideration.  Government policy 
seeks to positively promote competition between retailers and enhanced consumer choice.

The site is within the Green Belt just beyond the urban area of Gravesend and Northfleet to the 
north but it is a previously developed site and the assessment has concluded that it falls to be 
considered within paragraph 89 of the NPPF and the proposal can therefore be considered as not 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and thus not contrary to the NPPF or the 
development plan in respect of Green Belt policy.  It is considered that the development would 
neither have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt or on the purpose of including 
land within it than the existing development or previous use of the site. The applicant’s agents 
have provided detailed supporting information that shows comparisons between the existing hotel 
site and the proposals pertaining to development footprint, building volume, hardstandings and 
landscaped areas. 

The impact of the development in traffic terms also raises very complex and challenging issues but 
it is concluded by both Highways England and KCC Highways and Transportation in the 
assessment of the transport statement and as now updated that the proposals are compliant with 
National Guidance in the NPPF and DfT Circular 02/2013 and will not result in severe residual 
impacts as required by NPPF to warrant a recommendation that the application should be refused 
on strategic or local highway grounds but acceptance is nevertheless subject to the 
implementation of appropriate highway mitigation.

There are no reasons to reject the proposals in terms of their visual impact, design issues or for 
environmental reasons.

There are no adverse consultation responses from the relevant consultees that weigh against the 
proposals.

It is also considered that there will be benefits in redeveloping a site which has been vacant for 
some years, by improving its appearance, by creating employment opportunities, and by offering a 
service facility and greater choice for motorists using the A2 trunk road.  The proposal would be a 
sustainable development involving the regeneration of a previously developed site.

Taking all these issues into account and notwithstanding the very high volume of local objection to 
the development it is considered that the balance lies in favour of the development.  There are no 
other overriding reasons on planning policy, highway, design or other planning considerations to 
reject the current proposal.

Therefore PLANNING PERMISSION is recommended subject to planning conditions, reasons and 
informatives.

Page 35



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1 The application site is situated just beyond the southern edge of the Gravesend urban area 
and now sits to the north of and alongside the slip road (coast bound - east) on to the 
realigned A2 trunk road.  The site previously used to be on the south side of the line of the 
old A2 and could be accessed from either the London bound off slip to Gravesend or the 
London bound on slip from Gravesend that adjoined a roundabout junction with the A227 
Wrotham Road.  

1.2 The application site, being the former Tollgate Motel and Europa Lodge, contains a number 
of hotel buildings with existing Class C1 (Hotels) use rights.  However it is currently 
unoccupied having last been used on a temporary basis as site offices during the 
construction of the phase 2 works for the A2 widening scheme up until 2009, following 
compulsory purchase by the Highways Agency (now Highways England).  The site is 
currently fenced off, secure and patrolled.    

1.3 The actual Tollgate Motel site has an area of approx. 1.01 hectares (2.5 acres).

1.4 The existing buildings on the site comprise a group of single and two storey pitched roof 
buildings of Mock Tudor style in the north west corner of the site which were the restaurant 
and reception areas for the former hotel, an L shaped block of flat roofed two storey hotel 
room buildings on the northern and eastern boundaries of the site and two smaller single 
storey buildings (one being a function room building) centrally located but towards the 
southern boundary of the site and adjacent to the slip road to the A2 as well as parking 
areas, gardens and paved areas.  The hotel had 59 bedrooms. 

1.5 Because the site has been left unused for some years the buildings have been left to 
decay and the grounds are unmanaged.

1.6 A hotel room building on the southern end of the Tollgate hotel site was demolished to 
enable the new coast bound slip road to the A2 to be constructed, together with the 
demolition of two dwellings (Shrimp Brand Cottages).

1.7 The site lies on the eastern side of a dry valley running down from Istead Rise into the 
urban area.  The western part of the site with the original hotel buildings is relatively flat 
whilst the eastern part rises up the valley side.

1.8 The site is within a Green Belt area and within the A2 Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA) for nitrogen dioxide (NO2).  The boundary of the AQMA was amended in 2012 as 
a result of the moving of the A2 route further south.

1.9 The site adjoins on its north side the new A2 activity park with footpaths (including the 
Weald Way) and cycle ways and is close to the Cyclopark, a purpose built facility for 
cycling and other outdoor activities and which is accessed from Wrotham Road/Watling 
Street, the former coast bound slip to the old A2.

1.10 Beyond the activity park to the north of the application site is an existing petrol filling 
station, the Tollgate Service Station, which was also previously a BP franchise, and which 
changed in 2016 to a Shell franchise.  This is somewhat isolated now at the end of a no 

Page 36



through road although it was previously alongside the coast bound (east bound) slip of the 
old A2 route from Gravesend.  It has 6 petrol pump islands and 12 pump positions and is 
‘signed’ from the A2 in both directions. It operates on a 24 hour basis.

1.11 The Tollgate Service Station has more recently been refurbished and extended as a result 
of planning permission (ref 20160421 as amended by 20161173) granted by the Borough 
Council in 2016 to include a new shop front, replacement forecourt canopy and an integral 
Class A5 hot food takeaway.  The service station has franchises with Spar, Subway, 
Favorite Chicken and Costa Coffee.  

1.12 There are residential properties also nearby fronting Wrotham Road and Old Watling Street 
(the latter being at an elevated level above a retaining wall to the line of the old A2).  The 
nearest dwellings are approximately 60m from and to the north of the application site.

1.13 Immediately to the east of the Tollgate Hotel site is an open arable field which was last 
used as a temporary storage site during the construction of the new line of the A2 Trunk 
Road.

1.14 The application site has a few trees on it and some lighting.  A footpath and cycleway cuts 
across the access to the site linking with the footpath that runs through the activity park to 
the A227 Wrotham Road.

1.15 In addition to the commuter coach stop to the north of the former A2 carriageway, the 
nearest bus stop to the site in located on the A227 Wrotham Road to the north of the site 
and which is approx. 300m from the site.  The service is bus route 306/308 from 
Sevenoaks to Bluewater via Meopham and Gravesend.  This is an hourly service outside 
peak times on Monday to Saturday.

2. Planning History

Historic Background
  
2.1 Historical records show that the Tollgate Inn (or Turnpike Gate Inn) was present at this site 

immediately adjacent to the east side of the Wrotham Road in about 1827 but was 
demolished in 1922 as part of a road widening scheme for the then A2 and rebuilt on its 
current site the following year as a ‘roadhouse’ type inn.  The main part of the rebuilt 
building from the 1920’s is still surviving on the site, albeit significantly altered and 
extended.  Apparently it was used as a Second World War Battle Headquarters and part of 
anti-invasion defences in 1940 but decommissioned in 1945.

Tollgate Hotel/Motel Extensions 

2.2 The Tollgate site has a long planning history relating to its use as a hotel with numerous 
planning applications and permissions for various extensions and new buildings on the site 
in the 1960’s.  The hotel was significantly extended in 1971 by 60 rooms and subsequently 
rebranded as the Tollgate Motel/Europa Lodge. There were also significant applications for 
major extensions to the site in 1990 and in 2001 which were both granted planning 
permission.

2.3 The 1990 application (reference 19900470) was an application for the erection of two 
storey and three storey linked extensions to the existing hotel to form 63 bedrooms, leisure 
centre including swimming pool, 2 function rooms, 3 syndicate rooms, restaurant, 2 bars,  
ancillary office & sanitary accommodation; formation & laying out of associated car & 
coach park.  Planning permission was granted on 6 June 1994.  The permission involved 

Page 37



substantial built development on the site to the south of the current buildings within the 
Green Belt on land where the new line of the A2 is located but which at that time was a 
larger curtilage of the hotel site.  The permitted scheme was not implemented.

2.4 The 2001 application (reference 20010475) was a similar scheme to the 1990 application 
and being an outline application for the demolition of single cottage and conference suite 
and erection of two and three storey linked extensions to the existing hotel to form 63 
rooms, leisure centre and swimming pool, function rooms, restaurant, bars, ancillary offices 
and formation and laying out of associated car park and coach park together with improved 
and new vehicular access to Wrotham Road.  This was also granted planning permission 
on 22 April 2002 but similarly was never implemented.  The planning submission indicated 
that very special circumstances existed to justify the development being within the Green 
Belt based on the need for the development and that the development was to be contained 
within the curtilage of the existing established hotel site.

A2 Widening 

2.5 The use of the site and buildings as temporary sites offices at the site for the A2 widening 
scheme (Bean to Cobham) was granted permission in 2006 (reference 20060823) and 
used for that purpose up until the opening of the new A2 route in 2009.  Temporary change 
of use was granted on 5 December 2006 (20060866) to the field to the east of the hotel 
site for use as a storage/stock compound in connection with the A2 road widening scheme.

Turnpike Service Station 

2.6 There was an additional petrol filling station in existence opposite and west of the 
application site, the Turnpike Service station, but this was demolished as a result of the A2 
widening scheme in 2007.  The Turnpike Service station was last redeveloped as a petrol 
filling station with new sales shop, office, canopy and petrol pumps by BP Oil UK Ltd 
following a planning permission granted by the Borough Council in 1992 (ref 19920009).  
This was also a site located within the Green Belt.

Redevelopment of Tollgate for BP Petrol Filling Station and McDonalds - 20131018

2.7 A planning application (ref 20131018) originally submitted in November 2013 for the 
redevelopment of the whole of the Tollgate Motel site for a petrol filling station for BP Oil 
UK Ltd (as proposed in this current application) on the western half of the site and with a 
restaurant with drive thru for the McDonalds franchise on the eastern half of the site was 
the subject of a report to the Council’s Regulatory Board at its meeting on 15 January 
2014, prior to which a Pre-Board site inspection was undertaken by Board Members on 
Saturday 11 January 2014.

2.8 The application proposals generated substantial local opposition, respondents citing a 
range of planning and highway reasons for objecting, and there being in total 366 copies of 
a circular letter objecting to the development, a petition containing 1784 signatures and 
some 40 individual objections. Notwithstanding the volume of objection the officer’s report 
indicated that there were no overriding reasons on planning policy, highway, design or 
other planning considerations to reject the proposal.

2.9 After lengthy debate and consideration of the application at the Board meeting, and where 
Members principal concerns were in relation to the highway impacts of the development, 
the Board resolved that the application be PERMITTED subject to conditions and 
permission was duly issued on 23 January 2014.

2.10 In February 2014 a claim for Judicial Review (JR) was lodged by Mr Simon Privett, the 

Page 38



owner of the Tollgate Service Station, claiming that the decision of the Council to grant 
permission was unlawful on 8 grounds. The JR submission was accepted to be heard by 
the High Courts but following subsequent external legal advice taken by the Council on 24 
June 2014 a consent order was signed to order that the claim for judicial review be allowed 
and the decision be quashed for the reason that the Council failed to properly apply the 
correct policy tests for the development in the Green Belt in relation to paragraph 89 of the 
NPPF. The other seven grounds in the JR claim were not conceded by the Council.

2.11 Following a number of remedies to the original planning application and the submission of 
additional supporting planning documents additional consultation and publicity was 
undertaken on the revised planning application.  The application was then reported to the 
Council’s Regulatory Board meeting on 22 July 2015 but prior to that meeting a further 
Member site inspection was undertaken on Monday 20 July 2015.  The revised application 
had also generated significant public opposition.  Again Members principal concerns were 
in relation to the highway impacts of the development but the Board also gave very careful 
consideration to the impact of the development on the openness of the Green Belt, but 
resolved that the application should nevertheless be PERMITTED subject to planning 
conditions and the decision notice was duly issued on 29 July 2015.

2.12 On 14 August 2015 a further claim for Judicial Review (JR) was lodged again by Mr 
Simon Privett, the owner of the Tollgate Service Station, proposing that the decision of 
the Council to grant permission was unlawful on any or all of 4 grounds.  The Council’s 
decision was quashed as a result of a High Court decision on 18 March 2016 on the 
single ground that the Local Planning Authority failed to quantify the entire footprint of 
built-on land before and after the development in the officer report.  The Judge found for 
the Council on the other 3 grounds.

2.13 The original application for the comprehensive redevelopment of the site (application 
20131018) therefore had stood undetermined and the applicants were seeking subsequent 
determination of the application following submission of additional information relating to 
the quantum of all development both existing and proposed on the site. 

2.14 However the applicant’s agents on behalf of BP Oil UK Ltd formally withdrew the earlier 
application (ref 20131018) for a petrol filling station and a restaurant with drive thru for the 
McDonalds franchise on 15 November 2017.

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Screening Opinion

2.15 A request for an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) screening opinion in connection 
with this current application (20160215) for the development of just part of the site for a 
petrol filling station only was submitted in September 2015 and it was determined that an 
EIA was not required on 12 October 2015 (reference 21050952).  The determination 
concluded:

This Schedule 2 development is a major development proposal but based on the scope 
and type of the development as proposed it is considered that it is not of more than local 
importance and the scale of development would not therefore have wide-ranging 
environmental effects that would justify EIA.

The site is not a site which had not previously been intensively developed. The proposal is 
for the redevelopment of the site but the development would not be on a significantly 
greater scale than the previous use; the types of impact would also not be of a markedly 
different nature, essentially providing road side services, and a high level of contamination 
would not be expected from the development.

Page 39



The development site is not designated as a 'sensitive area' as defined in Regulation 2 (1) 
of the EIA Regulations 2011 or is development in an environmentally sensitive or 
vulnerable location as indicated in the National Planning Practice Guidance, nor is the site 
in close proximity to such a sensitive area such as to have significant effects on the special 
character of any of the types of 'sensitive area'.

It is not considered that the development is likely to have cumulative effects with any 
existing or approved development, as indicated in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance, such as to have a significant effect.

Having regard to Regulation 4 (6) of the Regulations, the indicative thresholds and 
selection criteria for identification of and screening of Schedule 2 development requiring 
EIA as set out in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Schedule 3 of the Regulations, and the advice in 
National Planning Practice Guidance, the proposed development is not considered to have 
significant environmental effects on the environment by reason of its characteristics and 
nature, scale and size, location or impact.

  

3. Proposal

Summary of the Proposals 

3.1 This current planning application by BP Oil UK Ltd is for a petrol filling station only on the 
site and proposes the demolition of all the former Tollgate hotel/restaurant and construction 
of a BP Connect petrol filling station and forecourts, sales building, ATM, underground fuel 
tanks, refuse/recycling, AC/refrigeration units, vehicular access, substation, parking and all 
associated works and services on part of site.

3.2 The petrol filling station will be constructed on the western part of the former Tollgate hotel 
site on an area of 9200m²/0.92 hectares (2.27 acres).  This has increased since the 
application was first submitted which indicated that the petrol filling station site was 0.6 
hectares (1.48 acres) but the red line boundary for the application was increased to include 
additional (highway) land beyond and west of the current confines of the actual hotel site.  
The tongue of land was included to cover highway works to facilitate the development and 
the land will be transferred to the developer but not enclosed according to the applicant’s 
agents.

3.3 The eastern part of the of the former Tollgate hotel site (about a third of the overall area) is 
shown as a future development site (on an area of 4,100m²/0.41 hectares, or 1.016 acres) 
but all existing buildings on this part of the site will nevertheless be removed at this stage.  
This will be levelled seeded with grass/wild flowers.  However the submitted plans do show 
two potential access points from the proposed petrol filling station site through to the ‘future 
development site’.

3.4 The petrol station sales building will be single storey of contemporary design and 4.2m in 
height with the main forecourt canopy to a height of approx. 6m and a separate HGV 
forecourt canopy on the southern side of the sales building at a height of 6.5m.  The filling 
station will comprise 18 petrol pumps. 

3.5 The petrol station sales building will be a maximum 38.5m long and 12m wide rectangular 
in shape but with the south east corner chamfered.  The building includes a sales area, 
customer toilets, office and covered plant and refuse store.  An ATM will be located in the 
front of the sales building.  No seating is to be provided in the BP Connect shop. 

Page 40



3.6 The external building materials for the petrol filling station shop are indicated as being 
composite insulated (Pearlescent) white cladding and a glazed shop front and with a flat 
roof.

3.7 It is proposed that the site will be levelled significantly and stepped to reduce the overall 
impact of the development.  The reduction in ground levels will vary across the site but the 
maximum reduction will be at the eastern end of the site where the level of the site would 
be reduced by up to 4.2m.  

3.8 Vehicular access to the development will be from the existing access off the roundabout to 
the north of the realigned A2 trunk road.  However this access will be improved by some 
widening of the junction with the roundabout and will have two exit lanes. Currently the 
access has a single lane into and out of the site.

3.9 The hours of opening for the petrol filling station are stated as being on a 24 hour basis.

3.10 Parking provision is indicated as being a total of 24 spaces.  No HGV parking within the 
site is proposed and the site would be signed that it was to obtain fuel only.

3.11 There is no indication in the application form of numbers of staff to be employed at the 
premises.

3.12 The petrol filling station would receive one petrol/diesel delivery and one goods delivery 
per day. 

3.13 The proposals include off site highway works both to the A227 Wrotham Road at the 
northern approach to the roundabout serving the site and to the coastbound off slip from 
the A2.

Supporting Documents

3.14 The application, when it was originally submitted in early March 2016, was accompanied 
by the following supporting documents:

 Planning Application Form
 Covering letter dated 3 March 2016 (Aitchison Raffety Chartered Town Planning 

Consultants)
 Planning, Design and Access Statement February 2016 (Aitchison Raffety Chartered 

Town Planning Consultants)
 Transport Statement Technical Note September 2015 (Odyssey Markides LLP), 

including appended original Transport Assessment dated 25 October 2013 by 
Waterman Transport and Development Ltd pertaining to the original application for the 
development of the whole site (thus including for a McDonalds restaurant and drive 
thru)

Other Supporting Documents 

3.15 The following additional documents were also submitted but which had originally 
accompanied the separate planning application (20131018) for the redevelopment of the 
whole site, and therefore contain references to the combined proposals (BP petrol filling 
station and McDonald’s restaurant):

Page 41



 Geo-Environmental Investigation Report September 2012 (Subadra Consulting Ltd)
 Flood Risk Assessment October 2012 (Clear Environmental Consultants Ltd)
 Air Quality Assessment October 2013 (Waterman Energy, Environment and Design 

Ltd)
 Archaeological Desk Based Assessment October 2012 (Archaeology South East)
 Ecological Survey - Extended Phase 1 Habitat & Bat Surveys October 2012 (Corylus 

Ecology)
 Landscape and Visual Overview August 2012 (David Huskisson Associates)

Originally Submitted Plans/Drawings

3.16 The application was originally supported by the following application plans:

 Drawing no 20129/20 Rev C: Site Layout Plan - Main Forecourts;
 Drawing no 20129/21 rev A: Site Development Plan - Access and Highway Works;
 Drawing no 20129/22 Rev B: Proposed BP Shop Building Elevations;
 Drawing no 20129/23 Rev A: Sectional Elevations - Illustrating Levels and Earth 

Works; and
 Drawing no 20129/24: E/A Drainage and Services.

3.17 The following survey drawings were also submitted:

 Topographical Survey Drawing No 10915-1 Rev A
 Topographical Survey Drawing No 10915-2 

Note: The above original plans and drawings have since been superseded by revised 
drawings

Summary of the Planning, Design & Access Statement

3.18 The purpose of the revised Planning, Design & Access (PDA) Statement (February 2016) 
was indicated by the applicant’s planning consultants as being to:

 Support the proposals
 Assess the proposals in the light of current advice & policies relating to the Green Belt
 Assess the proposals in the light of recent changes to the current development plan
 Address grounds raised in the Judicial Review

3.19 The PDA statement indicates that the proposals have the potential to be approved as an 
exception as redevelopment of a previously developed site (under the final bullet point in 
paragraph 89 of the NPPF) and not be deemed to be inappropriate development pointing 
out that:

 The scale and volume of the built development is significantly lower than that of the 
hotel and restaurant buildings;

 The development will not have a greater impact on openness or the purposes of 
including land within it

 It is not necessary to demonstrate the existence of very special circumstances.

3.20 The PDA statement indicates that the development will reduce the overall scale of 
buildings on the site with a significant reduction in floor space.  It provided the following 
figures:

Page 42



Proposal

Shop Building: 410m²
Main Forecourt Canopy: 525m²
HGV Forecourt Canopy: 115m²

Total:           1050m²

Proposed Surfaced Areas:           3425m²

Existing Hotel (Whole Site)

Building Footprint:           1860m²
Trafficked Areas:                                          4005m²
Floor Areas of Buildings           2830m²

3.21 The PDA statement therefore suggested that there will be a significant reduction in built 
floorspace and coverage of development on the former hotel site (i.e. the whole site) and 
that the development will still comprise of open areas and opportunities to landscape the 
site particularly the boundaries and eastern part.

3.22 The statement pointed out a number of other material considerations including:

 The site is adjacent to the A2 with good access to trunk road.
 Its character is influenced by its location.
 It will provide a modern and needed facility and improve the appearance of the area
 Many of the existing hotel buildings do not have an attractive appearance
 The development will not enlarge the site or encroach further into the Green Belt.
 It will reduce the level of activity and locate development closer to the road and access
 There will be a significant improvement in terms of the relationship to other areas 

adjacent to the site
 The development will meet the needs of travellers on the A2 and also local needs
 The development will create construction jobs
 The development reflects latest construction methods including environmentally 

sensitive fuel tanks
 The forecourt canopy and shop are within lower parts of the site and their appearance 

will be seen against the backdrop of the A2
 The existing lighting generally affects the appearance and the development will be 

acceptable within this area. 
 While there is no requirement to show need it will meet important needs of the A2 

replacing services lost with the improvements of the trunk road
 It is a sustainable development supported by paragraph 89 of the NPPF

3.23 The statement also explained the rationale behind the design with reference to the height 
of the development and its scale and appearance, use, amount, layout and landscaping.

3.24 Following the judicial review decision in March 2016 relating to the separate application for 
the development of the whole site (20131018) the applicants were asked to provide 
accurate assessments for both this planning application (20160215) for the petrol filling 
station only and also the separate application (20131018) for the redevelopment of the 
whole site for petrol filling station and restaurant of:

Page 43



 the existing extent of all built development on the site thus advising on the external 
areas of existing buildings – footprints, together with floorspace and volume of the 
existing buildings (ground and first floor and any basements), the actual extent of all 
hard surfaces (parking areas, walkways, access drives and any other hardstandings) 
and any remaining green areas on the site that make up the precise figure for the size 
of the site; and 

 the extent of all built development for the proposed development in relation to the 
whole site, indicating the built footprint (with and without the canopies), the floorspace 
of new buildings and the extent of all hard surfaces (parking areas, walkways, access 
drives and any other hardstandings) and any proposed green spaces

Additional Plans/Documents submitted post March 2016

3.25 The following revised plans were provided as a result:

 Drawing No 10915-EB-2B Rev 1B: Topographical Survey with Existing Built Areas
 Drawing No 10915-EB-2B Rev 2B: Topographical Survey with Existing Built Areas
 Drawing No 20129/20 Rev D: Site Layout Plan - Main Forecourts
 Drawing No 20129/21: Site Development Plan - Proposed Built Areas (provided for 

information as this shows the site location plan - red line boundary - for the whole site)
 Drawing No 20129/21 Rev B: Site Development Plan - Access & Highways Work
 Drawing No 20129/22 Rev B: Proposed BP Shop - Building Elevations
 Drawing No 20129/23 Rev B: Sectional Elevations - Illustrating Levels & Earth Works  
 Drawing No 20129/24 Rev B: E/A Drainage & Services

The following documents were also provided:

 Existing & Proposed Built Areas & Volume Schedule (Malcolm Hughes Land 
Surveyors)

 Information Note (Aitchison Raffety) dated 13 July 2016

Note:  The following drawings are subsequent revisions and being:

 Drawing No 20129/20 Rev E: Site Layout Plan - Main Forecourts
 Drawing No 20129/21 Rev C: Site Development Plan - Access and Highways Work

These update only in respect of the key for the development boundary and site area and 
the highway alteration scheme.

Existing & Proposed Built Areas & Volume Schedule

3.26 In relation to the petrol filing station only the Existing & Proposed Built Areas & Volume 
Schedule indicated the existing and proposed calculations:

For the petrol station area (Site Area 0.92 hectares):

Page 44



For the now withdrawn application (20131018) for the redevelopment of the whole site for a 
PFS and McDonald’s restaurant development area but shown within the petrol filling 
station only application (20160215) as a future development site (Site Area 0.41 hectares):

For the road widening area of the site (applicable to both the PFS only application and the 
now withdrawn application for the development of the whole site) but for which is outside of 
the red line boundary of the application site (Site Area 0.026 hectares):

Information Note

3.27 The Information Note (Aitchison Raffety) dated 13 July 2016 commented:

There is no dispute that the appeal site lies within the Green Belt where strict policies of 
restraint apply.  The Framework confirms, at paragraph 79, the longstanding principle that 
Green Belts are of great importance and that their essential characteristics are their 
openness and permanence.  Paragraph 80 sets out the five purposes of Green Belt and 
paragraphs 87-88 of the Framework state that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances.  Substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt and 
‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 

Page 45



reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.

Paragraphs 89-90 of the Framework identify which forms of development are not 
inappropriate in the Green Belt and this includes the partial or complete redevelopment of 
previously developed sites which would not have a greater impact on openness of the 
Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development.

It is accepted that the entire site falls within the definition of previously developed land as 
set out in the glossary to the Framework.  This is plainly the case because the site 
comprises a substantial hotel and associated buildings together with access road and 
hardstandings.  The curtilage extends to the full extent of the red line, which also includes 
part of the junction and access.  

Given the previously developed nature of the land proposed for development in this 
application, it is clear that the proposals can be considered as an exception under 
paragraph 89 (6) and not, therefore, deemed to be inappropriate development subject to 
the impact of the development on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of 
including land within it.

This position has been accepted in two recent judgments on application 20131018. 
However, it is necessary to quantify the existing and proposed development.  As it is clear 
from the proposals, compared with application 20131018, this application, 20160215, does 
not include the restaurant and the existing buildings on the whole site will still be 
demolished and the eastern part of the site left as a grassed meadow area when the 
existing buildings and hardstandings have been removed.

The existing and proposed built development has been assessed and it remains our view 
that the proposal should be judged on the basis of paragraph 89 of the Framework and that 
the proposals comprise in quantitative terms, less built form than that which exists on the 
whole site.

In respect of this planning application which proposes new development on only part of the 
former hotel site, the tables and enclosed revised drawings clearly indicate areas and 
volume to show the reduction in built form and enable the assessment to be undertaken.  

Revised Transport Technical Note - 17 February 2017

3.28 A revised transport technical note (17-041A) was submitted dated 17 February 2017 from 
the applicants transport consultants Odyssey Markides outlining details for the proposed 
modifications to the existing roundabout on Wrotham Road and the A2 (Watling Street) slip 
lanes, such works to be constructed under a Section 278 Agreement with Kent County 
Council (KCC) under the Highways Act.

3.29 The revised note was submitted as a result of early discussions between the applicants 
and the highway authority over the off-site highway works that would be necessary in the 
event of planning permission being granted and particularly related to the proposed 
crossing width for pedestrians on the southbound side of Wrotham Road due to the 
incorporation of the new left turn lane in the highway drawings.  The technical note 
included two highway drawings:

 Odyssey Markides Drawing No 14/150/701 Rev A: General Arrangement
 Odyssey Markides Drawing No 17/150/701: General Arrangement

Page 46



3.30 The highway drawings showed the provision of a splitter island as a pedestrian island for a 
crossing point where off site highway works were proposed to the north arm of the 
Wrotham Road at the junction with the roundabout providing access to the application site.

Revised (or Supplementary) Transport Assessment (TA) - Rev E 01 November 2017

3.31 A revised (or supplementary) transport assessment (TA) from Odyssey Transport 
Consultants (ref 14-150-01 revision E) was submitted in November 2017 as the application 
for the standalone petrol filling station only was supported previously by the original 
Waterman Transport Assessment of 2013 (with two subsequent transport technical notes 
(2015/2017) which related to the development of the whole site.  

3.32 Whilst that assessment could have been considered as a ‘worst case scenario’ assessing 
impacts of the development of the entire site including the development of a McDonalds 
restaurants the evidence was based on key data sets from 2012 and following discussions 
with the Highway Authority (Kent County Council) it was considered that this should include 
updated traffic count/queue data, junction capacity analysis and personal injury accident 
data.  Moreover it was considered that more recent committed development (the 
Hotel/Toby Carvery development, commercial development on land south of Coldharbour 
Road and residential development on the north side of Coldharbour Road) should be 
added to base flows for 5 and 10 year predictions in the transport modelling and which had 
not been accounted for previously.

Addendum to the Supplementary Transport Assessment (Rev E) 19/26 January 2018

3.33 An addendum to the Odyssey Supplementary Transport Assessment (Revision E) was 
also received (Ref 14-150-02 Revision B) on 19 January 2018 by Odyssey Transport 
Consultants.  A further version of the Odyssey Addendum TA (14-150-02 Rev D) dated 26 
January 2018 which corrected some tabular information was also subsequently submitted.  

3.34 The addendum provides additional modelling based on the proposals for a petrol filling 
station only scheme, rather than include, as in even the recently revised TA, reference to 
the restaurant as well.  It assumes 100% new trips meaning that no discount is made for 
traffic already travelling on the network (i.e. No reduction for pass by trips), and also 
assumes that the existing nearby Shell Tollgate Service Station would continue to operate 
at its current traffic levels.

3.35 The offsite highway mitigation proposed (in addition to works at the access point to/from 
the site) is shown in the following drawings:

 Drawing No 17-041-SK-002A-Proposed Highway Improvement Option (Wrotham Road 
North)

 Drawing No 17041-SK-003-Proposed Western Arm Widening (A2 EB Off slip).

4. Development Plan and other Relevant Planning Policies and Guidance

4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are other material considerations, the 
development plan should be the starting point, and other material considerations should be 
taken into account in reaching a decision.  One such consideration will be whether the plan 
policies are relevant and up to date.  

Page 47



4.2 The Development Plan for Gravesham comprises:-

 The Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
 Remaining Saved Policies of the Local Plan First Review (1994)
 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 (July 2016)

4.3 There are a number of other planning policy documents which are of some relevance to 
the consideration of planning applications and are material considerations, including 
national planning advice and guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), and supplementary planning guidance 
and, where they exist, neighbourhood plans.

Local Planning Guidance

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014

4.4 The Core Strategy sets out the Council's spatial vision and strategic objectives for the 
Borough to 2028 and the policies which will deliver them. It identifies the main areas where 
major change is likely to take place and allocates sites which are key to achieving the 
strategy.

4.5 The application site is shown as being within a Green Belt area in the Gravesham Local 
Plan Policies Map. The A227 Wrotham Road and A2 trunk roads are shown as being 
primary distributors in the highway network and the site adjoins HS1 safeguarded land.

4.6 The most relevant policies from the adopted Core Strategy in relation to this development 
are as follows:

Core Strategy Policy CS01: Sustainable Development
Core Strategy Policy CS02: Scale and Distribution of Development
Core Strategy Policy CS07: Economy, Employment and Skills
Core Strategy Policy CS08: Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy of Centres
Core Strategy Policy CS09: Culture and Tourism
Core Strategy Policy CS11: Transport
Core Strategy Policy CS12: Green Infrastructure
Core Strategy Policy CS18: Climate Change
Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles
Core Strategy Policy CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment

4.7 Policy CS01 (Sustainable Development) sets out that support will be given to proposals 
that accord with the development plan.  A positive approach to new development will be 
taken that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the 
NPPF and the Local Plan Core Strategy.

4.8 Policy CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) makes a commitment to meeting the 
Borough’s objectively assessed need for 6,170 new dwellings over the plan period and 
outlines where new development will take place.  The strategy by promoting regeneration 
by:

- the redevelopment and recycling of underused, derelict and previously developed land;
- revitalising Gravesend Town Centre as a focal centre for small scale office 

development; and
- bringing forward a range of suitable sites for residential and employment development.

Page 48



Development is also supported within those rural settlements inset from the Green Belt and 
defined on the Policies Map.  Development outside those settlements will only be 
supported where it is compatible with national policies for protecting the Green Belt and 
other policies in the development plan.

4.9 Policy CS07 (Economy, Employment and Skills) indicates that the Council will support the 
refurbishment and upgrading of existing industrial and commercial premises.

4.10 Policy CS08 (Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy of Centres) prioritises Gravesend Town 
Centre as the sequentially preferred location for the main town centre uses covered by the 
policy (i.e. primarily retail and leisure).  It requires that the NPPF sequential test and (for 
proposals exceeding 2,500 sq. m) the NPPF impact test be applied, with the town centre 
Primary Shopping Area being ‘in centre’ for retail assessment.  

4.11 Policy CS09 (Culture and Tourism) indicates that the Council will seek to protect and 
support improvements to existing cultural and tourist facilities.

4.12 Policy CS11 (Transport) sets out that new developments should mitigate their impact on 
the highway and public transport networks as required.  As appropriate, transport 
assessments and travel plans should be provided and implemented to ensure the delivery 
of travel choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. Sufficient parking in new 
development will be provided in accordance with adopted parking standards reflecting the 
availability of alternative means of transport and accessibility to services and facilities.

4.13 Policy CS12 (Green Infrastructure) requires that there should be no net loss of biodiversity 
in the Borough and gives protection amongst other things to internationally designated 
sites.  The overall landscape character and valued landscapes will be conserved, restored 
and enhanced.   

4.14 Policy CS18 (Climate Change) requires new development to reduce the causes and 
impacts of flooding, minimise impacts on waste water systems, reduce impact on the 
supply of potable water and reduce the overall carbon footprint of the Borough.

4.15 Policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) sets out detailed criteria against which 
the acceptability or otherwise of proposed development will be evaluated.  In particular it 
requires new development to be visually attractive, fit for purpose and locally distinctive.  It 
should conserve and enhance the character of the local built and natural environment and 
integrate well with the surrounding area.  It requires new development to safeguard the 
amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of 
neighbouring properties and land and avoid adverse environmental impacts from pollution. 
Proposals should include details of appropriate hard and soft landscaping, protect and 
where opportunities arise enhance biodiversity and provide appropriate facilities for the 
storage and disposal of waste. 

4.16 Policy CS20 (Heritage and the Historic Environment) gives a high priority towards the 
preservation, protection and enhancement of its heritage and historic environment as a 
non-renewable resource, central to the regeneration of the area and the reinforcement of 
sense of place. Particular attention in this regard will be focused on those heritage assets 
most at risk.  When considering the impact of a proposed development on a designated 
heritage asset, the weight that will be given to the asset’s conservation value will be 
commensurate with the importance and significance of the asset. For non-designated 
assets, decisions will have regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of 
the heritage asset.

Page 49



4.17 A Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Development Plan Document 
will be prepared following the adoption of the Core Strategy.

4.18 As the site is in the Green Belt the normal criteria apply to any development and there is no 
current intention to change that, although the detailed policy approach to this site would be 
for the Site Allocations and Development Management Polices document. Whilst work has 
commenced on background studies to support a Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies DPD this is still at an early stage and no weight can be afforded it at 
this time.  

Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994

4.19 The Gravesham Local Plan First Review was originally adopted in November 1994.

4.20 A substantial number of policies of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review were saved by 
a Direction dated 25 September 2007 of the Secretary of State under paragraph 1 (3) of 
Schedule 8 to the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as transitional 
arrangements pending adoption of the Core Strategy.

4.21 Saved policies contained in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review should still be 
accorded significant weight, albeit that the weight accorded should be greater where 
policies are consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, paragraph 
215).

4.22 Those Local Plan First Review policies that remain in force are listed in Appendix 1 of the 
Local Plan Core Strategy.  The remaining saved policies will be replaced following the 
adoption of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document.

4.23 The following remaining saved policies are relevant to the consideration of this application:

Policy TC7: Other Archaeological Sites
Policy T1: Impact of Development on the Highway Network
Policy T2: Channelling of Traffic onto the Primary and District Distributor Network
Policy T3: Development Not Well Related to the Primary and District Distributor Network
Policy T4: Development Outside the Built-Up Area
Policy T5:  New Accesses onto Highway Network
Policy P3: Vehicle Parking Standards
Policy S7: Policy for Hot Food Shops and Restaurants and other A3 Uses 

Note: Policy T12: M2 Widening and A2 Improvements of the First Review, that indicated 
that in the Green Belt the Borough Council will resist the creation of new facilities related to 
the A2 and will generally resist the expansion of existing facilities, has now been deleted 
following the adoption of the Core Strategy in September 2014.

4.24 Policy TC7 requires adequate assessment of the archaeological implications of 
development on potential archaeological sites and appropriate mitigation.

4.25 Policy T1 indicates that the Local Planning and Highway Authorities will consider the 
impact on the transport system and on the environment of traffic generated by new 
development and will wish to ensure that all proposed developments are adequately 
served by the highway network.

4.26 Policy T5 requires that the formation of new accesses or the intensification of use of 
existing accesses to the roads forming the highway network shown on the Proposals 

Page 50



Map, will not normally be permitted, except where no danger would arise and where a 
properly formed access can be created in a location and to a standard acceptable to the 
Local Planning and Highway Authorities.

4.27 Policy P3 requires development to make provision for vehicle parking, in accordance 
with the Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards, as interpreted by Gravesham 
Borough Council, unless justified as an exception. All vehicle parking provision should 
normally be made on the development site.

4.28 Policy S7 sets out a criteria based assessment for considering proposals for hot food 
shops and restaurants.

National Planning Policy Guidance 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.29 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), March 2012, has replaced all the 
national planning policy guidance (PPG’s) and statements (PPS’s) and is a material 
consideration.

4.30 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 
14) which means approving development proposals that accord with the development plan 
and where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date 
planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts would so significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits or specific policies in the NPPF indicate 
development should be restricted.

4.31 The NPPF includes (in paragraph 17) a set of 12 core land-use planning principles 
underpinning plan making and decision taking.  

4.32 The core principles of particular relevance to this type of development include:

 supporting sustainable economic development to meet the housing, business and other 
development needs of an area 

 securing high quality design and a good standard of amenity for existing and future 
occupants of land and buildings;

 taking account of the different roles and character of different areas, promoting the 
vitality of the main urban areas, protecting Green Belts around them, recognising the 
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and supporting thriving rural 
communities within it;

 encouraging the effective use of land by reusing land that has been previously 
developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not of high environmental value; and

 actively managing patterns of growth to make the fullest use of public transport, 
walking and cycling, and focusing significant development is locations that are or can 
be made sustainable.

4.33 Numerous sections of the NPPF are directly relevant to the consideration of this planning 
application and these include:

Section 1: Building a strong, competitive economy, paragraphs 19-22;
Section 4: Promoting sustainable transport, paragraphs 29-41;
Section 7: Requiring good design, paragraphs 56-68;
Section 9: Protecting Green Belt land, paragraphs 79-92;
Section 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment, paragraphs 109-125; 

Page 51



Section 12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment, paragraphs 126-141; and
Decision-taking, paragraphs 186-207.

4.34 The following paragraphs are specifically highlighted as being of importance to the 
consideration of the application proposals, but it should not be taken that these are the only 
parts of the NPPF that need to be considered. Reference to the national planning guidance 
is also considered in the analysis section of this report.

4.35 Paragraph 19 indicates that significant weight should be placed on the need to support 
economic growth through the planning system.

4.36 Paragraph 32 of the NPPF indicates that all developments that generate significant 
amounts of movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport 
Assessment. Plans and decisions should take account of whether:

 the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on 
the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure;

 safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and
 improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit 

the significant impacts of the development. 

Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual 
cumulative impacts of development are severe.

4.37 Paragraph 56 of the NPPF indicates that the Government attaches great importance to the 
design of the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better 
for people.

4.38 As the site is within the Green Belt paragraphs 79-92 in the NPPF are relevant.

4.39 Paragraph 79 of the NPPF indicates that the Government attaches great importance to 
Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their 
openness and their permanence.

4.40 Paragraph 80 sets out the five purposes of Green Belts as being:

• to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
• to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
• to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
• to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
• to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land.

4.41 In addition to the above five nationally defined purposes of the Green Belt, policy CS02 of 
the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy states that the local purposes of the 
Green Belt will be maintained. Paragraph 4.2.7 of the document sets these purposes as 
being:

• to maintain the break in development between the eastern edge of Gravesend and the 
Medway Towns which is one of the few barriers preventing the further eastward sprawl 
of London and the merging of towns along the southern part of the Thames Estuary;

• to assist in safeguarding the countryside by minimising the expansion of the Borough’s 
rural settlements; and

Page 52



• to assist in concentrating development on underused, derelict and previously 
developed land in the urban area of Gravesend and Northfleet.

4.42 Paragraph 83 indicates that once established, Green Belt boundaries should only be 
altered in exceptional circumstances, through the preparation or review of the Local Plan, 
while paragraph 85 gives guidance on defining Green Belt boundaries and which includes 
that boundaries should be clearly defined, using physical features that are readily 
recognisable and likely to be permanent.

4.43 Paragraph 87 of the NPPF indicates that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances while paragraph 88 indicates that local planning authorities when 
considering planning applications should give substantial weight to any harm to the Green 
Belt and that very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations.

4.44 Paragraph 89 advises that the construction of new buildings is inappropriate in the Green 
Belt but lists the exceptions to this which include, amongst other things, the replacement of 
a building providing the new building is in the same use and not materially larger than the 
one it replaces and also the redevelopment of previously developed sites (brownfield) 
whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings) which 
would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose 
of including land within it than the existing development.

4.45 Paragraph 90 advises that certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in 
Green Belt provided they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with 
the purposes of including land in Green Belt. These include, amongst other things,

 engineering operations
 local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt 

location; and 
 the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and substantial 

construction

4.46 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should 
encourage the effective use of land by re-using land that has been previously developed 
(Brownfield land) provided that it is not of high environmental value.

4.47 Paragraph 128 of the NPPF indicates that in determining applications, local planning 
authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets 
affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be 
proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the 
potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic 
environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using 
appropriate expertise where necessary.

4.48 Paragraph 196 indicates that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.49 Paragraphs 203-206 contain advice on planning conditions and obligations.  Paragraph 
206 indicates that conditions should only be imposed where they are necessary, relevant 
to planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable 
in all other respects.

Page 53



The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

4.50 On the 6th of March 2014 a new web-based resource for Planning Practice Guidance was 
launched (http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/). It supports and clarifies areas in 
the NPPF and replaces a substantial list of guidance documents published from 1978-
2013.

4.51 It contains guidance on assessing housing need; design; public consultation; open space 
provision in new development; travel plans, transport assessments and statements in 
decision-taking; health and wellbeing; water supply, wastewater and water quality; light 
pollution; determining a planning application; the use of planning conditions and viability, 
amongst other things.

4.52 The NPPG gives guidance on what is a material planning consideration in determining a 
planning application indicating that the impact of a development on the value of a 
neighbouring property or loss of private rights to light could not be material considerations.

4.53 The NPPG includes more detailed advice on the use of planning conditions (replacing the 
cancelled Circular 11/95).

Supplementary Planning Guidance and other relevant Documents
     
4.54 The Council has adopted a number of Supplementary Planning Guidance documents, 

Development Briefs and Conservation Area Appraisals.  These elaborate on saved policies 
in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review and policies in the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy and are material considerations in determining planning applications.  

4.55 In addition the Council has adopted a number of documents that have been produced by 
Kent County Council also as Supplementary Guidance.

4.56 The following documents are relevant to the consideration of this application:

 Kent Design Guide (SPG 5 published December 2005, adopted July 2006)
 Adopted Kent Vehicle Parking Standards (SPG 4 published in 2003 and adopted in 

2006)
 Planning Policy for vehicular accesses to classified highways (Planning Guidance 

Note No 6)
 Gravesham Landscape Character Assessment, May 2009 (a technical document 

which underpins Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS12).
 DfT Circular 02/13: The Strategic Road Network and the Delivery of Sustainable 

Development, September 2013

4.57 The application site lies within the Gravesend Southern Fringe landscape character area in 
the Gravesham Landscape Character Assessment and where it is indicated that the 
location of the CTRL away from the urban edge and relocation of the A2 adjacent to it have 
cut off this area from its traditional context and, whilst sharing the physical characteristics 
of the countryside to the south, the influence of the urban edge and dominance of the 
infrastructure have been so great that it has its own special character and settlement is 
dominant.

The link to this document is as follows:
http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/Environment%20and%20Planning/GLP
/HER-

Page 54

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/Environment%20and%20Planning/GLP/HER-01_Gravesham_Landscape_Character_Assessment_May_2009.pdf?_ga=1.83446038.1683309610.1376386469
http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/Environment%20and%20Planning/GLP/HER-01_Gravesham_Landscape_Character_Assessment_May_2009.pdf?_ga=1.83446038.1683309610.1376386469


01_Gravesham_Landscape_Character_Assessment_May_2009.pdf?_ga=1.83446038.168
3309610.1376386469

4.58 DfT Circular 02/13 sets out the way in which the Highways England, as the strategic 
highway authority, will engage with communities and the development industry to deliver 
sustainable development and, thus, economic growth, whilst safeguarding the primary 
function and purpose of the strategic road network. It replaces the policy set out in 
Department for Transport (DfT) Circular 02/2007 Planning and the Strategic Road Network 
and DfT Circular 01/2008 Policy on Service Areas and other Roadside Facilities on 
Motorways and All-purpose Trunk Roads in England.  Annex A provides additional policy 
specific to certain types of development, whilst Annex B sets out the requirements for 
roadside facilities that are eligible for permanent signing from the strategic road network. 

5. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Consultations

(a) Planning Policy

GBC Planning Policy Manager - 31 July 2017

Background

5.1 The application is to redevelop the Tollgate Motel site as a petrol station. The current land 
use (non-operational) is as a hotel.  The site was impacted by the A2 widening scheme 
which moved the A2 south and entailed the construction of the new junction at this point.  
As part of this project the site was acquired by the Highways Agency and the buildings 
were used as site offices. Originally the Tollgate Hotel was serviced from the slip roads off 
the London bound carriageway and is now located off the middle roundabout with the slip 
roads to/from the coastbound carriageway.

Policy

5.2 There was an original application, 20131018, for a petrol filling station and drive through 
restaurant on which comments were provided.  

5.3 On the petrol filling station element of the proposal the following comment was made:  

Historically there has been the loss of petrol stations along the A2 at Tollgate, Ebbsfleet 
junction, Singlewell and Cobham North Services, as well as more generally in the Borough.  
Cobham South services, also located in the Green Belt, has been recently redeveloped.  
Current provision apart from Cobham South Services and related to the A2 consists of 
Sainsbury’s at Pepper Hill, Morrison’s at Coldharbour Road, and BP at Tollgate on the old 
slip road onto the former A2 alignment. All of these require using a junction and local roads 
to reach the facility.  Only the existing BP Tollgate is signed as ‘services’ from the A2 
(though there is a ‘superstore’ sign on the Coldharbour Road roundabout towards 
Morrison’s).

The application site will be encountered before the existing BP (now Shell) station for A2 
users; however signage could continue to indicate the location of alternative facilities.  
Competition issues are not relevant to the determination of the application (the NPPF 
makes competition a recurring theme - see paragraph 46). The A2 at this point has an 
Average Annual Daily Flow of 119,000 vehicles per day so there is a large potential 

Page 55

http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/Environment%20and%20Planning/GLP/HER-01_Gravesham_Landscape_Character_Assessment_May_2009.pdf?_ga=1.83446038.1683309610.1376386469
http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/Environment%20and%20Planning/GLP/HER-01_Gravesham_Landscape_Character_Assessment_May_2009.pdf?_ga=1.83446038.1683309610.1376386469


market. There are currently no services on the A2 between the site and the M25, and the 
next facility coastbound is Medway services (21 miles).

5.4 Since then in April 2017 the Government announced its preferred route for a Lower 
Thames Crossing east of Gravesend, including a red line boundary.  This will result in the 
loss, as currently understood, of Cobham South services to provide a 70 mph junction slips 
east and west on to the A2 from north of the Thames, along with re-arrangement of the 
connecting roads in the area.

5.5 Results of further transport modelling are awaited, but earlier work indicated some 
reduction of flows along the A2 as a result of the new route.  Despite that with the loss of 
Cobham South Services, there remains a case for new petrol station provision on this 
section of the A2, for which this is a suitable site, subject to other relevant issues and tests.

(b) Access, Transport, Cycling and Sustainability Responses

Highways England - 01 June 2016

5.6 Highways England raised no objection to the original proposals subject to conditions 
requiring off site highway improvements to be undertaken (on the approach to the site from 
the north as shown in Waterman drawing no CIV 130604 - 07 Proposed Highways Layout) 
and submission of a construction traffic management plan

Note: These comments were made in relation to the original submission prior to the later 
request for a revised Transport Assessment and subsequent re-consultation 

Highways England - Revised Comments 08 January 2018

5.7 Referring to the planning application (re-consultation received 9 November 2017) 
referenced above, in the vicinity of the A2(west) near Gravesend, Kent that forms part of 
the Strategic Road Network, notice is hereby given that Highways England’s formal 
recommendation is that we:

5.8 Recommend that conditions should be attached to any planning permission that may be 
granted 

This is on the basis that having assessed the Supplementary Transport Assessment (as 
contained on the Gravesham planning website dated 8/11/17) and Supplementary 
Transport Statement (on the website dated 13/11/17), and then obtained further 
information and updates via a series emails and telephone conversations between 
Highways England and Odyssey (the applicant’s transport advisors) during the period from 
13/11/17 to 2/1/18, we are now content that provided that the proposed mitigation is 
implemented, the proposed development will not have a material adverse impact on the 
safety, reliability and/or efficient operation of the SRN (the tests set out in DfT Circular 
2/2013 paragraph 10 and DCLG NPPF paragraph 32).

The recommended planning conditions are 

 No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until the 
highway improvements to the London bound off slip are carried out 

 Submission of a Construction Traffic Management Plan

Page 56



Kent County Council Highways and Transportation - Original Comments 06 June 2017

5.9 The information submitted in support of this application has been reviewed, including the 
recently submitted Highways Technical Note by Odyssey Markides dated 17th February 
2017, is acceptable and no highway objection is raised to the proposals. It is noted that 
Highways England also do not raise any highway objection subject to the implementation 
of conditions relating to the improvements to the Wrotham Road Roundabout and for a 
Construction Management Plan being submitted. KCC Highways concur with the inclusion 
of those conditions.

5.10 It is considered that the traffic impact of the proposals is not likely to be severe on the local 
highway network, particular as it is considered that the majority of vehicles accessing the 
new development are likely to be pass-by and would already be on the network rather than 
generating new additional trips. The impact is not likely to be considered "severe" in terms 
of NPPF recommendations.

5.11 The minor improvements to the Wrotham Road roundabout as shown in the Technical 
Note are acceptable for a basis for entering into a Section 278 Agreement with Kent CC 
Highways, subject to a Stage 1 Safety Audit, and any consent should be conditioned such 
that these improvement works should be completed prior to the proposed facilities come 
into use.

5.12 There is a footpath route crossing the site from north-east to south-west linking the Weald 
Way Footpath and Wrotham Road, which is not formally designated a formal Public 
Footpath but is well used by pedestrians. The submitted drawings indicate that this 
footpath is to be retained after completion of the works, with pedestrian crossing points of 
the two access roads, and should be conditioned to ensure that this pedestrian route is 
maintained and protected during the duration of the construction works and remain 
available in the future.  Details of the pedestrian crossing points, including signage, should 
be submitted for approval and completed prior to the filling station is opened.

5.13 A condition requiring the submission and approval of a Travel Plan prior to opening for the 
filling station staff is recommended.

5.14 Provided the conditions referred to above are included in any consent granted, KCC 
Highways do not raise an objection to the proposal on highway grounds.

Kent County Council Highways and Transportation - Additional/Revised Comments 22 
January 2018

5.15 KCC Highways and Transportation have looked at the latest Addendum to the TA (Rev. C) 
dated 19-01-2018 and found it to be a robust assessment using the revised traffic flow 
figures as requested by Highways England (excluding any allowance for pass-by / diverted 
trips) and the revised geometry to the entry from the A2 Off Slip.  As commented in this 
document, these latest amendments do not make any significant difference to the resulting 
Arcady traffic modelling on the local highway network i.e. Wrotham Road N & S 
approaches.

5.16 As previously recommended, the previous Supplementary TA Revision E dated 01-11-
2017 is acceptable and demonstrates that whilst the traffic flows on the roundabout 
approaches on Wrotham Road N & S are seen to be higher than desirable with the addition 
of the development traffic in the predicted year of 2027 with a maximum RFC of 0.95 in the 
PM Peak, it also shows that without the additional development traffic and without the 
mitigating measures, in 2027 the modelling results are very similar.  Provided the mitigating 

Page 57



measures described and shown in Revision E are implemented there are no reasons to 
recommend refusal on highway grounds.

5.17 The whole of the TA submitted i.e. the original Waterman TA dated 2013 as amended by 
the Supplementary TA dated November 2017 and further amended / added to by the latest 
Addendum dated January 2018 contains an excessive amount of now redundant traffic 
flow and modelling figures which make the flow and understanding of the documents very 
confusing.  It would be preferable that this application should be supported by a fully 
revised and appropriate TA which excludes the restaurant use (now withdrawn), that 
excludes the pass-by / diverted trips (as requested by HE), uses the final roundabout 
geometry, and compares the Arcady modelling for 2017 and 2027 for both the with and 
without development scenarios. 

5.18 Member’s concerns regarding the traffic impact on the Wrotham Road / Coldharbour Road 
roundabout are acknowledged. The original TA + Supplement demonstrated that the 
increase in traffic flows as a result of the proposed development would be between 1.0% 
and 1.4% and therefore not considered to be significant.  This conclusion is accepted but it 
does mean that the impact of the development traffic has not been modelled at this 
roundabout. It is suggested, however, that issues may arise in the future with the capacity 
of the roundabout but as a result in the general increase in traffic rather than specifically as 
a result of the development traffic.

5.19 In conclusion, KCC Highways and Transportation position in not objecting to this 
application is retained subject to conditions requiring the off-site highway works to create a 
left turn lane being completed before occupation, submission and approval for a 
construction management plan, submission and approval of a Servicing Management Plan 
and provision and permanent retention of secure, covered cycle parking facilities.

Kent County Council (Highways Agreements Team) - 4 April 2017

5.20 With regards to the discussions held at your offices on the 9th March 2017 KCC have 
assessed the options for the new road layout for the roundabout and it is believed that the 
existing plans, namely the creation of a left turn only lane separated from the main 
carriageway by an island with associated crossing point is the best option, this will of 
course be subject to the full technical acceptance audit and the required safety audits 
during the detailed design phase.

KCC Rights of Way Officer - 18 April 2016

5.21 The Weald Way which runs adjacent to the development may be affected by the 
application.

5.22 It is important to advise the applicants that a public right of way must not be stopped up, 
diverted, obstructed or the surface disrobed and there must be no encroachment on the 
current width at any time now or in the future.  This includes any building materials or 
waste generated during any of the construction phases.  No furniture or fixture may be 
erected on or across Public Rights of Way without express consent of the Highways 
Authority.

KCC Rights of Way Officer - Additional Comments 18 April 2017

Page 58



5.23 Advises on KCC Highways Boundaries adjacent to the location of the site pointing out that 
the application site is not subject to any public rights of way apart from the route of the long 
distance path ‘The Weald Way’ which at this point runs on the pavement to the existing 
Tollgate Filling Station side of the old Wrotham Road.

GBC Highways Development Management Officer - 1 September 2017

5.24 I note the comments about the existing petrol filling station, but its location is not obvious 
even with signage and the access and egress is convoluted and unattractive. Therefore the 
full uplift of 50% due to the increase in pumps is a reasonable but not necessarily a robust 
approach. However it is also accepted that this 50% uplift includes vehicle movements to 
the Subway fast food outlet, a few residential properties and the Cyclopark, which should 
not have been included, so does result in an overestimate of traffic generation of the 
proposed petrol service station making the analysis more robust. 

5.25 It is suggested that a Service Vehicle/Tanker Management Plan should be conditioned for 
approval prior to opening. Whilst the partial blocking of the HGV fuel route is not 
considered unreasonable, as sufficient space exist for a HGV to pass the tanker. It is noted 
the kiosk has its own dedicated service area, which may cause a short delay to HGV traffic 
whilst the service vehicle reverses into the bay. The full details would be covered by the 
aforementioned Management Plan, which could require a banksman to assist in safe 
manoeuvring if deemed required/appropriate. 

5.26 With regards to swept paths showing access and egress, it is common practice to request 
these as part of a planning permission, but they are not necessarily essential. Much 
depends on what took place at pre-application discussions/submissions with the Highway 
Authorities which Gravesham Council may not have been involved, or it is possible they 
have checked the drawings themselves. Either approach is acceptable. Neither Authority 
has raised any objections with regards to the internal layout and the Planning Authority has 
no grounds to request additional information given the HA and KCC response. Nor will the 
applicant want a layout which will impair the efficiency or safety of the operation of the site 

5.27 With regards to the permissive path across the site, there is a clearly shown a route on the 
drawings submitted, although it may not precisely follow the existing route.

5.28 With regards to the TA (Transport Assessment), this appears to rely on the document 
submitted as part of the 20131018 for a petrol service station and restaurant with a 
supplementary technical note without any detail. Which is totally unacceptable as the base 
data is already 4 years out of date and does not take account of approved and identified 
future development sites. I therefore have to recommend refusal of this application as it 
currently stands.

5.29 Assuming a revised TA is submitted, (showing current, development opening, 5 and 10 
years after opening) and found to be acceptable I would suggest Conditions/Section 106 
Agreement for a service/tanker delivery plan, Highway improvements to the adjacent 
junction(s) as identified post new TA, and an agreement for future funding of waiting 
restrictions on the surrounding streets, should on street lorry parking be identified as an 
issue within three years of the site becoming fully operational.      

GBC Highways Development Management Officer - Revised Comments 22 January 2018

5.30 I refer to the latest addendum to the Traffic Impact Assessment (Rev E) following a 
request from the Highways Agency to consider a particular robust assessment of the 

Page 59



proposed petrol filling station. This has demonstrated that improvements can be made 
to the highway network at the access roundabout to mitigate against the impacts of the 
development, but not resolve current and future issues that are caused by background 
traffic and its growth.

5.31 This latest assessment supersedes must of the earlier work, particularly now that the 
restaurant has been deleted from the scheme. Thus, whilst the early work informs on 
the process that has been followed to reach the end result, it is the January analysis 
that is critical and gives guidance on the highway improvements required to achieve an 
acceptable development. Given the results, I believe both the Highways Agency and 
Kent County Council as Highway Authorities have accepted the development of the 
petrol filling station as viable, given the improvements shown on the submitted drawings 
and I have no reason to disagree.

5.32 It should be noted that the roundabouts to the north and south of the access roundabout 
have only been considered in the earlier assessment work, but given the increase in 
traffic that will result from the petrol filling station its impact is not considered to be 
significant. And does not warrant any highway improvement

5.33 Therefore there are no objections to the proposal, but would suggest a condition that 
requires all highways works to be completed and available to traffic, prior to the opening 
of the petrol filling station.

  
(c) Environmental, Utilities and Services Responses

GBC Regulatory Services (Environmental Protection Comments) - 4 May 2016

5.34 No objections raised but requests that conditions and informatives are imposed relating to 
ventilation, noise, lighting, waste and construction 

GBC Regulatory Services (Contaminated Land) - 13 April 2016

5.35 No objections. Notes that a previous similar application had contamination conditions 
imposed.  The area does not appear to have had previous industrial use but due to 
previous use as a hotel and associated services a watching brief condition is 
recommended.

5.36 The site is over a principal aquifer and SPZ 2 so consultation is recommended with the 
Environment Agency regarding conditions associated with drainage as in a previous 
application on this site.

Environment Agency (EA) - 26 April 2016

5.37 Considers that planning permission could be granted to the proposed development as 
submitted if the EA’s recommended planning conditions are included. Without these 
conditions, the proposed development on this site poses an unacceptable risk to the 
environment and the EA would object to the application.

5.38 The site lies on the Chalk Formation (undifferentiated), which is classified as a principle 
aquifer and lies within an SPZ. Generally Chalk geological formations form one of the most 
productive aquifers in England. This sensitive setting would normally result in an objection 
from us on the grounds of groundwater quality protection if this was a new facility.

Page 60



5.39 However, having regard to representations made on local and strategic need for 
replacement facilities along the A2 the EA would not object to the proposals in this 
instance, but would seek appropriate planning conditions to ensure that best practice 
design and construction is used to implement as full a protection of water resources as 
possible. Specifically conditions to cover the design of the fuel storage and supply 
infrastructure, the drainage and the surface water management, as well as details of 
trafficking routes (in order to protect the underground pipework), unloading and staff 
training for this specific site setting.

5.40 The EA also require specific design details for this site, including observation wells, plinth 
up stands on the tank base and staff training information over and above what has been 
submitted to date. And because of the previous use of the site the EA would require 
standard investigation of any past contamination which may have arisen.

5.41 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 109 states that the planning 
system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing 
both new and existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk 
from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of water pollution.

The finalised drainage layout should be confirmed with the Local Planning Authority further 
to any previously outline designs agreed with us.

5.42 Some of this information may have been submitted with the application but we would ask 
for these conditions to ensure compliance with the approval of any of the said documents 
under a formal planning process.

Kent County Council, as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) - 16 August 2017

5.43 We have reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment/Drainage Strategy submitted in support of 
this application. This document outlines how the surface water generated by these 
proposals should ideally be accommodated and disposed of within the curtilage of the site, 
with the potentially contaminated water from the refuelling/vehicle washing areas being 
directed to the foul sewer. The most recent drainage layout drawing (that we are aware of) 
suggests that the majority of runoff will be disposed of via soakaway.  In the absence of 
any surface water sewers or watercourses in the vicinity, we would suggest that this 
appears to be the most viable site-wide drainage solution, and this should be pursued as 
the primary surface water runoff option (subject to the Environment Agency’s approval).

5.44 At the detailed design stage we would expect to see confirmation of the exact locations of 
the proposed attenuation/infiltration features along with location specific soakage testing to 
demonstrate that the scheme has been appropriately sized and will function as intended. 
Additionally, and in light of the nature of the proposed development and the site’s location 
within a Groundwater Source Protection Zone 2, we would also expect to see evidence of 
the Environment Agency’s approval of the location and nature of any SuDS feature.

5.45 The detailed drainage design should be developed to be fully in accordance with the 
recommendations of the submitted and approved FRA. Specifically, any such scheme 
should:

 Be based on the principles of source control and infiltration alone.
 Be designed to accommodate all rainfall durations and intensities for any event up to 

(and including) the climate-change adjusted critical 100yr storm.

Page 61



 Consider the flow routing and accommodation of any rainfall event that may exceed the 
design parameters.

5.46 We would also expect any infiltration feature to be designed with a half-drain time of less 
than 24 hours (to ensure that any subsequent storm events can be adequately 
accommodated).

5.47 At the detailed design stage, we would also expect to see the drainage system modelled 
using FeH (Flood Estimation Handbook) rainfall data in any appropriate modelling or 
simulation software. Where FeH data is not available, 26.25mm should be manually input 
for the M5-60 value, as per the requirements of our latest drainage and planning policy 
statement (June 2017); the FSR dataset should not be used:

http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/49665/Drainage-and-Planning-policy-
statement.pdf

5.48 Should your Authority be minded to grant permission to this development, we would 
recommend that various planning conditions are imposed.

Southern Water - 28 April 2016

5.49 Has advised of the Southern Water records showing the approximate position of a public 
water distribution main and foul sewer within the site. The exact position of the public water 
main and foul sewer must be determined on site by the applicant before the layout of the 
proposed development is finalised.  

5.50 Southern Water advise:

• No new development, excavation, mounding or tree planting should be carried out 
within 4 metres of the public water main without consent from Southern Water

• No development or new tree planting should be located within 3 metres either side of 
the centreline of the water mains.

• No new soakaways or other water retaining or conveying features should be located 
within 5 metres of a public sewer.

• All other existing infrastructure should be protected during the course of construction 
works.

5.51 It might be possible to divert the public water distribution mains and foul sewer, so long as 
this would result in no unacceptable loss of hydraulic capacity, and the work was carried 
out at the developer's expense to the satisfaction of Southern Water under the relevant 
statutory provisions.

5.52 In  order to  divert/protect  apparatus, Southern  Water  requests that  if  consent  is  
granted,  a condition is attached to the planning permission. 

5.53 There are decommissioned water distribution mains and private communications pipes 
within the site.

5.54 Furthermore, due to changes in legislation that came in to force on 1st October 2011 
regarding the future ownership of sewers it is possible that a sewer now deemed to be 
public could be crossing the above property. Therefore, should any sewer be found during 
construction works, an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its condition, 
the number of properties served, and potential means of access before any further works 
commence on site. 

Page 62

http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/49665/Drainage-and-Planning-policy-statement.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/49665/Drainage-and-Planning-policy-statement.pdf


5.55 Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the public foul and surface 
water sewer to be made by the applicant or developer.  Requests that should this 
application receive planning approval an informative is attached to the consent. 

5.56 It is the responsibility of the developer to make suitable provision for the disposal of surface 
water.  Part H3 of the Building Regulations prioritises the means of surface water disposal 
in the order:

A. Adequate soakaway or infiltration system
B. Water course
C. Where neither of the above is practicable sewer

Southern Water supports this stance and seeks through appropriate Planning Conditions to 
ensure that appropriate means of surface water disposal are proposed for the 
development.  The Council's Building Control officers or technical staff should be asked to 
comment on the adequacy of soakaways to dispose of surface water from the proposed 
development.

5.57 The planning application form makes reference to drainage using Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems (SUDS).  Under current legislation and guidance SUDS rely upon 
facilities which are not adoptable by sewerage undertakers. Therefore, the applicant will 
need to ensure that arrangements exist for the long term maintenance of the SUDS 
facilities. It is critical that the effectiveness of these systems is maintained in perpetuity. 
Good management will avoid flooding from the proposed surface water system, which may 
result in the inundation of the foul sewerage system. Thus, where a SUDS scheme is to be 
implemented, the drainage details submitted to the Local Planning Authority should:

 Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SUDS scheme
 Specify a timetable for implementation
 Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development.

This should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory 
undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout 
its lifetime.

5.58 Land uses such as general hardstanding that may be subject to oil/petrol spillages should 
be drained by means of oil trap gullies or petrol/oil interceptors. The application proposes 
development that may produce a trade effluent.  No trade effluent can be discharged either 
directly or indirectly to any public sewer without the formal consent of Southern Water. 

5.59 The proposed development would lie within a Source Protection Zone around one of 
Southern Water’s critical water supply sources as defined under the Environment Agency’s 
Groundwater Protection Policy and further investigation is required to ensure the protection 
of the public water supply source.  Southern Water will rely on your consultations with the 
Environment Agency in order to protect the public water supply.

Kent Trading Standards, KCC - 8 April 2016

5.60 Kent County Council Trading Standards is the Petroleum Enforcement Authority (PEA) for 
that location, and as such is responsible for approving specific aspects of the fuel and 
drainage installations of a new or revised petrol filling station.  Having viewed the limited 
documents available with the planning application, the overall layout of the site is 

Page 63



satisfactory to allow free movement of vehicles to both the car and HGV forecourt areas, 
and for delivery of fuel and other goods to the site.

5.61 There are some reservations regarding the proposed route of fuel pipework from the offset 
fill point adjacent to the HGV forecourt, as the indicated route is directly underneath the 
HGV traffic route to the left side of the forecourt shop building. Your own document 
granting permission last year states that the applicant must comply with Condition 18 
relating to various aspects of fuel safety related requirements, including how laden road 
tankers will avoid fuel delivery pipework between the pumps and tanks. The same can be 
considered appropriate for the offset fill pipework.

5.62 An application for a Petroleum Storage Certificate in due course, under the Petroleum 
(Consolidation) Regulations 2014 will require full plans regarding the site layout, petroleum 
services, and forecourt drainage.

5.63 KCC Trading Standards as PEA will have no overall objection to this proposal, subject to 
the details above being satisfactorily mitigated and the relevant documents being made 
available.

Kent Trading Standards, KCC - Additional Comments 24 August 2016

5.64 The revised plan still does not address the issue raised by KCC Trading Standards – 
Petroleum Enforcing Authority) and by the Environment Agency regarding the route and 
protection of the underground fuel fill and suction lines from the tanker standing position to 
the underground tanks, and from the tanks to the dispensers on the HGV lanes. There is 
specific mention of the need to protect these pipelines or route them away from heavy 
trafficking, to minimise the risk of damage to the pipelines over time.

Kent Trading Standards, KCC - Further Comments 30 September 2016 

5.65 In principle the details set out by the agent would appear to provide assurance that the 
pipework should be adequately protected from the weight and movement of heavy goods 
vehicles across the HGV lanes. However further liaison will be required as and when the 
site specific ground conditions are confirmed, to ensure that all the fuel pipework is located 
under at least 150mm pea shingle surround, below the minimum 225mm double reinforced 
concrete slab and the sub base material.

Natural England - 13 April 2016

5.66 No comments to make

UK Power Networks - 7 April 2016

5.67 No objections

(d) Conservation and Archaeology

Senior Archaeological Officer, KCC - 25 April 2016

Page 64



5.68 The site lies within an area which has revealed extensive prehistoric and Roman activity, 
including burial sites, such as a Neolithic mortuary enclosure or long barrow about c.300m 
to the south east. Roman rubbish pits have been found on the site itself and trackways 
linking Bronze Age and later activity and settlement sites are known in the vicinity and may 
head through the site.  Although parts of the site are likely to have been disturbed, there is 
potential for archaeology to survive.

5.69 The application is supported by a comprehensive Deskbased Assessment by Archaeology 
South East. Although the DBA does not seem to have been revised or updated for this 
latest application, the data is still valid.  There are no special comments on the report and 
recommend it is used to guide mitigation measures and recommend conditions should be 
placed on any forthcoming consent.

Conservation Officer, GBC - 3 May 2016

5.70 I note that the County Archaeologist has recommended a building recording condition, 
which should be carried out in accordance with the Historic England publication 
“Understanding Historic Buildings A guide to good recording practice”.  Due to the loss of 
the building it is recommended that recording should be at least to Level 3 as set out in the 
above guidance.

5.71 It is unfortunate that there is such limited opportunity for tree planting to the perimeter of 
the site.  The newly formed slope to the east of the site offers the opportunity for 
substantial tree planting, which will help create a positive backdrop to the proposal.  I note 
this is indicated outside the site boundary, but wonder if it can be included for the purpose 
bringing forward landscape planting?

(e) Infrastructure and Community Provision Responses

Kent Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor - 13 April 2016

5.72 The planning application has been considered with regard to Crime Prevention Through 
Environment Design (CPTED matters, in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012 (Section 7 Para 58 & Section 8 Para 69) and the DCLG Planning Practice 
Guidance March 2014 (Design Section – Paras 10 & 11) – Crime Prevention, the Kent 
Design Initiative (KDI) – Design For Crime Prevention document dated April 2013.

5.73 Kent Police have produced a guidance document to enable applicants seeking planning 
consent to address crime prevention and CPTED issues, which can be downloaded from 
the following web link:
http://www/kent/police.uk/advice/designforsecurity/designfor security.html

5.74 As per previous comments for this location, dated 4th December 2013 for planning 
application number 20131018, some of the existing Gravesend and Dartford filling stations 
located close to the A2 are amongst some of County’s highest locations for theft of fuel 
(making off without payment) from forecourts.

5.75 Given the proposed location of the former Tollgate Hotel site and its proximity to the main 
A2, it is essential that should this planning application proceed, the developer meet with us 
to discuss security at the site and that this should be included as a planning condition.  It 
was pleasing to note Condition 35 of planning application number 20131018 regarding 
CPTED and crime prevention included within this application (20160215) as part of 
Appendix 1.

Page 65

http://www/kent/police.uk/advice/designforsecurity/designfor%20security.html


5.76 With this in mind it is recommend that Condition 35 also be applied to this application 
(20160215) in order to ensure CPTED and crime prevention measures are incorporated 
within the design, should the application proceed.

5.77 Previous comments (edited) below, remain valid for this application:

Although the following security items may form part of the final planning detail, we need the 
developer to contact us in order to seek reassurance that the developer has considered:

• CCTV – adequate CCTV including Automated Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) on 
the Entrance and exit roads.

• CCTV – to cover all fuel pumps (including the HGV pumps). Fuel pumps that are very 
close to the exit road may suffer more from fuel theft given that they will not be easily 
observed from the shop.  A dedicated CCTV camera, ideally with ANPR should be 
installed to cover the exit road from the fuel pumps.

• CCTV coverage should also cover the BP shop (internal and external).
• ATM – we note that there appears to be no bollards in front of the main BP Connect 

shop for this application, whereas the previous applications show a row of bollards 
which at that time appeared to cease where the ground level changes and  bank of 
rock filled gabions appears to run in front of the ATM. Although the ground level 
change may reduce the risk of ram raid attack we would recommend that a row of 
bollards be installed and at least two more anti ram raid bollards (to PAS 68/69 
standard) are installed to either side of the proposed ATM.  It is essential the ATM (and 
any additional ATMs) is installed in accordance with the ATM Security Working Group 
(ATMSWG) guidelines. A dedicated CCTV camera should also cover the ATM.

• Shop Layout – the final layout of the shop needs to be discussed with us to ensure that 
the opportunities for crime and shoplifting are reduced. The refuse area should be 
lockable and covered by CCTV.

• Lighting – the final lighting plan needs to ensure that the site is well lit, including the 
fuel pumps, under canopy areas and car parks and is designed in conjunction with any 
CCTV camera usage.

• Landscaping – trees and shrubs should be well pruned so that general and CCTV 
surveillance is not compromised.

• All buildings should be alarmed – particularly those not operating 24 hours.

(f) Ward Councillors

Cllr Sara Langdale - 25 August 2017

5.78 Objection is on highway grounds as customers will come from the A2 and the local area.  
Traffic has increased since the previous application was considered by the Board and 
previous traffic modelling and studies are out of date.  The application should not be 
considered in isolation

(g) Others

5.79 No consultation responses were received from GBC Economic Development, Kent Fire 
and Rescue Service, KCC Planning Applications Group, KCC Cycling Transport Planner, 
or from HS1 

Page 66



Publicity and Representations

Original Publicity

5.80 This planning application was originally publicised by individual letters to local residents in 
the neighbourhood and by a statutory notice on the site and in a local newspaper as being 
a major development proposal.

5.81 The original final expiry date for representations was 11 May 2016.  

Objections

5.82 A total of 954 representations were originally received objecting to the development 
including those that signed a circular letter or sent in individual letters of objection.  It 
should be noted that some objectors may have been submitted objections in different 
forms and made multiple objections.  

5.83 Three separate circular letters were received objecting to the development as well as 
individual responses.  It is apparent that the circular letters have been generated by the 
owners of the Tollgate Service Station.

Circular Letter No 1

5.84 The first and main circular letter was signed by 703 persons or households commenting:

 Objection to the development
 There is no need for another petrol station in the local area as the existing site already 

caters for the A2 and the local area
 The environment will be affected with more litter, noise and traffic congestion
 Road safety conflicts for cyclists and pedestrians at the roundabout
 It will impact on the Green Belt and local surroundings
 Do not want the development to go ahead
 Strongly objects

5.85 Additional comments from objectors on some of the circular letters included:

 There will be a loss of jobs for those working in Tollgate Service Station and Subway
 Safety and welfare for people are important
 The existing staff at Tollgate Service Station are helpful and nice
 It appears that public opinion does not count; public opinion should be considered 

carefully
 The public will never give up fighting this case
 What has changed since the last rejection 
 More practical to reopen the building as a hotel and lorry park
 No need for more petrol stations as there is the Tollgate and Morrison’s within 500 

yards and another 3 within a mile radius
 There is enough traffic anyway; traffic control will be horrendous
 Noise and safety for cyclists that use the Cyclopark
 No more fuel stations; use the ground wisely
 Make it Asda; it’s cheaper

Circular Letter No 2

Page 67



5.86 The second circular letter was signed by 213 persons or households commenting:

 Objection to the development
 We use the Linear Park and Cyclopark and this will impact on the Green Belt and 

destroy the pleasant use of the Parks
 There is already enough development and where is the need for another filling station
 The environment will be affected; more litter more noise
 Strongly objects

5.87 Additional comments from objectors on some of the circular letters include:

 The site should be used for a hotel
 Shell is better than BP
 Use the site as a truck park

Circular Letter No 3

5.88 The third circular letter has been signed by 13 persons or households commenting:

 Objects to the development
 Concerned about increase in noise and litter to the local area and impact on the 

environment
 There are already vehicles parking on local roads nearby (Old Watling street, Templar 

Drive and Wrotham Road) using the current facilities and this would increase if this 
went ahead

 More litter, more noise
 The A2 was moved away from housing and residents to give a better quality of life and 

why are you taking this away
 There are 24 parking spaces on the site for BP which would be filled and making it 

extremely busy
 There would be an effect on road safety on an already congested roundabout
 Lorries moving on to a roundabout from a standing start with fast flowing traffic would 

be dangerous
 There will be hazards and accidents for pedestrians
 Many homes will have their view of the landscape changed dramatically
 The Green Belt will be encroached
 The feel of the Park/Cyclopark will be changed
 There will be hazards for children, cyclists and dog walkers and horse riders
 There will be a problem of HGV’s as experienced at Esso Cobham which will be an 

eyesore and encroach on the Green Belt
 There are already enough petrol stations in Gravesend
 There are more negative points than positive points so why does the Council appear to 

want this development

5.89 Additional comments from objectors on some of the circular letters include:

 Affect on property values
 Significant risk of traffic accidents
 The hotel should be made a listed building in view of its historical background
 Put back petrol station coast bound at Cobham; why has this site been closed and left 

derelict
 Development is in direct view of property
 Noise and air pollution from this proposal and the existing garage

Page 68



 It will create large tailbacks on the coast bound A2; lorry drivers will stop here rather 
than Farthing Corner services on the M2

 Wrong to put what will be a lorry park next to an area used by small children with 
bicycles

Individual Letters

5.90 There were an additional 25 individual letters and emails received objecting to the 
development.  The responses may be summarised as:

 Additional fuel stations are not needed
 There is already an existing fuel station serving the A2 and local traffic which is 

perfectly good enough
 The existing petrol station has a large shop and food counter to cater for travellers 

needs
 There are three stations within 5 minutes of each other – Tollgate Services, Morrison’s 

and Sainsbury’s
 The development will force closure of the Shell Garage at Tollgate Services which has 

served the community of Gravesend and thousands of motorists using the A2 everyday 
meaning an end to peoples livelihoods

 The proposed site is within the Green Belt; the development will impact on the Green 
Belt and the landscape

 Road safety concerns and increased traffic; more traffic congestion and delays
 The development would result in chaos at the entrance and exit
 In terms of road safety it would be better if the site was not developed at all
 Hazards for pedestrians using the Cyclopark for running, walking and exercising dogs
 The site will also accommodate a lorry park and there are concerns that this will 

become a public toilet
 Local residents should have a say as to what gets built around them
 Local residents have previously objected to the planning application for BP/McDonalds
 Rejection of the previous application has already cost the taxpayer
 Increased noise, litter, fuel emissions, pollution and lighting impacting on the 

environment
 Impact from 24 hour operation
 The site would be best developed for a community project for children of a young age 

such as a small animal farm, picnic area and play area
 The site is a gateway to the town
 The building should be restored to its former beauty
 The building should be used as a tourist shop
 The site should be used for an old peoples home or a half-way house for migrants
 When the A2 was moved and the hotel given over to temporary offices it was stated 

that the site would be returned to its original use after construction was completed
 The A2 was moved away from housing and residents to give a better quality of life and 

why are you taking this away
 Views from the local area have already been blighted by the A2 and the Channel 

Tunnel Rail Link
 Although part of the Tollgate Hotel site is unsightly it is of low elevation
 The proposal will impact on views and the landscape because of excessive lighting and 

signage
 The area has been nicely landscaped as a result of the relocation of the A2 slip roads
 The development will result in spillage of HGV’s similar to that happening at the Esso 

station at Cobham and constant flow of commercial and foreign vehicles

Page 69



 KCC and partners offer support and resources to the Cyclopark to promote healthy 
living and this will change as a result of this commercial proposal; development is not 
compatible with the healthy lifestyle promoted by the Cyclopark

 The Tollgate site will require major work in order to provide both road and pedestrian 
safety to an already congested roundabout permitting access to and from the new 
proposal

 The current submitted plans indicate a "future development site" which should not be a 
further attempt by either McDonalds or indeed another fast food chain to submit their 
planning application on this vacant site.

 Impact on the value of property 

Letters of Support

5.91 There are 3 letters of support on the basis that: 

 The existing Tollgate Service Station is within a residential area
 The current petrol filling station attracts anti-social behaviour, loud cars, speeding 

motorists, HGV’s, parking and rubbish outside of people’s properties
 Foreign vehicles are seen going the wrong way around the roundabout
 The new proposal is closer to the A2 and should therefore reduce traffic flows in 

Gravesend and HGV’s outside the entrance to the Cyclopark
 The new proposal will make it safer for children and cyclists who want to use the 

Cyclopark
 It will reduce the amount of litter on the road and verge
 No objection but previous proposals included a McDonalds which did object to for 

reasons of rubbish and traffic congestion in an area which already struggles at peak 
times and concerned that the development may be hiding future development plans 
which are not acceptable to local residents.

Revised Publicity

5.92 Further publicity was more recently given in August 2017 to the revised plans (submitted 
July 2016), the supporting information and documents (July 2016 and February 2017 
including the revised transport technical note (Odyssey Markides) and the fact that the red 
line boundary was different in the revised plans from that originally submitted (as it now 
includes the access areas and verges outside of the current confines of the site) including 
the strip of land west of the built part of the site up to the A227 Wrotham Road.

5.93 The Board is advised that national guidance in the NPPG advises on whether further 
consultation is necessary after an application is amended pointing out that:

Where an application has been amended it is up to the local planning authority to decide 
whether further publicity and consultation is necessary. In deciding whether this is 
necessary the following considerations may be relevant:
 were objections or reservations raised in the original consultation stage substantial 

and, in the view of the local planning authority, enough to justify further publicity?
 are the proposed changes significant?
 did earlier views cover the issues raised by the proposed changes?
 are the issues raised by the proposed changes likely to be of concern to parties not 

previously notified?

Page 70



Where the Local Planning Authority has decided that re-consultation is necessary, it is 
open to them to set the timeframe for responses, balancing the need for consultees to be 
given time to consider the issue that is being re-consulted upon and respond against the 
need for efficient decision making.

Paragraph: 026 Reference ID: 15-026-20140306; Revision date: 06 03 2014

5.94 Although the amendments made were not necessarily significant and simply clarified and 
amplified a number of matters in view of the substantial number of objections to the original 
and now withdrawn application and to the current application when it was originally 
submitted it was considered appropriate to give further publicity in this particular case. 

5.95 The final expiry date for any further responses was 1 September 2017
Objections

5.96 A total of 49 representations were received objecting to the development including those 
that signed a circular letter or sent in individual letters of objection.  Some of these 
objectors may have also sent in objections in response to the original publicity given to the 
application.

Circular Letter

5.97 39 circular letters were received specifically objecting to the development although 2 also 
in addition related to the earlier withdrawn application (20131018) and commenting:

 Concerned at road safety of the roundabout where there have been several accidents 
involving HGV’s.

 There is no need for another petrol station; there is sufficient locally.
 The environment will be affected by more noise, lighting and traffic congestion.
 With the new hotel, proposed commercial outlets and 400-600 new homes potentially 

this could bring 1000 vehicles to the area.

5.98 Additional comments made in 4 of the circular letters were:

 The Hotel building should be listed
 Local roads are failing due to weight and volume of HGV’s
 No need for more congestion at the roundabout

Individual Letters

5.99 10 individual objections received with the following comments:

Principle of the Development/Need/Other Uses More Appropriate

 No need when there is another garage when one is so close and also another at 
Morrison’s; similar facilities locally

 The site could be used for other uses beneficial to local people and provided a 
landmark.

 Impact on the local environment
 Understands the need for housing but not for a petrol station
 Impact on an independent and thriving local business serving the local community
 The site could be used as small retail outlet centre.

Green Belt Impact 

Page 71



 Green Belt is slowly being diminished; any development on the Green Belt is 
unacceptable.

Environmental Impact

 The environment will be affected with the new Travelodge and houses in the same 
area.

 There will be more noise and litter.
 Concerned at scope of building works taking place locally
 Developments will bring chaos to what was a quiet area.
 Impact from building work including dirt and dust
 Concern at illuminated signage
 Property will be blighted/affected by the development and signage.
 The Cyclopark promotes health and well-being to adults and children but this could be 

at odds with that.

Traffic Impacts

 Increase in HGV’s and accidents; traffic congestion
 The Lower Thames Crossing should ease traffic congestion and therefore the new 

station should be unnecessary.
 Concern at additional parking already taking place locally and this will increase.

Other Comments 

 There have been no amendments to the application and objections still stand.

Support

5.100 There were 2 responses/representations in support commenting

 Nuisance, traffic and pollution is caused by the existing Tollgate Service Station.
 These problems will reduce with a new station next to the A2.

5.101 Although subsequent to the revised plans and additional documentation there has been 
received an additional Transport Assessment (TA) and a further transport supplementary 
even to that document no additional neighbour publicity has subsequently been given 
particularly because of the very technical nature of the TA. Those documents have been 
made publicly available and their attention has been drawn to the chief objector to the 
development though their planning agents but they have not responded or commented on 
those documents.

6. Planning Analysis and Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

Introduction and the Key Planning Considerations

6.1 The detailed planning background to the redevelopment of this site and the determination 
on two separate occasions by the Board of the separate planning application that was 
submitted by the same applicants (ref 20131018) for the redevelopment of the whole site 
for both a Petrol Filling Station and McDonalds Restaurant and drive thru including the fact 
that following the decisions to grant planning permission in January 2014 and July 2015 as 
a result of Judicial Review claims those decisions to grant permission have been quashed 

Page 72



are matters that the Board will need to consider and take into account.   This is set out in 
detail in an earlier section of this report (paragraphs 2.7-2.14)

6.2 However while this background is relevant and is a material consideration the current 
planning application for a petrol filling station only on part of the application site stands to 
be determined on its own individual merits and on the basis of the key considerations and 
planning issues as set out in the following paragraph.  The application therefore needs to 
be considered entirely afresh and objectively having regard to all the material planning 
considerations including the weight of public opposition against the proposals.

6.3 The key issues and considerations in the assessment and evaluation of this current 
planning application for the re-development of part of the former Tollgate hotel site, having 
regard to the adopted development plan, national planning advice and guidance and all 
other material planning considerations including the comments and responses from 
statutory and discretionary consultees and from local residents responding to the extensive 
publicity given to the planning application, are:

• The principle of the development
• The impact of the development with regard to Green Belt policy
• The visual impact of the development and amenity impacts on any nearby residential 

properties
• Layout and Design Issues
• Highway impacts, access and parking
• Any other material considerations

The Principle of the Development 

Planning Policy Allocation 

6.4 As a starting point in the determination of this planning application consideration needs to 
be given as to whether the uses as proposed namely as a petrol filling station with a small 
retail element in the form of a sales building are appropriate to this particular location and 
are policy compliant.

6.5 The site itself is within a Green Belt area (and the Green Belt issues are examined in the 
next section of this report, at paragraphs 6.33-6.58) and the site is just beyond the edge of 
the urban area and in the rural area but importantly it sits alongside the new line of the A2 
trunk road (adjacent to the east or coast bound slip from the A227) and the Tollgate has 
previously performed a function of providing road side facilities (hotel, restaurant etc.) to 
the old line of the A2 when the site was on the south side of the A2 and accessed from the 
western (London) bound slip  

6.6 The site is not notated specifically in the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy for the uses as 
proposed and it is not an allocated site.  It was identified as a site that might be appropriate 
for a petrol filling station in the Gravesham Strategic Land Availability Assessment 
(October 2012).

6.7 Policy T12 (Facilities related to the A2 Trunk Road) of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review which had previously been a consideration when the earlier comprehensive 
application - petrol filling station and restaurant (20131018) - was originally reported to the 
Board in 2014 and which indicated that new or expanded facilities in the Green Belt will be 
resisted but subject to criteria for the development of services in the urban area, namely 
that they should be well related to an existing A2 junction, and minimise any impact on 
adjacent development, is no longer a saved policy and therefore is not a material 

Page 73



consideration in the determination of this current planning application for a standalone 
petrol filing station only.

Provision/Need for Roadside Services 

6.8 The applicants indicated in the original (Waterman) Transport Assessment (TA) that still 
accompanies this particular planning application that the development would accord with 
the Government advice in DfT Circular 02/13: The Strategic Road Network and the 
Delivery of Sustainable Development, September 2013 and that the development will meet 
the needs for motorists on this important route where there has been a loss of services in 
recent year indicating that the development is for a replacement facility and should not be 
viewed as a brand new facility.

6.9 They point out that although the preference is for on line services (i.e. between junctions) 
rather than off the trunk road the site is located closer to the A2 than the current location 
and would be expected to have a marginal reduction in vehicle miles as a result of location 
with easier access and fewer junctions to navigate from the A2 than the existing Tollgate 
Service site.  However the TA incorrectly suggests that the existing signed service station 
(Tollgate Service Station) would close if this proposed development were granted.

6.10 The applicants Planning, Design and Access Statement indicates that the site represents 
an ideal location for the service area

6.11 There is a reasonable weight of argument that suggests that the use of the site as 
proposed would be appropriate to serve the needs of road users and particularly traffic 
using the adjoining A2 trunk road.  It should be noted the site had in the past similarly 
catered for the needs of travellers on the A2 and was effectively a service area providing 
hotel/restaurant facilities.

Need for Petrol Filling Station/Impact on Existing Businesses/Competition 

6.12 Alongside the issue of the provision of services for motorists using the trunk road is the 
issue of the need for the development of an additional petrol filling station.  Indeed a 
significant number of the ‘neighbour’ type objections to the development question the need 
for the development suggesting that there are already enough petrol filling stations in the 
locality and that the development will impact on existing businesses and notably the 
existing Tollgate Service Station. 

6.13 It should be recognised that there used to be a petrol filling station (Turnpike Garage) until 
about 2006 on land opposite the Tollgate Hotel/Motel site located on the south side of the 
old A2 but that site was encompassed into the realigned trunk road.  That site was also a 
Green Belt site.

6.14 A number of other petrol filing stations/service areas have closed in recent years along the 
A2 trunk road including Kings Café on the south side of the A2 to the east of the 
application site, Cobham Service station north further to the east which offered a petrol 
filling station and a restaurant (before 2012) and the petrol filling station at Swanscombe.    

6.15 Competition between businesses or diversion of trade is not a material planning 
consideration.  Government policy seeks to positively promote competition between 
retailers and enhanced consumer choice.   

6.16 The argument for need cannot, in any case, be analysed in any detail as the Borough 
Council does not have data on current petrol station usage and demand across the 
Borough.  Although it might be regarded as a material planning consideration it is 

Page 74



considered that no significant weight can be apportioned to the argument of need in this 
case.

6.17 The applicants Planning Design and Access Statement indicates that on the question of 
need while there is no requirement to show need it will nevertheless meet important needs 
of the A2, replacing services lost with the improvements to the trunk road.

6.18 In the GBC Planning Policy Manager’s consultation response it is stated that with the loss 
of Cobham South Services, there remains a case for new petrol station provision on this 
section of the A2, for which this is a suitable site, subject to other relevant issues and tests.

Retail Development/Use

6.19 In respect of retail development policy the size of the retail element of the development is 
very small with an internal floor area of approx. 176m² and is ancillary to the specific use of 
the site for the dispensing and sale of petrol and other vehicle fuels.  The BP Connect 
building will also include toilets and storage

6.20 The sales building is well below the threshold for the applicants to be required to undertake 
an impact assessment. The retail element, due to its size, is very small and retail 
assessment at this scale would not be meaningful in an assessment of need for the 
development.  It is not regarded as a main town centre use and therefore would not require 
a sequential appraisal to be undertaken.

Hotel Need/Use

6.21 A significant number of the local ‘neighbour’ objections suggest that the site should be 
retained in hotel use and that there is demand for additional hotel use locally.  

6.22 Whilst the provision of hotel facilities on the site might well be a satisfactory alternative use 
of the site the development cannot be determined on the basis on what might be a 
preferable type of development if there is not necessarily a prospect of that development 
materialising.  The site had apparently been marketed for a hotel type use but it would 
appear without any offers coming forward at the time.

6.23 Smiths Gore who were appointed by Highways England (then the Highways Agency) to 
market the property back in 2011 on an open basis provided information to the Borough 
Council on the marketing of the site when the application was originally considered in 
2014.  They advised at the time:

The property was advertised in the Estate Gazette in addition to website advertising and 
the erection of a large For Sale board visible from the A2.  The property was not 
specifically marketed for roadside service redevelopment and applicants approached the 
site in a variety of ways.  A number of viewing days were held at which time interested 
parties were able to inspect the site.   Given the level of interest, best bids were requested 
and all registered applicants received prior notice of this which resulted in 7 bids being 
submitted.  The Highways Agency selected BP as they submitted the highest offer for the 
site, subject to planning.   There was no prior agreement with BP in relation to the sale and 
purchase of the Tollgate Hotel site and that BP has preferred bidder status only following 
the conclusion of open market competition.

6.24 The site was also advertised in Locate in Kent which is Kent and Medway’s Investment 
Agency. The description in the advertising on the Locate in Kent was:

Page 75



The former Tollgate Hotel was purchased by The Secretary of State for Transport to allow 
the construction of the realigned and widened A2 as part of the A2 (Pepperhill to Cobham 
Widening) scheme. Access to the site is via Tollgate Junction (A227 Gravesend to 
Meopham road). The site covers 2.26 acres and has three groups of buildings – one built 
in the 1930s and the remaining two in the 1960s. All buildings would benefit from a 
significant programme of modernisation, or demolished to make way for a new hotel 
complex or alternative commercial use subject to the usual consents. 

Excellent location alongside the A2. Confirmation awaited from the Highways Agency re. 
future disposal. Planning permission granted January 2010 for Cyclopark Kent – cycling 
activity park led by Kent County Council - on adjacent land to the south of the site. High 
Speed international and domestic services available from Ebbsfleet Station – 1.5 miles.

6.25 A hotel development (reference 20141167) in close proximity to the application site at the 
land adjacent to the Toby Carvery in Coldharbour Road and being for the Travelodge 
franchise has recently been completed and being for a four storey 60 bed budget type 
hotel.  

6.26 There have been no other applications or enquiries in the locality for hotel development 
and the options for utilising the Tollgate for hotel development have not been put forward 
explicitly in policy.

Open Space Use

6.27 Whilst the suggestions in some of the objections to the development that the site should be 
used as an extension to the A2 activity park to be used for additional open space may have 
some appeal such a proposal would lack any commercial reality.  As the marketing 
information indicates the owners would be looking for best value from the site in 
commercial terms and accept the highest bids such that the use of the site for open space 
would not be commercially realistic.  

6.28 Effectively the application has to be treated on its own merits having regard to the 
development plan and all other material planning considerations and not what might be 
perhaps regarded as more preferable or desirable uses for the site.  It would also not be 
appropriate to reject the proposals on prematurity grounds on the basis that consideration 
ought to be given to other uses of the site, or that demand for such uses might emerge in 
the future (as advised in the NPPG).

Other Uses

6.29 Various other uses are suggested in the representations from local residents as being a 
more appropriate use of the site including for housing, tourist facilities, a lorry park and 
retail development 

6.30 The application proposals have to be judged on its merits in relation to the development 
plan and all other material considerations and not on the basis of what might or might not 
be preferable alternative uses for the application site.

Conclusions 

6.31 The NPPF indicates that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
highlights the Government’s commitment to building a strong, competitive economy and 
that planning should not act as an impediment to sustainable growth (paragraphs 18 and 
19 of the NPPF), albeit that the presumption in favour would not apply where adverse 
impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits or specific policies 

Page 76



(such as Green Belt policy) means development should be restricted (paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF).

6.32 In taking into account all of these issues on balance it is considered that the use as 
proposed as a petrol filling station and for roadside services adjacent to the A2 trunk road 
can be supported and there are no overriding planning policy reasons for refusal but 
subject to the Green Belt tests and any other material considerations.

 

The impact of the development with regard to Green Belt Policy

6.33 A principal consideration in determining this application is whether the proposal is 
inappropriate development or not within the Green Belt.  The site is shown in the adopted 
Local Plan Core Strategy Policies Map as being within the Metropolitan Green Belt and 
outside of any settlement and beyond the urban area of Gravesend.  The Green Belt 
notation in relation to this site has been in existence since 1967.  Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy policy CS02: Scale and Distribution of Development indicates that 
development in the Green Belt (outside of settlements) will be supported where it is 
compatible with national policies for protecting the Green Belt and policies in the Core 
Strategy.

6.34 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s national 
planning policy approach to development in the Green Belt in paragraphs 79 to 92 and the 
earlier section of this report (Section 5: Development Plan Policies and other Material 
Planning Considerations) sets out in detail the relevant guidance.

6.35  Central concepts within the Framework are:

• That the essential characteristic of the Green Belt is its openness and permanence; 
• That ‘inappropriate’ development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and 

should not be approved except in very special circumstances;
• That ‘very special circumstances’ will only exist unless the potential harm by reason 

of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.

6.36 Any development in the Green Belt is inappropriate unless it falls within one of the 
exceptions set out in the closed lists contained in paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF.  
Paragraph 89 sets out in six bullet points exceptions to the construction of new buildings as 
inappropriate in the Green Belt, while paragraph 90 indicates that certain other forms of 
development are also not inappropriate in Green Belt provided they preserve the openness 
of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land in Green Belt: 
Paragraph 90 lists five different categories including local transport infrastructure although 
it considered that the development in this application for redevelopment of the Tollgate 
hotel would not fall into this category of development under paragraph 90, which is 
probably intended to allow such developments as road widening schemes or perhaps park 
and ride schemes within the Green Belt.

  
6.37 On the other hand one of the six exceptions listed in Paragraph 89 of the NPPF is the 

partial or complete redevelopment of a previously developed site (commonly known 
as ‘brownfield land’) whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings) but subject to not having a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt 
and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development.

6.38 A further exception listed under paragraph 89 is the replacement of a building, provided the 
new building is in the same use and not materially larger than the one it replaces.  The 

Page 77



development as proposed in this case would be replacing a number of existing buildings as 
opposed to a singular building and in any event the new buildings are not in the same use.

6.39 It is considered that the development is redevelopment of a brownfield site or previously 
developed site for the purposes of paragraph 89, and the tests are whether the 
development would impact on openness of the Green Belt or the purpose of including land 
within it.  Subject to these tests the proposal could be considered as not contrary to the 
development plan or NPPF in respect of Green Belt policy.

6.40 The further considerations are therefore whether the development as proposed would have 
a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land 
within it than the existing development on the site.  It is therefore necessary to consider the 
scale of development that currently exists on the site in comparison with the application 
proposals.

6.41 There is no specific definition of "openness" in the NPPF, and the concept of what is 
considered as openness has only really emerged from case law (such as the case of 
Timmins and Anor v Gedling Borough Council [2014]).  Effectively, ‘openness’ is 
epitomised by the absence of built development (i.e. land that is not built on) and it follows 
therefore that any new built development is likely to have an adverse impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt, but whether that impact is greater or lesser on sites where 
there is already built development will be dependent on an assessment on a case by case 
basis.  It is a different concept to “visual impact”. Although openness may be considered in 
a visual sense, the visual impact of a development in the Green Belt may be harmful 
through the siting, design and materials used.  The presence of landscaping or screening 
may serve to mitigate the visual impact of a development including built development but 
there might still be an impact on openness. 

6.42 The scale of the proposed development on the site in respect of footprint, floor space and 
building volume compared to the previous or extant use of the site as a hotel/restaurant 
and other facilities is therefore a relevant consideration in determining the impact of the 
proposal on the openness of the Green Belt.

6.43 The applicant’s submission provides details of floor areas for the proposed buildings for the 
petrol filling station site (shop building and forecourt canopies) and surfaced areas 
compared with the footprint, surfaced areas and floor areas in the original Planning Design 
and Access Statement.  This was subsequently updated in revised plans and existing and 
proposed built area and volume schedule submitted in July 2016 to show full comparisons 
of existing and proposed development for buildings, landscaping areas, hardstandings as 
well as bulk volumes.

6.44 As indicated elsewhere within this report the proposals for the petrol filling station are for 
redevelopment on a part of the site and being the western part on an area shown in the red 
line plan (development boundary) as being 0.92 hectares which includes additional 
highway land beyond the current confines of the former Tollgate hotel site and with the 
remainder of the site (0.41 hectares) shown as a future development site but with the 
existing built development associated with the hotel on that part of the site demolished.  
Nevertheless it is necessary in the evaluation of existing and proposed built development 
to take that part of the site into account as well as the intention to remove all the hotel 
buildings.

6.45 In respect of the red line site of the petrol filling station the existing hotel buildings by area 
(footprint) are indicated as being 1047.7m² with additional canopies of 95.5m² giving a total 
of 1142.2m².  The footprint of the BP Connect sales building being the main building on the 
site as proposed is 441.7m², thus only 39% of the existing total footprint.  It is 

Page 78



acknowledged however that the petrol filling station canopies could also potentially be 
considered as built footprint (but which then have hardstandings underneath) which 
increases the perceived built footprint on the site to 1078.8m² but this is still marginally 
below the existing overall built footprint.

6.46 It should be noted that there is additional built footprint on the remainder of the hotel site of 
888.5m² and in the current scheme all of this built footprint will be demolished with no 
additional development.  Taken as a development on the whole site the proposed built 
footprint (canopies and building) is only just over 50% in comparison to the existing.

6.47 On that basis it is reasonable to conclude that the scale of the development as proposed 
would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and arguably less of 
an impact than the existing development on the site and an overall a reduction in built 
development on the site.

6.48 The existing hotel includes two storey buildings in the form of two connecting wings or 
blocks of hotel rooms on the north and eastern sides of the site and the main 
hotel/restaurant building has a central two storey element.  In the proposed scheme there 
are no two storey buildings with the BP Connect building only just over 4m in height with 
the canopies being a height of up to 6.5m. (Note: Average height of a two storey house is 
7.05m).  

6.49 The applicants have included figures for the volume of development existing and proposed 
on the application site which indicates existing building bulk volumes of 5229.9 cu. m. for 
the hotel (and not including the hotel buildings on the ‘future development site’) and bulk 
volume of proposed development (including underground tanks) of 2832.7 cu. m. thus 
significantly less than the existing building volumes.  In overall volume and built form the 
development as proposed would not have a greater impact.

6.50 In addition to new built form openness can be harmed and impacted upon (among other 
things) by external storage, extensive hardstandings, car parking, circulation routes and 
boundary walls or fencing.  

6.51 In terms of hardstandings (including those under canopies) for the petrol filling station 
development site the existing hardstanding area for the hotel is indicated as being 
4425.2m² (or 5968.4m² for the whole site) whereas the hardstanding area for the proposed 
petrol filling station is 5782.4m² thus some 30% greater but if the whole site is taken into 
account with no development coming forward then the amount of hardstanding (access, 
circulation, parking areas, footways etc.) would amount to less overall.

6.52 It is acknowledged that in comparison to the existing site the landscaped areas as 
proposed compared to the existing site will see a reduction overall.  The nature of the 
development is such that it is not possible to increase the areas of landscaping (albeit that 
this was considered and requested) but with a new development this does allow scope to 
introduce new landscaping to enhance the site and particularly around the perimeter of the 
site.

6.53 It is an important consideration that the development does not extend beyond the current 
confines of the site into any open land particularly to the east of the site.

6.54 It should be noted from the planning history section of this report that notwithstanding 
Green Belt policy that additional development had been permitted to extend the Tollgate 
hotel facilities on this site (in 1994 and 2002) being land beyond the current confines of the 
site and on land where the current A2 trunk road is located but which at the time was a 
larger curtilage of the hotel.  Such schemes were not implemented but potentially would 

Page 79



have resulted in more extensive built development on the site than currently exists.  The 
fact that the Tollgate site has effectively contracted since the new line of the A2 was 
constructed has arguably had a reduction in the impact on the openness of the Green Belt 
and where the old line of the A2 was originally located to the north of the Tollgate site (and 
which is also within the Green Belt) has been converted to a linear park and green space, 
such that there has been a net loss overall in terms of built development within the Green 
Belt.

6.55 It should also be noted that a consideration is not just the degree of impact on openness 
but also in the context of including land within the Green Belt.  Consideration is therefore 
given to the five purposes of Green Belts as set out in paragraph 80 of the NPPF which in 
this context include checking the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas, assisting in 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, and assisting in urban regeneration, by 
encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land.  As indicated earlier the 
development is not spreading beyond the confines of the site and the site so long as Green 
Belt policy has existed has always been developed so that arguably the development is 
meeting the test of not conflicting with the purposes of including land within the Green Belt.  
It is not encroaching any more than as existing into the countryside and neither does it 
result in extending the built up area into the countryside.  The site is effectively constrained 
from expanding (other than on to open land to the east) by the new line of the A2 to the 
south and beyond that the line of the railway (High Speed 1) or highway and pedestrian 
routes to the north and west. 

6.56 It is therefore considered that the development would neither have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt or on the purpose of including land within it than the existing 
development.

6.57 As the development can be considered as falling within the exceptions within paragraph 89 
of the NPPF it is therefore not necessary to consider and weigh in the balance very special 
circumstances under paragraph 88 of the NPPF.

6.58 Moreover, having regard to the previous authorised uses of the site as a roadside hotel, 
restaurant, conference facilities and the tests in the NPPF in relation to the Green Belt, and 
whilst acknowledging that the proposed uses are not the same, albeit that they would 
perform the same function as being roadside facilities principally catering for trunk road 
users, it is not considered that the proposed application would constitute a departure from 
the adopted development plan.

Visual Impact and Local Impact

6.59 A key concern identified by a number of the objectors is that the development will be 
visually unattractive on this site which is considered to be a gateway into the urban area.  
There are also concerns expressed about the height of the development.

6.60 It should be noted that the existing buildings on the site are principally all two storey 
whereas the BP Connect sales building is single storey with a flat roof and with a built 
height of just 4.2m.  It is only the forecourt canopies that have any real significance in 
height at 6-6.5m above ground level although these are standard height canopies for a 
typical petrol filling station.

6.61 The proposals however involve the significant lowering of the site to reduce the levels 
across the site.  On the eastern side of the site the proposal will lower the site by as much 
as 4m.

Page 80



6.62 It is considered that the scale of development would integrate reasonably well into the 
site’s surroundings.  Again the point is made that until the moving of the route of the A2 to 
the south of the Tollgate Hotel site there was a petrol station opposite the Tollgate site and 
such development has therefore been considered as appropriate in visual terms in this 
location.

6.63 It is not considered that the development would have any material impact on residential 
amenity in terms of loss of amenity (on living conditions) and outlook as the nearest 
residential dwellings are some 60m from the boundary of the site.

6.64 It is acknowledged that there are some likely impacts from the proposals in terms of noise, 
lighting, signage, litter, fumes etc. that would be synonymous with this type of 
development.  There would have been some similar impacts when the site was last 
operating and as a matter of fact not just as a hotel but also for functions, dances and 
weddings, conferences, as a restaurant and as a public house.  

6.65 The Tollgate Hotel site included column lighting to the car parking areas, signage to the 
hotel and there were amenity impacts in terms of noise and smell etc. from the operation 
which was also effectively on a 24 hour basis. 

6.66 It is not considered that these impacts are necessarily reasons to reject the scheme 
proposals in relation to the development plan including under Core Strategy Policy CS19: 
Development and Design Principles, saved policy S7: Policy for Hot Food Shops and 
Restaurants and other A3 Uses or national planning guidance in the NPPF but 
consideration would need to be given to the imposition of suitable and appropriate planning 
conditions to ensure there are controls in place to safeguard local amenity in terms of 
possible noise, smells etc. and visual impacts in respect of signage, lighting, litter etc.

Layout and Design

6.67 The design of the buildings for the petrol filling station shop is of a contemporary design 
and with the use of modern sustainable materials whereas the current application site 
includes a mix of modern flat roofed 1960’s style non-descript hotel room buildings on the 
northern and eastern sides of the site as well as the original pitched roof building of Mock 
Tudor style on the western side of the site, albeit much extended and altered.

6.68 It is not considered that the contemporary design approach to the scheme is inappropriate 
and there are recent examples of contemporary design solutions being supported within 
the locality including the Toby Carvery in Coldharbour Road, the Travelodge Hotel at the 
rear of the Toby Carvery, the Cyclopark centre building or the Infrastructure Maintenance 
Depot buildings at Ifield adjacent to the A2 about a mile to the east of the application site.

6.69 The current Tollgate service station to the north of the site is a modern flat roofed building 
lacking any architectural merit and has been significantly extended in the last two years.

6.70 A number of the objectors have suggested that the current main hotel building has some 
architectural or historic interest and that this ought to be retained and even listed.  However 
the officer’s view is that although the mock Tudor buildings have some interest as an early 
example of a roadside inn dating from the 1920’s they are not of listable quality and it 
would not be economic to either retain or convert or readily incorporate into the scheme as 
proposed and are now very much in isolation in their setting.  The condition of the buildings 
have considerably deteriorated over the last 10 or so years that they have not been in any 
economic use. Their loss would not be such as to justify refusal on policy grounds, notably 
CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment.  There should however be an opportunity for 
recording the building in accordance with NPPF advice.

Page 81



6.71 The development does provide scope for incorporating good levels of landscaping and 
appropriate boundary treatments to enhance the appearance of the site.  This should 
provide a significant improvement to the current state of the site which is somewhat 
neglected and surrounded by temporary hoardings.

6.72 It is not considered that the layout and design is contrary to the development plan or raises 
any policy objections in relation to adopted Core Strategy policies (notably CS19: 
Development and Design Principles) or saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review or national planning guidance in the NPPF or NPPG.

   
Highway Impacts, Access and Parking 

6.73 A crucial consideration is the highway impacts that the development will have due to the 
generation of and potential volume of traffic entering and exiting the application site on 
what is already a very busy and important junction of the A2 with the A227 Wrotham Road 
providing access to the Gravesend town centre to the north and the rural villages to the 
south of the urban area.

6.74 It is a concern in many of the local neighbour representations received that the 
development will result in an increase in traffic congestion and road safety hazards, 
additional HGV’s to the site, that there is already congestion at peak times on the slip 
roads coming off the A2, that the access arrangements are poor and that the increased 
traffic on the roundabouts will be hazardous for pedestrians and cyclists.  Concerns at the 
highway impacts of the development have also been expressed by the ward councillor on 
grounds that the development will attract customers not just from the A2 but also the local 
area and that traffic has increased since the previous application was considered by the 
Board and the previous traffic modelling and studies are out of date and the application 
should not be considered in isolation.  

6.75 The impact of traffic generated by the development was also the key concern and principal 
consideration of the Board in determining the now withdrawn planning application 
(20131018) for the redevelopment of the whole of the Tollgate site for both a petrol filling 
station and a restaurant with drive thru for the McDonalds franchise in both January 2014 
and July 2015.  At the latter meeting there was considerable debate around the issue of 
whether the residual cumulative impacts of the development were so severe as to justify 
refusal of the development on highway grounds in relation to paragraph 32 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

6.76 The current development proposals are supported by and underpinned by the original 
Transport Assessment (TA) from the then applicant’s highway consultants (Waterman 
Transport and Development Ltd) together with updates from Odyssey Markides dated 
September 2015 and February 2017 but more critically a Supplementary Transport 
Assessment dated November 2017and an Addendum dated January 2018.  (Note: This 
section of the report extracts the relevant information from all these documents).

6.77 Importantly these latter transport assessments have re-assessed the impact of traffic 
generated by the development and including the undertaking of additional modelling and 
traffic counts and taking into account additional growth of traffic and additional committed 
development locally that had not been allowed for in the previous transport assessments, 
thus also responding to the local Member concerns.  

6.78 The original transport assessment (TA) indicated that the existing use of the site as a hotel 
(and which could be reintroduced at any time) would have generated a significant number 
of trips with up to 72 two way trips in the PM peak hour.

Page 82



6.78 In respect of traffic generated by the proposed petrol filling station the original TA indicated 
that the station was a relocated and upgraded service station (i.e. it assumed that the 
proposal would replace the current Tollgate service station, and therefore the applicant’s 
traffic consultants applied a 50% increase in traffic generation based on the increased 
number of petrol pumps (with the caveat that an additional 6 pumps would not necessarily 
mean a pro-rata increase in the number of vehicles). 

6.79 Officers queried with the applicants as to their reasons for this assumption at the time of 
the original comprehensive redevelopment application (20131018), and the applicants had 
responded that:

The Transport Assessment has taken a very robust approach to the impacts of the 
proposed BP site at Tollgate.  Whilst it is correct that there is no guarantee that the existing 
PFS on Wrotham Road (old A2 slip road) would close, it is clear that a new PFS closer to 
the A2 and with an adjacent restaurant would be a more attractive stopping location for 
vehicles currently on the A2.

 
The TA has assumed (as a worst case) that all traffic using the eastern arm of the 
Wrotham Road / Coldharbour Road roundabout (i.e. the old A2 slip road) is associated with 
the existing PFS.  Clearly, given the residential properties that are adjacent to the old A2 
slip road, and the traffic associated with the Cyclopark, we have over-estimated the 
amount of traffic going to the current PFS.

 
We have then used this over-estimate of traffic and pro-rata increased it based upon pump 
numbers of the new development scheme.  Again, this adds an element of robustness to 
the analysis we have undertaken, as we have therefore included traffic associated with the 
housing development and Cyclopark within this pro-rata increase.

 
I do not think, therefore, that we need to reanalyse our assessments, given that if the 
existing PFS is to remain open then it will be in direct competition with the proposed 
development this would mean that the proposed PFS would be expected to trade at a 
lower level (and therefore have fewer vehicle trips) than analysed i.e. there are only a 
limited number of vehicles on the immediate network that wish to stop for fuel, and they 
would be split between the two facilities – I would expect trip rates for both PFS facilities to 
therefore be lower than current operation levels of the existing site, again noting that we 
have included all traffic on the old A2 slip lane as PFS traffic.

 
Finally, even if the existing PFS was to close, it is highly unlikely that a land use would be 
found to have more vehicle trips on the site than the existing PFS facility.  The site is 
limited in size, and therefore the floorspace is unlikely to generate a significant amount of 
traffic.  The site is also bound by residential developments to the west and north, so I 
would assume that any future land use would be most likely to be residential in nature.  
Residential properties are relatively low traffic generators, particularly in comparison to an 
existing PFS facility.

 
I therefore believe that the analysis undertaken within the TA is highly robust, and that no 
revised assessments are necessary in this instance.

6.80 As a result of the significant level of local objections to the current development in highway 
terms and questions further raised over the robustness of the original transport 
assessment from KCC Highways and Highways England (as well as reflecting Member 
concerns) the applicants have provided further highway impact supporting information from 
when the application was originally considered, as referred to above, and the following 
summary of impacts have been made:

Page 83



• The Transport Assessment was scoped fully with the Highways England and Kent CC 
Highways and Transportation;

• Assessment area involved surveys undertaken on the 3 interlinked roundabouts at 
Wrotham Road / Coldharbour Road, and the Wrotham Road / A2 slips in September 
2017;

• Traffic was ‘growthed’ using industry-standard software to a future year of 2027 and 
other nearby and relevant committed development now added (Toby Carvery hotel, 
Coldharbour Road (N) residential development, and Coldharbour Road (S) commercial 
development) to show potential impacts including other developments in the area;

• The key junction for assessment based upon % impacts is the Wrotham Road / A2 
eastbound / proposed site access (i.e. the middle roundabout);

• This junction currently operates close to 0.98 capacity level in the worst case on the A2 
Off Slip and 0.76 capacity on the Wrotham Road (N) arm. In assessing the operation of 
a roundabout, the modelling software uses the junction geometry and traffic flow data 
to estimate both the capacity of the roundabout and the traffic flows on each arm and 
circulating space that are expected. The resulting RFC (Ratio of Flow to Capacity) is 
generally accepted as the best way of measuring the performance of a roundabout. An 
RFC of 1.00 would indicate that the capacity of a roundabout has reached its maximum 
but in order that some degree of flexibility and variation of conditions is introduced, a 
figure of 0.85 RFC is usually considered to be the desirable maximum;

• Without the BP proposal, this roundabout with traffic growth and committed 
development based upon the software would exceed the maximum capacity in 2022 
and in 2027 (1.37 for the A2 Off Slip and 0.94 for Wrotham Road N) even without any 
PFS traffic; 

• The BP proposals, because of the necessary mitigating measures, will improve the 
capacity of the roundabout such that, with the development flows added, the junction 
will operate at a similar level (albeit over capacity) than would be the case without the 
proposed development. The development, with the roundabout improvements, can 
therefore be considered to be providing nil-detriment to the surrounding road network. 

6.81 In respect of traffic data the key points in the applicants assessments are:

• The Transport Assessment (TA) has provided a robust assessment of traffic on the 
local highway network;

• The assessments have been undertaken as a worst-case analysis and that in reality, 
traffic flows are expected to be lower than the figures quoted below;

• In terms of specific traffic generation numbers, the site is expected to generate 347 
two-way trips in the AM Peak and 383 two-way trips in the PM Peak.  The methodology 
of calculating these flows has been agreed with the HE and KCC during the application 
process.  It has been demonstrated through the application process that the level of 
traffic generated by the site can be accommodated on the local highway network, with 
the inclusion of some improvements (as agreed with HE and KCC) to the Wrotham 
Road / A2 eastbound / site access roundabout junction;

• In comparison, the former hotel site was expected to generate 33 two-way vehicle trips 
in the AM Peak and 72 two-way trips in the PM Peak.  It should be noted that this has 

Page 84



been based on a simple hotel use only, and the use of conference facilities, bar / public 
house or other amenities has not been used in this comparison.  Those additional 
facilities would be expected to increase trip generation rates further;

• Whilst it may be viewed that the proposed development therefore has an increase in 
traffic, it should be noted that the majority of traffic movements associated with a PFS 
site are likely to be pass by trips and therefore should not be viewed as new trips on 
the network, and that the existing PFS site would be acting in direct competition with 
the proposed development.  The existing site is signed from the A2, and therefore 
drivers are aware that this facility exists.  Competition between the two sites would 
result in traffic generation levels lower than those analysed; However, at the request of 
HE, the traffic modelling has included for 100% of the PFS trips to be “new” trips on the 
network and therefore the assessment is considered to be more robust than if the 
percentage of pass by / diverted trips were taken into account;

• In terms of traffic impacts on the roundabout, the TA shows that the site access 
roundabout has around 2850 vehicles entering it during the existing AM peak, 
compared with 3050 for the proposed scheme;

• In the PM peak the difference is 3413 vehicles existing compared with 3796 in the 
proposed.  These impacts are between 11.2% and 11.9%.  These alterations in traffic 
can be accommodated with the improvements suggested and agreed with HE and 
KCC, for the proposed development as well as taking into account growth through to 
2022;

• As part of the TA baseline study, traffic surveys were undertaken in September 2017 
for a 3 hour weekday period in the AM (0700 – 1000) and PM (1600 – 1900) and on 
Saturday (1100 – 1400).  The busiest one hour period for AM and PM was then 
selected for analysis.  This is consistent with DfT advice;

• Throughout the process the applicants have had to satisfy Highways England and KCC 
requests, and that the two authorities do not consider the scheme to be detrimental to 
highways operation even with the robust assessment undertaken;

• The NPPF guidance states (paragraph 32) that,
“Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of development are severe”.  
In this case the development has achieved a nil-detriment impact and cannot be 
considered as having severe residual impacts.

• In respect of impacts on the other two other roundabout junctions the analysis (based 
on the 2017 survey data and with allowance for all committed development) shows that 
for the northern roundabout (Coldharbour Road/A227 Wrotham Road) the total traffic 
using the roundabout in the PM peak (the worst case) is 3435 vehicles with the BP 
development adding 104 vehicles or a 3% increase; while for the southern roundabout 
(A2 London bound on/off and A227 Wrotham Road) the total traffic using the 
roundabout in the PM peak is 2709 vehicles with the BP development adding 125 
vehicles or a 4.6% increase; in either case Highways England and KCC Highways 
would not consider that this is a significant increase.

6.82 The Board will have noted from the original consultation responses that Highways England 
did not raise an objection on highway grounds to the development when it was first 
submitted in 2016 subject to the proposed highway improvements being implemented by 
the applicants.  These improvements will include providing an additional lane at the 
approach to the roundabout for traffic going south and widened access into the site from 

Page 85



the roundabout which will have improved sight lines by the reduction of the current 
mounding adjacent to the roundabout.  However it was as a result of the further 
assessments in late 2017/early 2018 being submitted that additional mitigation in the form 
of the widening of the A2 Off Slip Road approach was also required by Highways England.

6.83 Similarly Kent County Council Highways and Transportation did not raise an objection 
originally to the development subject to the resolution of some issues through planning 
conditions although KCC Highways did subsequently (along with Highways England) seek 
updated traffic assessments and modelling to reflect changing traffic circumstances. 

6.84 Since the original proposals were submitted in 2016 there have been no significant or 
material changes to the scheme in either the layout of the development, its content or the 
access arrangements in highway terms, other than as stated above in relation to the 
provision of additional highway mitigation for the A2 Off Slip widening and the submission 
of  additional highway evidence in the form of revised traffic surveys, revised traffic 
generation assessment, further modelling all included in the Supplementary TA in 
November 2017 and the Addendum to the TA in January 2018.

6.85 Highways England as the strategic highway authority has reviewed the revised highways 
assessment, its methodology and its conclusions and considers that these are sound. They 
are based on fact and robust modelling rather than what might be considered as people’s 
perceptions of what the traffic situation is.

6.86 Highways England are content that the proposals are compliant with National Guidance in 
the NPPF and DfT Circular 02/2013 and will not result in severe residual impacts as 
required by NPPF (paragraph 32) to warrant a Highways England recommendation that the 
application should be refused on strategic highways grounds.  The test of ‘severity’ sets 
what can only be assumed to be a very high bar and the Board will note that from previous 
consideration and debate relating to the highways impacts of development locally that in 
the NPPF there is of course no definition of what is regarded as ‘severe’ and this may have 
to be tested in the courts.  The current evidence provided in this case does not lead to a 
conclusion that ‘extreme’ highway problems at the roundabouts either side of the A2 would 
result from the development.  Highway improvements would nevertheless be required to be 
implemented to mitigate the highway impacts of the development and this is in line with 
paragraph 32 of the NPPF which requires evaluation of ‘whether any improvements can be 
undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts of 
the development’.

6.87 In the absence of a technical objection to the highway impacts of the development from the 
highways expertise that the Borough Council relies on to provide impartial and robust 
highway and traffic impact assessments (Highways England, KCC Highways and 
Transportation) as well as the advice from its own Highways Development Management 
Officer, the Borough Council would be unsafe in recommending refusal on highway 
grounds and then run the risk of having to defend those grounds in any subsequent 
appeal, notwithstanding the acknowledged concerns expressed in all the various 
‘neighbour’ objections.

6.88 The overall conclusion therefore is that the development would not be contrary to the 
development plan in highway and transport terms and the development would accord with 
Core Strategy Policy CS11: Transport, saved highway policies in the Gravesham Local 
Plan First Review and the highway policies in the NPPF (Section 4: Promoting sustainable 
transport, paragraphs 29-41) such that highway grounds of refusal could not be supported 
in this case.

Page 86



Other Material Considerations

6.89 Environmental impacts from the development in terms of contamination, pollution and the 
effects on ground water have been very carefully considered and assessed by the 
Environment Agency, Kent County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority and 
Southern Water as well as GBC Regulatory Services (Environmental Health) and Kent 
County Council Trading standards.  No overriding objections have been raised but very 
strict controls through planning conditions have been requested if the development is to be 
permitted.

6.90 Although the site is within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) GBC Regulatory 
Services have made no specific comments on the development on air quality grounds.  
The application is supported in any event by an Air Quality Assessment October 2013 
(Waterman Energy, Environment and Design Ltd) and this proposes mitigation during the 
construction phase of the development.   The report does not propose any mitigation upon 
completion of the development on the basis that the development is predicted to meet all 
relevant air quality objectives.

6.91 Natural England has not objected to the development on conservation grounds.  
Opportunities can be taken to incorporate features into the design which are beneficial to 
wildlife and that the development uses natural resources more sustainably and bring 
benefits for the local community.  The application has been supported by a Habitat and Bat 
Survey, October 2012 (by Corylus Ecology).

6.92 In archaeological terms the site is located in an area known for its extensive prehistoric and 
Roman activity.  The application is however supported by a comprehensive Desk Based 
Assessment (DBA) October 2012 (by Archaeology South East) and KCC Heritage and 
Conservation who were consulted on the application do not raise an objection on 
archaeological grounds but recommends that suitable conditions are imposed. 

6.93 There are therefore no reasons to reject the proposal on environmental reasons as being 
contrary to the development plan or national planning policy guidance in the NPPF.

7. Conclusions and Balancing Exercise 

7.1 This application was originally submitted in early March 2016 in order for the Borough 
Council to consider a reduced scale of development for the site in the light of the issues 
that arose through the JR process relating to the challenges against the decisions to grant 
planning permission for the comprehensive redevelopment of the whole of the former 
Tollgate Motel site for both a petrol filling station for BP Oil UK Ltd and a restaurant and 
drive-thru for the McDonalds franchise (20131018).

7.2 Notwithstanding the previous planning decisions that were made in January 2014 and July 
2015 in relation to that earlier planning application (20131018) for the comprehensive 
redevelopment of the whole of the former Tollgate Motel site this current planning 
application for a standalone petrol filling station only with the remainder of the site 
remaining undeveloped (but shown as a future development site) has been considered 
afresh and the development has been re-assessed in the light of the current development 
plan, national planning guidance, the various consultation responses, the local and 
neighbour representations received and other material planning considerations.  

7.3 Since the application has been submitted it has also been subject to careful scrutiny which 
has resulted in the submission of revised plans, detailed calculations in relation to all 

Page 87



aspects of built development on the site, both existing and proposed, and notably the 
submission of updated transport assessments including the undertaking of additional 
modelling and traffic counts and taking into account additional growth of traffic and 
additional committed development locally that had not been allowed for in the original 
transport assessments.

7.4 The site is within the Green Belt but it is a previously developed site and the assessment 
has concluded that it falls to be considered within paragraph 89 of the NPPF and the 
proposal can therefore be considered as not inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
and thus not contrary to the NPPF or the development plan in respect of Green Belt policy.  
It is considered that the development would neither have a greater impact on the openness 
of the Green Belt or on the purpose of including land within it than the existing 
development or previous use of the site.

7.5 It is also concluded that the development would not be contrary to other development plan 
policies.  Although there are significant objections to the development on grounds of 
potential harm to other similar businesses, and questions over the need for the 
development, it has been reiterated that competition between businesses or diversion of 
trade is not a material planning consideration.  Government policy seeks to positively 
promote competition between retailers and enhanced consumer choice.

7.6 There are no reasons to reject the proposals in terms of their visual impact, design issues 
or for environmental reasons.

7.7 The impact of the development in traffic terms also raises very complex and challenging 
issues but it is concluded by both Highways England and KCC Highways and 
Transportation in the assessment of the transport statement and as now updated that the 
proposals are compliant with National Guidance in the NPPF and DfT Circular 02/2013 and 
will not result in severe residual impacts as required by NPPF to warrant a 
recommendation that the application should be refused on strategic or local highways 
grounds but acceptance is nevertheless subject to the implementation of appropriate 
highway mitigation.

7.8 Taking all these issues into account and notwithstanding the very high volume of local 
objection to the development it is considered that the balance lies in favour of the 
development.  There are no overriding reasons on planning policy, highway, design or 
other planning considerations to reject the current proposal.

7.9 It is also considered that there will be benefits in redeveloping a site which has been 
vacant for some years, by improving its appearance, by creating employment 
opportunities, and by offering a service facility and greater choice for motorists using the 
A2 trunk road.  The proposal would be a sustainable development involving the 
regeneration of a previously developed site.

7.10 Therefore it is recommended that planning permission to be granted subject to conditions, 
reasons and informatives

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

RECOMMENDATION 

PLANNING PERMISSION be GRANTED subject to planning conditions, reasons and 
informatives

Page 88



CONDITIONS AND REASONS:

Time Limit Condition

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 
of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Plans, Restrictions on Use, Phasing, Design and Details

Plans and Particulars

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
following approved plans and particulars:

Plans and Drawings - as revised 

• Drawing No 10915-EB-2B Rev 1B: Topographical Survey with Existing Built Areas
• Drawing No 10915-EB-2B Rev 2B: Topographical Survey with Existing Built Areas
• Drawing No 20129/20 Rev E: Site Layout Plan - Main Forecourts
• Drawing No 20129/21: Site Development Plan - Proposed Built Areas (only in relation to 

the site location plan - red line boundary - for the whole site)
• Drawing No 20129/21 Rev C: Site Development Plan - Access & Highways Work
• Drawing No 20129/22 Rev B: Proposed BP Shop - Building Elevations
• Drawing No 20129/23 Rev B: Sectional Elevations - Illustrating Levels & Earth Works  
• Drawing No 20129/24 Rev B: E/A Drainage & Services

Supporting Documents

• Planning Application Form
• Covering letter dated 3 March 2016 (Aitchison Raffety Chartered Town Planning 

Consultants)
• Planning, Design and Access Statement February 2016 (Aitchison Raffety Chartered Town 

Planning Consultants)
• Transport Statement Technical Note September 2015 (Odyssey Markides LLP), including 

appended original Transport Assessment dated 25 October 2013 by Waterman Transport 
and Development Ltd pertaining to the original application for the development of the whole 
site 

Other Generic Supporting Documents 

• Geo-Environmental Investigation Report September 2012 (Subadra Consulting Ltd)
• Flood Risk Assessment October 2012 (Clear Environmental Consultants Ltd)
• Air Quality Assessment October 2013 (Waterman Energy, Environment and Design Ltd)
• Archaeological Desk Based Assessment October 2012 (Archaeology South East)
• Ecological Survey - Extended Phase 1 Habitat & Bat Surveys October 2012 (Corylus 

Ecology)
• Landscape and Visual Overview August 2012 (David Huskisson Associates)

(Note: Only in so far as they relate to the petrol filling station site only)

Page 89



Additional Supporting Documents

• Existing & Proposed Built Areas & Volume Schedule (Malcolm Hughes Land Surveyors)
• Information Note (Aitchison Raffety) dated 13 July 2016
• Revised transport technical note (17-041A) dated 17 February 2017 (Odyssey Markides) 

including highway drawings - Odyssey Markides Drawing No 14/150/701 Rev A: General 
Arrangement and Drawing No 17/150/701: General Arrangement (Note: Drawings for 
information only as superseded below)

 
Additional Highway Documents

• Revised (Supplementary) Transport Assessment 14-150-01 (Rev E) (Odyssey) 01 
November 2017

• Addendum 14-150-02 (Rev D) to the Supplementary Transport Assessment (Rev E) 
(Odyssey) 26 January 2018

Additional Highway Plans

• Drawing No 17-041-SK-002A-Proposed Highway Improvement Option (Wrotham Road 
North)

• Drawing No 17041-SK-003-Proposed Western Arm Widening (A2 EB Off slip 
Improvement).

and those approved pursuant to any conditions contained herein after and there shall be no 
deviation therefrom. 

Reason: In order to ensure the development is implemented on the basis of the scheme as 
submitted in the interests of proper planning and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

Materials

3. Notwithstanding the details shown in the approved drawings full details and samples of the 
external facing materials for the buildings including roof materials and all surface treatments 
together with the details of the location and finishes of any flues or extraction equipment or any 
other plant or equipment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before the commencement of the development; the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of the premises as a petrol filling 
station.  

Reason: To ensure the development has proper regard to local visual amenity pursuant to 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles and 
the national planning guidance in the NPPF.

Restrictions on Additional Development

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of and Schedule 2 to the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, or any provision equivalent 
to that order in any order revoking or re-enacting that order with or without modification, the 
buildings hereby permitted shall not be subsequently altered or extended, or any external plant 
or equipment located on any part of the buildings and no additional hard surfacing constructed 
on the site unless the specific grant of planning permission has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; for the avoidance of doubt the applicants are advised that the permission 

Page 90



hereby granted does not give approval to or convey any agreement to the location of any 
advertisement matter that may be shown on the approved elevations of the buildings or on the 
site and that such matter shall be the subject of separate advertisement consent under the 
Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 2007.

Reason: In the interests of local and visual amenity, highway safety and having regard to the 
location of the site within an open part of the Green Belt and pursuant to Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles and the national planning 
guidance in the NPPF.

Restriction on the Use of the Petrol Filling Station Sales Building 

5. The sales building hereby permitted shall be used only for retail sales, customer toilets, staff 
facilities and refuse storage ancillary to the use of the site for a petrol filling station and for no 
other purpose; it shall not at any time incorporate any seating areas for customers.

Reason: In order that any other uses of the building may be the subject of a separate planning 
application which the Local Planning Authority would wish to consider on its merits having 
regard to issues of amenity, traffic safety and the prevailing planning policies.

Restrictions on the Eastern Part of the former Tollgate Site

6. The existing former hotel and other buildings within the entire site shown in the red line plan 
(site location plan at scale 1:1250) in drawing no 20129/21 (Site Development Plan – Proposed 
Built Areas) but which fall outside the red line development boundary but as shown within the 
blue line in the site location plan (drawing no 20129/21 rev B – Site Development Plan Access 
and Highways Work) shall all be demolished, the site levelled and seeded (grassed and 
wildflower) prior to the first occupation of the premises as a petrol filling station.  The ground 
levels shall be first approved pursuant to the requirements of condition 7 below.

Reason: To ensure the development respects local character and local visual amenity having 
regard to the open nature of the site and which is within a Green Belt area and pursuant to 
Gravesham Local Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles

Ground Levels

7. Notwithstanding the details shown in the approved drawings, full finalised and worked up 
details of the existing and proposed levels of the site including finished floor levels of the 
buildings to be erected, sections through the site and adjacent land/highways and the provision 
of any earth retention measures, structures and moundings shall be submitted for the approval 
of the Local Planning Authority before the commencement of the development; the 
development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the first 
occupation of the premises as a petrol filling station.

Reason: To ensure the development respects local character and local visual amenity having 
regard to the open nature of the site and which is within a Green Belt area and pursuant to 
Gravesham Local Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles

Environmental Controls

Control of noise emitted from premises

Page 91



8. The rating level of the noise emitted from the plant and equipment associated with this 
development shall not exceed the existing background noise level by more than 3dB. The noise 
levels shall be determined at the points nearest to adjacent residential premises. The 
measurements and assessments shall be made according to BS4142:2014.

Reason: In order to safeguard the living conditions of the occupants of nearby dwellings and local 
amenity and pursuant to Gravesham Local Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design 
Principles.

Lighting

9. Prior to the installation of the lighting for this development, the applicant shall provide to the 
Local Planning Authority a suitable lighting scheme for any lighting to be erected on the site or 
buildings including to the petrol filling station canopies together with report demonstrating the 
this shall not have an impact on residential properties greater than that found for Environmental 
zone E3 in table 1 of The Institution of Lighting Engineers (ILE) Guidance Notes for the 
Reduction of Obtrusive Light. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details before the first occupation of the premises as a petrol filling station and no 
additional lighting shall be installed on the site or buildings unless the specific grant of planning 
permission has been given by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to prevent light pollution in the interests of visual and local amenity and 
having regard to the location of the site within an open part of the Green Belt and in compliance 
with Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles.

Air Quality 

10. The list of mitigation measures outlined in Section 6 of the Air Quality Impact Assessment 
(October 2013) accompanying the application shall be employed during the construction phase 
of the development. The development shall comply with the London Councils' "The control of 
dust and emissions from construction and demolition" Best Practice Guidance and 
Gravesham's own Code of Construction Practice.

Reason: In order to control emission of dust throughout the construction phase and having 
regard to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design 
Principles.

Controls over the Construction of the Development

Code of Construction Practice

11. The commencement of the development shall not take place until a comprehensive Code of 
Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts including pest control from the 
clearance/construction phase of this development is provided by the applicant and submitted 
for approval to the Local Planning Authority. No works shall commence until approval of this 
report has been given by the Local Planning Authority.  The construction of the development 
shall fully adhere to the approved Code of Construction Practice.

Reason: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, the amenities of the 
area in general, detriment to the natural environment through the risks of pollution and dangers 

Page 92



to highway safety, during the construction phase and having regard to Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles.

Hours of Construction
 
12. All construction operations, including any demolition works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the hours set out below (to be known as normal working hours), unless with 
the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority:

0800 to 1800 hours Monday to Friday
0800 to 1300 hours Saturday

Unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no construction operations or work 
shall be carried out on a Sunday or on Bank and Public Holidays.

Reason: In order to safeguard the living conditions of the occupants of nearby dwellings and 
having regard to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design 
Principles.

Wheel Washing 

13.  Wheel washing facility proposals for the construction of the development hereby permitted 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to any construction 
work commencing and shall be employed and maintained in working order throughout the 
duration of the construction of the development. 

Reason: To ensure the development does not result in debris being deposited on the road 
during construction of the development protects the environment of the site and its locality 
generally, does not result in detriment to highway safety and is compliant with the adopted 
Gravesham Local Core Strategy, September 2014 and notably Policy CS19: Development and 
Design Principles.

Contamination, Drainage and Surface Water Protection

Management of Pollution Control 

14. No development shall commence until a scheme to manage the pollution risks associated 
with the operations of the proposed petrol filling station have been submitted to and approved, 
in writing, by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include and address the following 
components:

1. The location and design of monitoring wells/boreholes adjacent to the underground fuel 
tanks. The information must include proposed frequency of monitoring and reporting to a 
relevant regulatory authority 
2. Details of the double skin tanks and concrete base with lip and sump;
3. Details of fuel delivery pipework;
4. Drainage details for the forecourt and drainage within the tanker off-loading area;
5. A management plan detailing how traffic will be directed onto and off-site, including how fully 
laden delivery tankers will avoid fuel delivery pipework between pumps and tanks;
6. Information relating to the proposed third party leak detection system; and
7. A site specific staff training manual that explains to site staff specific environmental risks 
associated with the petrol filling station, and actions to be taken in the event of an incident.

Page 93



Any changes to these components require the express consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To protect the underlying groundwater from potential pollution in line with reference to 
NPPF and relevant planning guidance.

Compliance with Pollution Control Scheme 

15. Prior to the commencement of operations on the site, an as built report, demonstrating the 
completion of the works in accordance with condition 14 above shall be submitted for approval 
to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To protect the underlying groundwater from potential pollution in line with reference to 
NPPF and relevant planning guidance.

Soil Decontamination

16. No development approved by this planning permission (or such other date or stage in 
development as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), shall take place 
until a scheme that includes the following components to deal with the risks associated with 
contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority:

(i) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:

a) all previous uses
b) potential contaminants associated with those uses
c) a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
d) potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.

(ii) A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed assessment 
of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.

(iii) The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) and, 
based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.

(iv) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate 
that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and identifying any 
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements 
for contingency action.

Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To protect the underlying groundwater from potential pollution in line with reference to 
NPPF and relevant planning guidance.

Submission of Verification Report/Remediation 

Page 94



17. No occupation of any part of the permitted development shall take place until a verification 
report demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the 
effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority. The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in 
accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria 
have been met. It shall also include any plan (a "long-term monitoring and maintenance plan") 
for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action, as identified in the verification plan. The long-term monitoring and 
maintenance plan shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To protect the underlying groundwater from potential pollution in line with reference to 
NPPF and relevant planning guidance.

Soil Decontamination - Watching Brief

18. The applicant shall undertake a watching brief during construction in case any 
contamination issue not previously assessed is encountered. Workers on site during 
construction should be advised by the applicant that there is a possibility of finding 
contaminated material. If during development any such additional contamination is found, the 
Local Planning Authority should be informed as soon as practical and the work shall not 
continue until written agreement is provided by the Local Planning Authority as to the 
appropriate measures to be taken to resolve the matter and they are satisfied that those 
measures have been carried out.

Any material brought onto the site must be suitable for use and the results of chemical analysis 
of this material to demonstrate that it is free from contamination and suitable for the proposed 
end use shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval.  

In addition, material for off-site disposal should be dealt with appropriately as determined by a 
waste classification assessment. Appropriate documentation relating to the removal of material 
from site should also be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To protect the underlying groundwater from potential pollution in line with reference to 
NPPF and relevant planning guidance.

Water Drainage and SUDS

19. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage scheme for 
the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Local Planning Authority. The 
detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by this 
development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and including the climate change 
adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of within the curtilage of 
the site without increase to flood risk on or off-site. The drainage scheme shall also 
demonstrate that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use and construction can be 
adequately managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters.  The sustainable 
surface water drainage scheme shall be implemented as approved before the first occupation 
of the premises as a petrol filling station.

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of 
surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the risk of on/off site 
flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required prior to the 
commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the proposal, the approval 
of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the rest of the development.

Page 95



Maintenance and Management of the SUDS Scheme

20. No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of the implementation, 
maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented and 
thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details. Those details 
shall include:

a) a timetable for its implementation, and
b) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall include 
the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system throughout its 
lifetime.

Reason: To ensure that any measures to mitigate flood risk and protect water quality on/off the 
site are fully implemented and maintained (both during and after construction), as per the 
requirements of paragraph 103 of the NPPF and its associated Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards.

No Infiltration of Surface Water Drainage

21. Where infiltration is to be used to manage the surface water from the development hereby 
permitted, it will only be allowed within those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated 
to the Local Planning Authority’s satisfaction that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to 
controlled waters and/or ground stability. The development shall only then be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To protect vulnerable groundwater resources and ensure compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Protection of the Public Sewer

22. The developer must advise the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Southern 
Water) of the measures which will be undertaken to divert the public water main and sewers, 
prior to the commencement of the development.

Reason: To ensure the development protects or diverts drainage apparatus in the interest of 
public safety.

Transport and Parking Conditions 

Highway Mitigation Scheme - Strategic Road Network Mitigation A2(west) London bound Off-
Slip

23. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until the highway 
improvements as shown on the Odyssey drawing number 17-041-003 “Western Arm 
Improvements” have been fully completed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 
including any necessary transfer of lands to enable the construction and maintenance of the 
scheme, subject to any changes made necessary by the combined Stage 1 and 2 Road Safety 
Audit and/or separate Walking Cycling and Horse Riding Assessment required prior to 

Page 96



construction, each of which must be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Highways England; or alternatively the implementation of such other scheme of 
works substantially to the same effect, as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority also in consultation with Highways England. 

Reason: To ensure that the A2(West) Trunk Road continues to be an effective part of the national 
system of routes for through traffic in accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act 1980 and to 
satisfy the reasonable requirements of road safety.

Construction Traffic Management Plan

24. No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence until a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation 
with Highways England and implemented. The Construction Traffic Management Plan shall 
include the following:

(a) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from site
(b) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel
(c) Timing of deliveries
(d) Provision of wheel washing facilities
(e) Temporary traffic management / signage
(f) Retention of and protection of cycleway/footway though the site during construction 

The Construction Traffic Management Plan shall also include arrangements for monitoring and 
effective enforcement.

The Construction Traffic Management Plan shall, be fully adhered for the duration of the 
construction of the development hereby permitted.

Reason: To minimize traffic generated by the construction of the development and to ensure that 
the A2(West) Trunk Road continues to be an effective part of the national system of routes for 
through traffic in accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act 1980 and to satisfy the 
reasonable requirements of road safety.

Off Site Highway Works - Wrotham Road North approach

25. The highway works relating to the creation of a dedicated left-turn lane on the Wrotham
Road North approach to the roundabout and generally as shown on Odyssey Markides drawing 
reference 17-041-SK002 Revision A including the improvements to the access from the site to 
the roundabout, and which shall be subject to detailed approval by Kent County Council 
Highways and Transportation under a Highways Act 1980 Section 278 Agreement, shall be 
fully completed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of the 
premises as a petrol filling station.  

Reason: To minimize traffic generated by the development and to ensure that the A2 Trunk 
Road continues to be an effective part of the national system of routes for through traffic in 
accordance with section 10 of the Highways Act 1980 and to satisfy the reasonable 
requirements of road safety pursuant to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS11: 
Transport and the NPPF (Section 4: Promoting sustainable transport, paragraphs 29-41).

Cycleways and Footways

Page 97



26. Full details including appropriately scaled drawings of the proposed diverted route of the 
cycleway and footway through the site connecting the existing activity park and public footpath 
to the north with the A227 Wrotham Road at the adjacent roundabout junction, and showing  
pedestrian crossing points and signage, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority before the commencement of the development; the route shall not be 
less than 3.0m in width; the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and shall be available for use before the development hereby permitted is first occupied.

Reason: To ensure the development maintains satisfactory and safe linkages and routes for 
cyclists and pedestrians and pursuant to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS11: 
Transport.

Parking and Access

27. The customer car parking, access and circulation routes shown in the approved site layout 
plans shall be formed, surfaced, drained and marked out before the development hereby 
permitted is first brought into use; thereafter the car parking, manoeuvring and circulation areas 
so provided shall be used for and kept available for such at all times and no development 
whether or not permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015, or any provision equivalent to that order in any order revoking or re-
enacting that order with or without modification, shall be carried out on the site in such a 
manner or in such a position as to preclude the use of or access to the reserved vehicle parking 
areas.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the site, to avoid indiscriminate car parking or 
to avoid hazards to highway safety by virtue of vehicles parked on the public highway and 
having regard to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS11: Transport and the adopted 
vehicle parking standards (SPG 4 published in 2003 and adopted in 2006).

HGV Parking/Access and Manoeuvrability 

28. No provision shall be made within the site for either short term or longer term (overnight) 
HGV parking at any time; the development shall incorporate appropriate signage to indicate as 
such and that access to the site by HGV's, other than for deliveries to the site, is for refuelling 
only.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the site, to avoid indiscriminate lorry parking or 
to avoid hazards to highway safety and having regard to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
Policy CS11: Transport and the adopted vehicle parking standards (SPG 4 published in 2003 
and adopted in 2006).

Service Delivery Vehicle/Tanker Management Plan

29. A Service Delivery Vehicle/Tanker Management Plan shall be submitted for the approval of 
the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Kent County Council Highways and 
Transportation, before the use of the site as a petrol filling station commences; the Service 
Delivery Vehicle/Tanker Management Plan shall include details of the number of delivery 
vehicles, the times deliveries are made and the routing that delivery vehicles will take. The 
Service Delivery Vehicle/ Tanker Management Plan, as approved, shall be adhered to at all 
times during the operational lifetime of the proposed petrol filling station.

Page 98



Reason: In the interests of highway safety and pursuant to Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy Policy CS11: Transport and the NPPF (Section 4: Promoting sustainable transport, 
paragraphs 29-41).

Travel Plan

30. A travel plan identifying measures to encourage the use of public transport, walking, cycling 
and car sharing for filling station staff, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority before any part of the development is first brought into use and shall 
be fully implemented within the timescales indicated in the approved travel plan and evidence 
to demonstrate that the initiatives are in place and are being monitored and reviewed shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of 
one year following the first occupation of the development hereby permitted.

Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable and more environmentally acceptable modes of 
transport, and in accordance with Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS11: Transport 
and the NPPF (Section 4: Promoting sustainable transport, paragraphs 29-41).

Covered Cycle Parking Facilities

31. Full details for the provision of secure and covered cycle facilities in connection with the 
petrol filling station hereby permitted shall be submitted for the approval of the Local Planning 
Authority and implemented and made available for such use prior to the first occupation of the 
premises as a petrol filling station; thereafter the cycle parking facilities shall be permanently 
retained.

Reason: To encourage the use of a sustainable and environmentally acceptable mode of 
transport, and in accordance with Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS11: 
Transport, Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles and the adopted 
vehicle parking standards.

Conservation and Archaeology

Building Recording

32. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has secured the implementation of a programme of building recording in accordance with a 
written specification and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority; the recording should be at least to Level 3 as set out in the Historic England 
publication “Understanding Historic Buildings A guide to good recording practice”.  

Reason: To ensure that historic building features are properly examined and recorded having 
regard to the local interest of the building and its early association with motor travel and is 
compliant with the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014 and notably 
Policy CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment, and compliant with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF).

Programme of Archaeological Work

33. Prior to the commencement of development the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, shall secure and implement:

Page 99



i archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and written 
timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; 
and 

ii further archaeological investigation, recording and reporting, determined by the results 
of the evaluation,  in accordance with a specification and timetable which has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority

Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and 
recorded and archaeological mitigation through preservation in situ or by record is suitably 
informed and is compliant with the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 
2014 and notably Policy CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment, and compliant with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  Paragraph 128 of the NPPF indicates that where 
a site on which development is proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage 
assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to 
submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.

Foundation Design

34. No development shall take place until details of foundations designs and any other 
proposals involving below ground excavation have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason: To ensure that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of important 
archaeological remains and is compliant with the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy, September 2014 and notably Policy CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment, 
and compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

Landscaping and Trees

35. Full details of the landscaping to the buildings, site and service and access areas hereby 
permitted shall be submitted to and be approved by or on behalf of the Local Planning Authority 
before any works are commenced; the scheme as may be approved shall be implemented to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority within twelve months from the commencement 
of the works and thereafter maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority for a 
period of five years.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not harm local visual amenity, to provide 
satisfactory screening, having regard to the location of the site within an open part of the Green 
Belt and pursuant to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and 
Design Principles.

Boundary Treatments

36. Before the commencement of the development full details of all the boundary treatments to 
the site including detail of the types of treatment, materials, heights and any necessary acoustic 
treatments shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and fully 
implemented before the development hereby permitted is first occupied and thereafter 
permanently retained.

Page 100



Reason: To ensure that the development does not harm local visual amenity, to provide 
satisfactory screening, having regard to the location of the site within an open part of the Green 
Belt and pursuant to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and 
Design Principles.

Refuse and Storage 

37. Full details of all the storage and enclosed refuse areas for the petrol filling station hereby 
permitted shall be submitted to and be approved by the Local Planning Authority before any 
works are commenced; the development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first use of the premises as a petrol filling station and the storage 
and enclosed refuse areas shall thereafter be used for such purposes in accordance with the 
details approved pursuant to this condition.  No open storage of bins, refuse or other goods 
shall take place on the site at any time.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not harm local visual amenity, to provide 
satisfactory screening, having regard to the location of the site within an open part of the Green 
Belt and pursuant to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and 
Design Principles.

Safety and Security

38. Full details of the safety and security measures to be installed on the buildings and site, 
having regard to the advice of the Crime Prevention Design Advisor, Kent Police, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the 
commencement of the development; the development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details before the development is first occupied and the safety and security 
measures as approved shall thereafter be retained.

Reason: To ensure the development protects the environment of the site and its locality 
generally, in the interest of security, crime prevention and community safety having regard to 
s17 of the Crime and Disorder Act and is in accordance with Gravesham Local Core Strategy 
Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles, the guidance within The Kent Design 
Initiative (KDI) and protocol dated April 2013 and is compliant with the NPPF.

Ecology and Biodiversity

39. Notwithstanding the findings of the applicants Extended Phase 1 Habitat and Bat Survey 
Report October 2012 (Corylus Ecology) and the recommendations contained therein, an 
appropriate method statement and watching brief during demolition works on the site in relation 
to ecology and biodiversity shall be submitted for the approval of the Local Planning Authority 
before the commencement of the development and shall be fully adhered to during all 
demolition works on the site. The applicant shall also undertake a watching brief under 
ecological supervision during vegetation clearance and all ground works relating to the 
construction of the development hereby permitted in case any flora or fauna not previously 
assessed is encountered.  The landscaping scheme/strategy pursuant to condition 35 above 
shall employ locally sourced native stock and species rich to deliver gains for biodiversity in the 
longer term.

Reason: In the interests of protecting wildlife and encouraging biodiversity and pursuant to the 
requirements of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS12: Green Infrastructure and 
Paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

Page 101



INFORMATIVES:

1 DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED PLANS

Deviation from or amendment to the approved plans could require a further application and 
permission/consent.  In the event that any change is proposed, applicants and builders are 
advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority.  Proceeding without the necessary 
permissions or consents could result in enforcement action.

2 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT 1996

This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building 
Regulations or under any enactment or provision other than Section 57 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  Nor does it override any private rights which any person may have relating to 
the land affected by this decision, including the provisions of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.  This 
legislation is not taken into account when determining a planning application and independent 
advice should be taken in this regard.

3 REASON FOR IMPOSITION OF PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS

Pursuant to Articles 35 (1) and (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the requirement of 
conditions 3, 7, 11, 13, 14, 16, 19, 22, 24, 26, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38 and 39 are so 
fundamental to the planning permission granted that such details must be submitted prior to the 
works commencing on site.

Due to the importance attached to these details it is reasonable and necessary to seek full 
approval in advance of works commencing.

4 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION TAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015, and paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment and determination of 
this application in a positive and proactive manner and, where appropriate, has worked with the 
applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development Plan for the 
area.

In this particular case pre-application advice was offered to the applicant prior to submission 
relating to this application and an earlier withdrawn scheme for the redevelopment of the whole 
site (20131018).  There has also been significant dialogue with the applicants agents post 
submission and the scheme as now approved has evolved as a result of those discussions and 
negotiations and which required the submission of amended drawings and additional and revised 
supporting information. 

The applicant’s agents were updated during the course of the processing of the application of the 
extent of the consultation and publicity responses and informed of the likely recommendation and 
decision process. 

Page 102



The application was considered by the Council’s Regulatory Board (Planning Committee) where 
the applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the application

5 ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH REQUIREMENTS

Lighting Informative - Advisory Notes

The lighting scheme shall include suitable predictions of light intrusion on the vertical plane 
demonstrating
 
a) The source intensity at light sensitive properties' windows (the maximum source intensity 
to be seen by looking at any of the development's lights)

b) The vertical illuminance at light sensitive properties' windows (how much light falls onto a 
window).  

Commercial Refuse Arrangements

Storage facilities provided shall be of sufficient capacity having regard to the quantity of waste 
produced and the frequency of waste collection.  All waste shall be removed from site on a regular 
basis by a licensed waste carrier and disposed of at a licensed waste disposal site.

Commercial Refuse Arrangements - Advisory Notes

Compliance with the Environmental Protection Act 1990 "Duty of Care" is essential.
Advice on Solid Waste Management can be obtained from Waste Services on [01474] 337533.

Environmental Permitting

Storage of petrol requires an environmental permit to operate legally. The applicant is advised to 
contact Regulatory Services on 01474 (337334) to discuss this further.

6 ENVIRONMENT AGENCY REQUIREMENTS

Fuel, Oil and Chemical Storage

Care should be taken during and after construction to ensure that all fuels, oils and any other 
potentially contaminating materials should be stored (for example in bunded areas secured from 
public access) so as to prevent accidental/unauthorised discharge to ground. The areas for 
storage should not drain to any surface water system.

Where it is proposed to store more than 200 litres (45 gallon drum = 205litres) of any type of oil on 
site it must be stored in accordance with the Control of Pollution (oil storage) (England) 
Regulations 2001. Drums and barrels can be kept in drip trays if the drip tray is capable of 
retaining 25% of the total capacity of all oil stored.

Advice to Applicant

Contaminated soil that is, or must be disposed of, is waste. Therefore, its handling, transport, 
treatment and disposal is subject to waste management legislation, which includes: 

• Duty of Care Regulations 1991
• Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005

Page 103



• Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010
• The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011

Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised both 
chemically and physically in line with British Standards BS EN 14899:2005 'Characterisation of 
Waste - Sampling of Waste Materials - Framework for the Preparation and Application of a 
Sampling Plan' and that the permitting status of any proposed treatment or disposal activity is 
clear. If in doubt, we should be contacted for advice at an early stage to avoid any delays.

If the total quantity of waste material to be produced at or taken off site is hazardous waste and is 
500kg or greater in any 12 month period the developer will need to register with us as a hazardous 
waste producer. Refer to our website at www.environment-agency.gov.uk for more information.

7 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL ADVICE, AS LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY (LLFA)

Kent County Council, as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) advises that the detailed drainage 
design should be developed to be fully in accordance with the recommendations of the submitted 
and approved FRA. Specifically, any such scheme should:

• Be based on the principles of source control and infiltration alone.
• Be designed to accommodate all rainfall durations and intensities for any event up to (and 

including) the climate-change adjusted critical 100yr storm.
• Consider the flow routing and accommodation of any rainfall event that may exceed the 

design parameters.
The LLFA would also expect any infiltration feature to be designed with a half-drain time of less 
than 24 hours (to ensure that any subsequent storm events can be adequately accommodated).

At the detailed design stage, the LLFA would also expect to see the drainage system modelled 
using FeH (Flood Estimation Handbook) rainfall data in any appropriate modelling or simulation 
software. Where FeH data is not available, 26.25mm should be manually input for the M5-60 
value, as per the requirements of the LLFA latest drainage and planning policy statement (June 
2017); the FSR dataset should not be used:

http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/49665/Drainage-and-Planning-policy-
statement.pdf

8 SOUTHERN WATER ADVICE/REQUIREMENTS

Southern Water advises that:

• No new development, excavation, mounding or tree planting should be carried out within 4 
metres of the public water main without consent from Southern Water

• No development or new tree planting should be located within 3 metres either side of the 
centreline of the water mains.

• No new soakaways or other water retaining or conveying features should be located within 
5 metres of a public sewer.

• All other existing infrastructure should be protected during the course of construction 
works.

Due to changes in legislation that came in to force on 1st October 2011 regarding the future 
ownership of sewers it is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the 
above property. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation 
of the sewer will be required to ascertain its condition, the number of properties served, and 
potential means of access before any further works commence on site.  The applicant is advised 

Page 104

http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/49665/Drainage-and-Planning-policy-statement.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/49665/Drainage-and-Planning-policy-statement.pdf


to discuss the matter further with Southern Water, Southern House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne,  
Hampshire S021 2SW  (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk.

The applicants are advised that a formal application for connection to the public sewerage system 
is required in order to service this development, Please  contact Southern Water, Southern House, 
Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne,  Hampshire S021   2SW  (Tel: 0330 3030119) or 
www.southernwater.co.uk.

Southern water advise that where a SUDS scheme is to be implemented, the drainage details 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority should:

• Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SUDS scheme
• Specify a timetable for implementation
• Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development.

This should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker 
and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

Land uses such as general hardstanding that may be subject to oil/petrol spillages should be 
drained by means of oil trap gullies or petrol/oil interceptors. The application proposes 
development that may produce a trade effluent.  No trade effluent can be discharged either directly 
or indirectly to any public sewer without the formal consent of Southern Water.  The applicant is 
advised to discuss the matter further with Southern Water’s Trade Effluent Inspectors.  Please see 
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/BusinessCustomers/wasteServices/tradeEffluent/ for further 
information. 

The proposed development would lie within a Source Protection Zone around one of Southern 
Water’s critical water supply sources as defined under the Environment Agency’s Groundwater 
Protection Policy and further investigation is required to ensure the protection of the public water 
supply source.  Southern Water will rely on your consultations with the Environment Agency in 
order to protect the public water supply.

9 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL TRADING STANDARDS - PETROLEUM ENFORCEMENT 
AUTHORITY (PEA)

The applicants are advised that an application for a Petroleum Storage Certificate will be required 
in due course, under the Petroleum (Consolidation) Regulations 2014 and this will require full 
plans regarding the site layout, petroleum services, and forecourt drainage.

Kent Trading Standards advise that all the fuel pipework is located under at least 150mm pea 
shingle surround, below the minimum 225mm double reinforced concrete slab and the sub base 
material.

10 HIGHWAYS ENGLAND

This development involves work to the public highway (strategic road network and local road 
network)  that can only be undertaken within the scope of a legal Agreement or Agreements 
between the applicant and Highways England (as the strategic highway company appointed by 
the Secretary of State for Transport) and, as necessary and appropriate, the Local Highway 
Authority. Planning permission in itself does not permit these works. 

It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that before commencement of any works to the public 
highway any necessary Agreements under the Highways Act 1980 are also obtained (and at no 

Page 105

http://www.southernwater.co.uk/
http://www.southernwater.co.uk/
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/BusinessCustomers/wasteServices/tradeEffluent/


cost to Highways England). Works to the highway will normally require an agreement or 
agreements, under Section 278 of the Highways Act, with Highways England and/or the Local 
Highway Authority. 

Advice on this matter with regards the strategic road network can be obtained from the Spatial 
Planning Team, Highways England, Bridge House, Walnut Tree Close, Guildford, Surrey, GU1 
4LZ. Email planningse@highwaysengland.co.uk  Tel 0300 123 5000.

We also note that the mitigation schemes on the Kent Local Road Network will also need to 
undergo full Road Safety Audit and Walking Cycling and Horse Riding Assessment, in part, 
because of their proximity to the Strategic Road Network.

11 KENT HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION - HIGHWAYS

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby approved is 
commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where required are obtained and 
that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement 
action being taken by the Highway Authority.

Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not look like 
roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called ‘highway land’. Some of this 
land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third party owners. 
Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil. Information 
about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-
travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land.

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every 
aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important for 
the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works 
prior to commencement on site.
 

12 KENT HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION - FOOTPATHS

The applicants are advised that the Weald Way which runs adjacent to the development may be 
affected by the application.  It is important to advise the applicants that a public right of way must 
not be stopped up, diverted, obstructed or the surface disrobed and there must be no 
encroachment on the current width at any time now or in the future.  This includes any building 
materials or waste generated during any of the construction phases.  No furniture or fixture may be 
erected on or across Public Rights of Way without express consent of the Highways Authority.

13 SECURED BY DESIGN

The applicants/developers are advised to contact the Kent Police Crime Prevention Design 
Advisor to progress any Secured By Design (SBD) commercial accreditation or BREEAM 
applications from a security aspect.

14 HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

Page 106

mailto:planningse@highwaysengland.co.uk
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land


This application has to be considered in relation to the provisions of the Human Rights Act, in 
particular Article 8 (privacy/family life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of property).  
Having regard to the principles of proportionality, it has been concluded that there are no issues 
arising from the proposal, which appear to override the responsibility of the Borough Council to 
regulate land use for the benefit of the community as a whole, in accordance with national law.

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20160215

Site Address: Tollgate Hotel, Watling Street, Gravesend DA13 9RA

Application 
Description:

Demolition of all former Tollgate hotel/restaurant and construction of a 
petrol filling station and forecourts, sales building, ATM, underground 
fuel tanks, refuse/recycling, AC/refrigeration units, vehicular access, 
substation, parking and all associated works and services on part of the 
site.

Applicant: B P Oil UK Limited

Agent: Aitchison Raffety

Ward: Woodlands

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 06 June 2016.

Publicity expiry date: 01 September 2017

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board - 07 February 2018

Reason for referral:

Planning Manager’s discretion as a major development proposal, 
complexity of planning issues, volume of local objection, reports related 
to other applications on this site having been reported to the Board in 
January 2014 and July 2015 and judicial review decisions related to 
developments on this site for a petrol filling station and a McDonalds 
restaurant with drive thru (ref 20131018), the application for which was 
subsequently withdrawn.

Recommendation: Permission subject to conditions, reasons and informatives
_____________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Supplementary Report

This supplementary report sets out some additional neighbour representations that have been 
received since the preparation of the main officer report to the Board.

It also includes a letter of representation received from solicitors, Clyde and Co, acting on 
behalf of Mr Simon Privett, the owner of the Tollgate Service Station, which sets out a number 
of points that they consider Members of the Board must take into account in determining the 
application including what they regard as errors in the report.

The supplementary report includes officer response to the various points and issues raised in 
the objector’s letter.

Page 109



The supplementary report also includes some amendments/additions to the recommendation. 

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT

1. Additional Representations 

1.1 Since the publication of the main report 3 additional neighbour representations have 
been received of which two are objections and their comments are summarised as: 

No Need for the Development 

 No requirement for another filling in this area as the local community
 Local community is adequately served by the current Shell Tollgate Service Station 

and the one at the Morrison’s supermarket
 The Shell Tollgate Service Station is signposted on the A2 therefore this is already 

supplying services to coast bound traffic

Design/Loss of Tollgate Building 

 Travel Lodge hotel is unsightly
 Does not want another monstrosity
 The existing Tollgate Inn is a pleasant building and should not be demolished

Traffic Concerns
 

 It will cause additional traffic flow on and off the A2 and on the roundabouts that 
feed this junction

 These junctions and the surrounding roads have steadily become busier in recent 
years due to recent housing development

 With additional planned development this will only exasperate the traffic situation

General Comments 

 Negative development with no positives for the local community

1.2 The other representation supports the application pointing out that the existing site is an 
eyesore; that it would take the pressure off the Wrotham Road/Coldharbour roundabout 
junction; that the existing garage creates noise/rubbish 24 hours a day; whilst pointing 
out that traffic in the area generally is resulting in congestion.

1.3 The additional neighbour representations (both for and against the proposals) raise no 
new issues that have not previously been set out and considered in the officer report.

2. Representations from Clyde and Co on behalf of Simon Privett, Tollgate Service 
Station and Planning Manager Comments

2.1 Attached to this supplementary report is a letter dated 6 February 2018 from Clyde and 
Co, solicitors acting on behalf of Mr Simon Privett, the owner of the Tollgate Service 
Station, which sets out a number of points that they consider Members of the Board 

Page 110



must take into account in determining the application including what they regard as 
errors in the report.

2.2 The main points they make, as summarised in the bullet points, and the officer 
responses to these points are set out below. 

 Baseline assessment is inconsistent/flawed - development not assessed against the 
existing site being an unused dark site and thus will impact on openness

Response: The site still has a lawful use as a hotel/motel.  It is not considered that the 
existing use has been abandoned.  The previous site operated on a 24 hour/7 day a week 
basis and was a lit site with a significant level of activity.  Whilst it acknowledged that the 
development as proposed would result in a level of activity significantly greater and with 
potentially greater impacts than the vacant use of the site, the development has to be 
assessed as to what the use of the site had been previously as a hotel/motel/restaurant if 
that use were reinstated.  That use could be resurrected at any time without the need for 
planning consent.  It should be noted that the applicants Transport Assessment (TA) is 
based on that assumption. The potential traffic generation from the hotel (using TRICS 
data) was taken into account as a deduction from the PFS traffic generation.  

 Development is inappropriate development in the Green Belt and no very special 
circumstances to justify the grant of planning permission can be established

Response: The application has been properly assessed against the Green Belt tests in the 
NPPF and local policy.  The development is redevelopment of a brownfield site or 
previously developed site and therefore falls within the exceptions under paragraph 89 of 
the NPPF, subject to the tests as to whether the development would impact on openness 
of the Green Belt or the purpose of including land within it.  There is no need therefore to 
show or consider very special circumstances.

 There is no national planning policy which states that competition between business or 
diversion of trade is not a material planning consideration - impact of the proposed 
development upon the Tollgate Service Station is a relevant land use consideration in 
terms of the likely consequences for employment.

Response: National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG - ID: 21b-008-20140306) 
indicates that ’A material consideration is one which is relevant to making the planning 
decision in question (e.g. whether to grant or refuse an application for planning 
permission). The scope of what can constitute a material consideration is very wide and so 
the courts often do not indicate what cannot be a material consideration. However, in 
general they have taken the view that planning is concerned with land use in the public 
interest, so that the protection of purely private interests such as the impact of a 
development on the value of a neighbouring property or loss of private rights to light could 
not be material considerations.’ In other words they have to be planning considerations and 
the Act in Part III para 70.16 is clear…..personal circumstances can be relevant but not in 
terms of competition…..where there are purely private interests, they do not warrant 
protection by the planning system.

The theme of competition runs through the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  It 
is a clear and well understood planning principle that it is not a function of the planning 
system to restrict competition unless there is some public benefit.

Page 111



It is not considered necessarily that the existing Tollgate Service Station would close if 
permission were to be granted for the PFS on the Tollgate Motel site.  The existing PFS 
might continue to offer services that may not conflict with the new PFS offer. The proposed 
PFS would offer new employment opportunities in its own right.  

 The officer report and the Environment Agency has not considered impact on the 
aquifer (and drinking water) from underground storage and the application should be 
refused if there are no overriding reasons why the storage cannot occur elsewhere

Response: The Environment Agency (EA) was consulted on the application when the 
application was first submitted in 2016.  There have been no changes to the scheme since 
it was submitted such as to require additional consultation with the EA.  The EA responded 
to the consultation to the effect that planning permission could be granted to the proposed 
development as submitted if specific planning conditions were imposed but without those 
conditions, the proposed development would pose an unacceptable risk to the environment 
and they would then object to the application.

Their response acknowledges that the site lies on a principal aquifer but notes that it is not 
a new facility (i.e. is in existing use for other purposes) and that there is local and strategic 
need for replacement facilities.  It is a matter for the EA to judge the impact of the 
development on the local water supply and to recommend accordingly to the Local 
Planning Authority.  The five specific conditions that they have requested have been set 
out in the draft recommendation as conditions 14, 15, 16, 17 and 21.

 It should be noted that in addition to the EA, consultations were undertaken also with 
Southern Water, Kent County Council at the Lead Local Flood Authority and Kent County 
Council Trading Standards as the Petroleum Enforcing Authority in respect of drainage and 
environmental matters.  None of these bodies raised objections to the development but 
make numerous recommendations as conditions/informatives which have all been 
considered and addressed in the officer recommendations to the Board.

 There is no evidence that demonstrates that the off-site highway works required will be 
provided within three years of the grant of planning permission - conditions requiring 
these works cannot lawfully be imposed

Response: The proposed Conditions 23 and 25 in the recommendation to the Board are 
both “Grampian Style” Conditions requiring the works to be completed prior to first 
occupation of the proposed use of the site as a petrol filling station (PFS). This means that 
the construction of the PFS can take place prior to the highway works being completed but 
can’t open for business before the improvements are complete. This is a normal approach 
to development that require off site highway works as mitigation to a development.  There 
is no reason why the off-site works shouldn’t be completed within 3 years of the 
commencement of the development.

The NPPG (ID: 21a-001-20140306) importantly states ‘When used properly, conditions can 
enhance the quality of development and enable development proposals to proceed where 
it would otherwise have been necessary to refuse planning permission, by mitigating the 
adverse effects of the development’.

 Planning permission would place pressure on a junction which will have difficulty 
operating even without that additional development. The modelling work undertaken 
cannot reliably predict how the roundabout will operate.

Page 112



Response: The grant of planning permission would NOT place pressure on the junction 
because mitigation measures can be put in place which mitigates the adverse impacts of 
the development.  This is confirmed in the consultation responses from Kent County 
Council, Gravesham Borough Council Highways Development Management Officer and 
Highways England.  

The central roundabout has been modelled in ARCADY, which is an industry standard tool 
used to assess the capacity of roundabout junctions, developed by TRL.  

It is correct that the modelling shows that the roundabout will be operating over capacity in 
2022 and 2027 without the added development traffic (but including other committed 
developments) on the A2 Offslip West, which is part of the Highways England road 
network. The two other arms on approach to the roundabout, which are part of KCC’s road 
network, operate within theoretical capacity.

In the With Development scenario, the highway improvement works on the A2 Offslip 
West, Site Access and Wrotham Road North arms reduce the impact of the development 
such that there is “nil detriment.” The three arms on approach to the roundabout which are 
part of KCC’s road network operate within theoretical capacity. 

The input data in terms of traffic growth and development traffic numbers makes the 
assessment very robust and definitely “worst case” This also does not take into account 
the generally accepted presumption that when junctions reach capacity drivers will find 
alternative routes (or times) to avoid it.

Overall, it is considered that the ARCADY results are sufficiently robust to allow us to 
assess the impact on the junction and conclude that with the proposed improvements in 
place, the residual traffic impact will not be severe. 

 Unclear whether a planning obligation is proposed by the Applicant

Response: A planning obligation or legal agreement under s106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 is not being offered by the applicants and no obligation is sought by the 
Borough Council with off site highway works being dealt with by ‘Grampian Style’ planning 
conditions and through an s278 agreement under the Highways Acts which has been 
accepted by the relevant highway authorities. 

3. Amendments/Additions to the Recommendation/Conditions 

3.1 The following changes are recommended to the draft planning conditions set out on pages 
65-83 of the Regulatory Board papers.

3.2 Condition 6 (Restrictions on the Eastern part of the former Tollgate Site) be amended to:

6. The existing former hotel and other buildings within the entire site shown in the red line 
plan (site location plan at scale 1:1250) in drawing no 20129/21 (Site Development Plan – 
Proposed Built Areas) but which fall outside the red line development boundary but as 
shown within the blue line in the site location plan (drawing no 20129/21 rev B – Site 
Development Plan Access and Highways Work) shall all be demolished and all bases and 
sub-bases removed, the site levelled and seeded (grassed and wildflower) prior to the 
first occupation of the premises as a petrol filling station.  The ground levels shall be first 
approved pursuant to the requirements of condition 7 below.

Page 113



3.3 Condition 9 (Lighting) be amended to:

9. Prior to the installation of the lighting for this development, the applicant shall provide to 
the Local Planning Authority a suitable lighting scheme for any all lighting to be erected on 
the site or buildings including to the petrol filling station canopies together with a suitable 
lighting report demonstrating the that this shall not have an impact on residential 
properties greater than that found for Environmental zone E3 in table 1 of The Institution of 
Lighting Engineers (ILE) Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details before the first 
occupation of the premises as a petrol filling station and no additional lighting shall be 
installed on the site or buildings unless the specific grant of planning permission has been 
given by the Local Planning Authority.  For the avoidance of doubt the design of the 
lighting scheme shall avoid light spill from the sides of the canopies, directing 
lighting only to where it is essentially needed and with the design of apparatus such 
as to control levels of light spill, light pollution and nuisance, sky glow and glare.

Note: Additional Wording in Bold

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

That the officer recommendation remains as set out in the main report that PLANNING 
PERMISSION be granted subject to planning conditions, reasons and informatives as 
amended above in this supplementary report.

Page 114



20160215 - Tollgate Note re Quashed Decision  
 
 
Note of Matters/Additional Work/Additional Information that the Applicants (BP Oil UK 
Ltd) need to consider and submit with their now undetermined planning application to 
address all the reasons in the Letter before Claim as lodged by Clyde and Co on 
behalf of the Chief Objector (Simon Privett)  
 
Note: This advice is provided to the Applicant to highlight the main issues 
raised in the latest judicial review claim.  It does not seek to express any views 
regarding the merits of the proposal and is provided entirely without prejudice 
to the right of the Council to determine the planning application in whichever it 
may decide. 
 
 
General Points 
 
 
Revised/ Additional Planning Guidance post Board decision 07.02.2018 
 
The Planning Statement should address: 
 

 Consultation on Regulation 18 (stage 1) on GBC proposed Site Allocations 
and Development Management Policies DPD, which will in due course form 
part of and update the Gravesham Local Plan - paragraph 216 of the NPPF, 
indicates policies in this document may be accorded weight in the decision 
making process with this varying according to its stage of preparation; the 
extent to which there are unresolved objections; and the degree of 
consistency of policy with those in the Framework.   

 

 Publication by the Government of the revised NPPF (24 July 2018).  
 
 
Point 1 - Baseline 
 
The applicants need to demonstrate that it is not just a matter of the condition of the 
building but they need to show there is a realistic possibility of hotel use resuming.  
 
Demand for hotel use at this location should be shown - if the applicants want to 
show that the fall-back position is realistic. 
 
The applicants need to show whether there has been market interest in the site. 
 
They need to show demand for roadside and hotel accommodation along the A2. 
 
Possible need for info about any previous bidders 
 
Need to show whether there is any fresh interest and how realistic that is 
 
 
Point 2 - Green Belt  
 
The applicants need to undertake some sort of analysis - compare hotel use with 
new use and see what it entails in terms of intensification.   
 

Page 115



BP need to consider what was said in the High Court judgement in March 2016 in 
relation to quashing order for the combined PFS/McDonalds at this site. 
 
Impact on Openness in terms of intensification should be considered by the 
applicant.  
 
If the impact on openness from intensification is greater than the existing use the 
applicants would have to prove very special circumstances. 
 
 
Point 3 - Need and Impact 
 
It is acknowledged that competition (loss of trade) to a competitor per se is not a 
material consideration or relevant factor. 
 
However, the outcome of the latest judicial review proceedings confirmed that the 
likelihood of the existing Tollgate service station closing as a result of this 
development and what that site may be used for if it is unviable, and the impact on 
openness of any alternative uses, were issues that the Council had to consider. It is 
up to the Applicant as to how to address these issues. 
 
There should also be a thorough analysis of need at this location as part of the 
Planning Statement  
 
The question of need does arise because of the Environment Agency (EA’s) position 
in their email dated 7 February 2018 in which they had stated that the PFS at 
Tollgate was ‘seen as being suitably located to replace a previous nearby facility 
serving the A2’. 
 
It was not apparent in the EA response as to whether they saw the proposed BP 
Tollgate PFS as a replacement for the existing Tollgate Service Station (and thus 
close) or the previous Turnpike service station that had closed (2006/7) as a result of 
the A2 diversion. 
 
Nevertheless because of this and their comment that ‘representation for it meeting 
relevant local and A2 related need is accepted’ there is a requirement for the 
applicants to show need. 
 
The applicants also should consider what overriding reasons if any are there as to 
why the petrol filling station (PFS) has to be located at this particular site.   
 
If other sites had been looked at by BP but subsequently discounted this should also 
be stated. 
 
 
This should all be set out in a revised Planning Statement.  
 
 
Point 4 - Ground Water  
 
The EA response to the LPA in their email of 7 February 2018 suggests that they 
would permit a PFS in Source Protection Zone - SPZ1 even though the severest 
restrictions for a modern PFS would apply but providing storage was other than 
below ground. 
 

Page 116



However the proposed BP Tollgate site is within an SPZ2 and the original EA 
response indicated that ‘having regard to representations made on local and strategic 
need for replacement facilities along the A2 the EA would not object to the proposals 
in this instance’. 
 
The applicants need to set out why the storage facilities in this case have to be 
underground in their Planning Statement and again why this site has to be developed 
for their requirements as opposed to other sites within unproductive strata or outside 
groundwater protections zones. 
 
The applicants need to show that the development meets the overriding reason tests 
in position statement D2 of the EA's policy document, “The Environment Agency's 
approach to groundwater protection" (November 2017). 
 
The applicants should prior to resubmission undertake discussions with the EA 
direct. 
 
The applicants need to demonstrate that the storage facilities as proposed would be 
modern, site specific and appropriately monitored to reduce risks to groundwater to a 
minimum and that they abide by relevant industry standards and comply with 
government guidance on the underground storage of hydrocarbons, requiring 
relevant best practice Environmental Management plans. 
 
The EA note that the existing PFS at Tollgate service station is also in an SPZ2.  Can 
it be demonstrated that the proposed BP Tollgate facilities would be to a higher 
standard of environmental safeguarding than those current in place at the existing 
Tollgate service station. 
 
The applicants also need to consider whether there are any potential issues relating 
to the provision of underground tanks in relation to the European Union Water Frame 
Directive (2000/60/EC), which might mean that the only alternative option would be 
for above ground tanks and then there would be a Green Belt issue about loss of 
openness. 
 
 
Other Matters 
 
Impact of the development on Pedestrians/Cyclists 
 
An issue that has raised some material concerns since the Board report and as set 
out in comments received post the Board decision is whether in the scheme 
proposals that either the applicants have adequately considered and addressed the 
impact of and implications of the development on the pedestrians and cyclists 
utilising the footpaths that cross the site and that cross the slip roads on/off the A2. 
 
It is suggested that the applicants need to re-assess this and also consider whether 
there might be further off site works that could be required/offered to mitigate the 
potential impacts.  
 
 
Publicity 
 
The revised application if submitted will require fresh statutory and discretionary 
publicity and the implications for this as to how this is managed and the extent and 
how the proposal are conveyed to the public need to be considered. 

Page 117



 
 
 
Note originally drafted: 10 July 2018; revised 26 July 2018 
 
By: Peter Price, Principal Planner 

Page 118



F
F

Height

The

39.9m

TCB

4
1
8

7
0

T
o
ll
g
a
te

 H
o

u
s
e

43.9m

Ridgeway

Track

Station

Post

Balancing Ponds

Filling

D
e
f

74

C
li
ff

W
R

O
T

H
A

M
 R

O
A

D

41.2m

Tollgate

Tollgate Motor Hotel

Europa Lodge

El Sub Sta

U
n

d

ROMAN ROAD

Sunny
Bungalow

20160215

Tollgate
A2 Watling Street
Northfleet
Gravesend
Kent
DA11 7NP

¯

0 20 4010 Meters

(c) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved
Gravesham Borough Council Licence 
100019166

1:1,250

KEY

Application Site

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20190451

Site Address: 74 Parrock Street Gravesend Kent DA12 1HF

Application 
Description: Change of Use to Sui Generis House in Multiple Occupation (HMO).  

Applicant: Mr Robert Schulz

Agent: Mr Kingsley Hughes, Designscape Consultancy Limited

Ward: Central

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 3 July 2019

Publicity expiry date: 14 June 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board - September 2019

Reason for referral:

Determination of the application deferred from 24 July 2019 meeting to 
enable the applicant to address the Board’s concerns regarding the size 
of the bathrooms and to confirm that they would be fit for purpose and to 
provide further information on the adequacy of the kitchen/diner/utility 
room. 

Recommendation: Permission subject to conditions as per the original recommendation 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The application was reported to the 24 July Regulatory Board where members resolved 

(a)  that application 20190451 be DEFERRED to enable negotiations with the applicant 
and/or the applicant’s agent to address the Board’s concerns in regard to the small 
size of the bathrooms and to confirm that they would be fit for purpose, and to 
provide further information regarding the adequacy of the kitchen/diner and the 
utility room; and

(b)  that the application be reported back to the Regulatory Board (Planning) for 
determination of the application.

In recommending planning permission, it was considered by officers that the application site 
was in a suitable location and of an appropriate size for conversion into smaller units.  The 
improvements to the exterior of the building and the visual improvements to the conservation 
area and the street scene were highlighted along with the internal improvements to the building 
which has to date been much neglected.  The proposed internal layout broadly met the 
Council’s adopted amenity standards for HMO’s, and sufficient external space has been 
identified for vehicle/cycle parking given the sustainability of the site’s location, and for waste 
storage.  Attention was drawn to the fact that the property could be converted into an HMO for 

Page 121 Agenda Item 5b



6 occupants without requiring planning permission. In the light of the above, it was considered 
that the proposals were compliant with the development plan.  

Following the Board’s deferral, the applicant has submitted revised plans. 

The ensuite bathrooms have been enlarged (with the exception of one) to provide increased 
space and a kitchen layout plan has been provided to demonstrate that the kitchen/diner/utility 
room can accommodate all the amenities necessary for the proposed number of occupants in 
line with the Council’s Licensing section’s adopted amenity standards for Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO’s - 2006).  

The Private Housing Manager (Licensing) has confirmed that the accommodation meets the 
requirements of that departments adopted amenity standards for HMOs for the proposed 
number of occupants (8) and that there is no reason at this time to refuse a licence.

In the light of the revisions, it is recommended that the original recommendation to approve the 
change of use of the premises from a single dwellinghouse to an 8 person House in Multiple 
Occupation, is adhered to, subject to the amendment of condition 2 attached to the original 
schedule of conditions to reflect the latest drawings.
____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Introduction

1.1 The application was originally considered at the last regulatory Board meeting on 24 
July 2019 where the application was deferred to enable negotiations with the applicant 
/applicant’s agent to address the Board’s concerns regarding the small size pf the 
bathrooms and to confirm that they would be fit for purpose and to provide further 
information regarding the adequacy of the kitchen/diner and utility room.  

1.2 The original report to the Board meeting on 24 July 2019 is attached as Appendix A.

1.3 For members information a copy of the Council’s adopted Licensing “Guidance to HMO 
Amenity Standards” (2006) is appended (Appendix B – hereafter referred to as ‘the 
HMO standards’).  The guidance is clear that matters such as ventilation, heating, fire 
precautions, gas and electricity are all matters dealt with through the HMO licence 
rather than the planning process. 

2. Outcome of the discussions with the applicant

2.1 As a result of discussions with the applicant, revised drawings have been submitted 
which seek to address the concerns raised by members.  The proposed revisions are 
discussed in turn below.

Ensuite Shower rooms

2.2 The room layouts have been re-examined to increase the size of the shower rooms 
while ensuring that the living/bedspace size does not fall below 10m², which is the 
minimum acceptable room size for a single occupant, specified in the adopted HMO 
standards.  A detailed layout of each room has been provided to demonstrate how the 
rooms would function for a single person.   It is worth noting that whilst this is the 
requirement for the (Licensing) HMO standards, it is considered to be of more weight 
than the adopted Planning Residential Layout Guidance, which does not specifically 

Page 122



provide detailed HMO standards, and in particular, there is no equivalent standard for a 
combined living/bedroom in the this guidance, or the Nationally Described Space 
Standards.

2.3 The HMO standards provide guidance on the type of washing facilities required, based 
on the level of occupancy, but there is no minimum space requirement specified.  
Guidance is however provided on bathroom sizes in the Council’s adopted Residential 
Layout Guidelines which states that a family bathroom including a wc should be 3.6m².  
This space standard reduces to 3.5m² for flats.  Separate standards are available for a 
bathroom and a separate wc, but there are no locally adopted standards specifically for 
shower rooms.  

2.4 The table below provides a comparison between the original shower room size and that 
currently proposed.  It will be noted that the size of the shower room to room 3 has not 
increased, but the internal arrangement has changed. 

Room 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Shower 
Room size 

Original 
m²

2.1 2.1 2.1 1.5 2.12 2.12 2.1 2.1

Proposed m² 2.44 2.44 2.1 2.1 2.55 2.55 2.55 2.55

2.5 In the absence of nationally recognised guidance on the space requirements either side 
of (span) and in front of (clearance) bathroom facilities, those produced by a national 
bathroom supplier (Victoria Plumb Ltd) have been used as an indication of the amount 
of space that a reasonable person would generally expect to find within an ensuite.  The 
suggested maximum and minimum space between facilities is as follows:

Span Clearance to the front
Minimum Recommended Minimum Recommended

Basin 760mm 1020mm 510mm 760mm

Showers
Min 

Shower 
size 760 x 
760 mm

610mm 760mm 

W/C 760mm 1020mm 510mm 760mm

2.6 The table below sets out how the enlarged shower rooms compare using the above 
suggested space measurements.

Bedroom 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Toilet
Span(mm) 760 620 980 940 990 990 990 990
Clearance
(mm)

870 790 570 910 650 650 650 650

Washbasin
Span(mm) 760 670 980 900 990 990 990 990
Clearance 870 126

0
570 690 650 650 650 650

Page 123



Bedroom 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Shower
Dimension
(mm)

105
0 x 
700

900 
x 
700

140
0 x 
700

940 
x 
700

150
0
X 
700

150
0 x 
700

150
0 x 
700

150
0 x 
700

Clearance 
(mm)

107
0

100
0

940 990 990 990 990

2.7 This shows that the proposed shower rooms would in almost all instances accord with the 
suggested minimum measurements, except in the case of room 2 (highlighted) which falls 
marginally the minimum figure.  There is no scope to increase the size of this shower room 
without compromising the size of the living/bedroom, which would result in it falling below 
the minimum standard set out in the HMO amenity standards. 

2.8 There are no changes proposed to shower arrangements for room 4.  This room will still 
have a dedicated off suite bathroom which has been increased in size to provide sufficient 
space between the shower room facilities to accord with the minimum suggested space 
measurement.  The room itself would accord with the minimum acceptable standard for a 
single person (10m²).  While having an off suite facility is not ideal, the applicant considers 
that the provision of a separate but dedicated shower room for this room would be 
preferable to a shared facility.  In particular the applicant states in his supporting Planning 
Statement that the:

“vast majority of HMO tenants (if not all tenants) would much prefer their own private 
shower and WC, as is understandable - especially so at the professional end of the market. 
We could have created larger communal bathrooms, but this would then compromise the 
privacy of the tenants. Sharing also would be highly undesirable due to competition for the 
bathroom(s) – such as the morning rush before going to work. A professional tenant would 
be very frustrated if this ran the risk of missing a train or being late for work”

2.9 For Member’s information, the applicant was asked to consider altering the washing 
arrangements to provide a wc and washbasin in each room with two separate shared 
shower/baths in room 4.  This option was rejected as the applicant for the reasons set 
out above. 

2.10 In the light of changes to the size of the shower rooms, and given the lack of the a 
national or local adopted space standard for shower rooms, the shower rooms and 
resultant changes to the living/bedroom would accord with the Council’s adopted 
amenity standards for HMO’s, and are now considered to be acceptable.

Kitchen/dining/utility room

2.11 The HMO standards state that where a kitchen is to be shared by between 7 and 10 
occupants, the minimum size of the kitchen should be 11m².  A dining area, the 
equivalent of 2m² per person, is recommended (rather than required).  The proposed 
kitchen/dining space has a combined floor area of 20m², plus a separate utility area 
(2.2m²)which provides space for a washing machine/dryer, cleaning and ironing 
equipment.  The total shared space is 17 % lower than the space standard of 27m² 
recommended in the HMO standards. 

Page 124



2.12 The size of the kitchen/dining/utility space remains unchanged.  A kitchen layout plan 
has been submitted which demonstrates that the storage and equipment requirements 
for the number of occupants can be accommodated within the kitchen area in line with 
the HMO standards.  

2.13 While the dining space falls below the recommended space standard, this is not a fixed 
standard, and can be applied flexibly, taking account of the overall space being 
provided for the proposed occupants, and the fact that given the nature of the proposed 
accommodation, residents are unlikely to sit and eat together at the same time.

3. Consultations

3.1 The Private Housing Manager has been consulted on the revisions to the proposed 
scheme and has raised the following comments:

“After looking at the revised proposals I have no further comments to make. The 
proposal meets with the adopted HMO amenity standards and I have no reason at this 
time that a licence application would be refused. A visit would be undertaken near or 
upon completion to ensure that adequate standards have been met. In the event that 
amenity standards are lacking, consideration would be given to include any additional 
requirements as a licence condition with a specified time for compliance.”

4. Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments:

4.1 As set out in the main report to the July Board meeting, the application site is on a main 
road, close to the town centre, where a high number of residential conversions have 
already been permitted.  This building is typical of others nearby and is of such a size 
and arrangement that it lends itself to subdivision into smaller units, in line with adopted 
development plan policy. Its proximity to the town centre, with good access to public 
transport and other services and facilities, renders the site sustainably located.  

4.2 The development provides the opportunity to secure positive benefits through the 
internal refurbishment of the building, which is in a poor state of repair, and external 
improvements, including the reinstatement of the front boundary wall and railings which 
is a key characteristic feature of the conservation area. This will significantly enhance 
the frontage of the building, and the wider street scene on this main route into the town, 
subject to the approval of details secured via condition.  

4.3 The proposal will deliver the appropriate treatment of the rear garden, the provision of 
some off street vehicular parking, as well as the provision of suitable waste and cycle 
storage within this area, the details of which are subject to a condition. 

4.4 There have been no objections to the scheme, and the scheme is acceptable in terms 
of the amenity of the occupants of neighbouring properties. 

4.5 The changes to the internal layout to increase the size of the shower rooms for most 
rooms will render these spaces more useable than previously proposed.  While the 
space within one shower room remains limited and the shower room to room 4 remains 
separated, in general, the changes represent an improvement in the usability of these 
rooms while retaining a living/bedroom that accords with the minimum space standards 
in the adopted HMO standards. 

Page 125



4.6 While there has been no increase in the size of the kitchen/diner/utility room, it has been 
demonstrated that kitchen space is sufficient to provide all the amenities required for the 
proposed number of occupants in accordance with the adopted HMO standards.  The 
dining space is slightly smaller than recommended in the adopted HMO amenity 
standards however this figure is only a recommendation and not a standard and is 
flexibly applied given the nature of the accommodation where all occupants are unlikely 
to eat meals together.

4.7 The Private Housing Manager confirms that the proposal meets the Council’s adopted 
HMO standards and that there is no reason that a licence would be withheld. 

4.8 Overall the scheme is considered to accord with adopted development plan policy and 
the Licensing amenity standards for HMOs and overall will provide a suitable 
accommodation for future occupants in a sustainable, location close to the town centre 

5. Conclusion 

5.1 In the light of the above, it is recommended that planning permission should be granted, 
subject to the conditions listed in the main report dated 24 July, with the exception of 
condition 2 which has been updated to reflect the latest revised drawings. 

________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

PERMISSION, subject to the followings planning conditions, reasons and informatives:

Time Limit

1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans and documents:

 Application Form (7 May 2019)
 Site Location Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/75 - Existing Block Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/76 – Existing Site Layout Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/77 – Existing Plans (Floor Plans) (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/78 Rev A - Revised Existing Elevations (10 July 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/100 – Proposed Block Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/101 Rev C - Revised Proposed Site Layout Plan (12 August 2019)
 Drawing No: 0394/102 Rev F - Revised Proposed Plans (15 August 2019)
 Drawing No: 0394/103 Rev C – Revised Proposed Elevations (10 July 2019)
 Emails from the agent dated 8 July and 11 July 2019
 Planning and Design and Access Statement and Heritage Statement (Rev A – 

August 2019) (12 August 2019)

Page 126



and pursuant to any conditions contained herein after and there shall be no deviation 
therefrom, save with the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority having first been 
obtained.

Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Prior to first use of the building  

3 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, details shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority of a secure, weather proof cycle store and its 
location within the rear garden, which provides sufficient space for 8 bicycles to be parked. 
The approved cycle store shall be implemented in full prior to the first use of the building as 
a house in multiple occupation and the structure shall thereafter be maintained and kept 
available for the parking of bicycles while the building remains in use as a house in multiple 
occupation. 

Reason: To provide for alternative modes of sustainable transport in line Core Strategy 
policy CS11 (Transport) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and the 
adopted Vehicle Parking Standards (SPG4). 

4 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, details shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority of the location and appearance of the refuse and 
recycling storage area to serve the development and the waste management 
arrangements associated with the proposed use.  The submitted details shall ensure 
adequate provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste.  The 
approved bin store and waste management arrangements shall be implemented in full prior 
to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and shall thereafter be 
maintained while the building remains in use as a house in multiple occupation.

Reason: In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area, to 
preserve the residential and visual amenities of the locality in accordance with policy CS19 
(Development and Design Principles) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014)

5 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, a scheme of hard and soft landscaping shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall 
include full plans and specifications for all hard and soft landscaping works within the site 
frontage and rear garden, including any new walls or fences and the means of 
safeguarding the trees within the rear garden during any resurfacing works. 

The approved scheme shall be implemented in full prior to the first use of the building as a 
house in multiple occupation.

Reason: To protect the visual amenity and character of the area and ensure an 
satisfactory environment for future occupants in accordance with policy CS19 
(Development and Design Principles) and CS20 (Heritage and the Historic Environment) of 
the Gravesham local Plan Core Strategy, 2014

6 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, the two parking spaces shall be laid out in 
accordance with the details approved pursuant to condition 5 and thereafter kept available 

Page 127



for vehicular parking in connection with the use of the building as a house in multiple 
occupation,

Reason: To ensure an adequate and satisfactory level of parking provision, in accordance 
with policy CS11 (Transport) of the Gravesham local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and saved 
policy P3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994). 

7 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation, a scheme for the 
rebuilding of the front boundary wall including railings and piers, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include drawings to 
a scale of 1:20 and 1:5 of the proposed wall, railings and piers. The development shall be 
carried out in full in accordance with the approved details prior to the first use of the 
building as a house in multiple occupation. 

Reason:  In order to ensure special regard is paid to protecting the character and 
appearance of the Windmill Hill Conservation Area pursuant to Policy CS20 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and saved policy TC3 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan First Review 1994.

8 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation, full joinery details in 
the form of half or full size cross sectional drawings of the replacement third floor front box 
framed vertical sliding sash windows and new four panelled front door (which shall be of 
timber construction only), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority The works shall be carried out in full in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation.

Reason: No such details have been submitted and in order to ensure special regard is 
paid to protecting the character and appearance of the Windmill Hill Conservation Area 
pursuant to Policy CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and saved 
policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994).

Other 

9 No post boxes, meter boxes, vents or flues or other service outlets or piping shall be 
attached to or inserted into the front elevation of the building at any time.

Reason:  In order to ensure special regard is paid to protecting the character and 
appearance of the Windmill Hill Conservation Area pursuant to Policy CS20 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and saved policy TC3 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan First Review (1994).

INFORMATIVES 

1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019, the Local Planning Authority has 
approached the assessment and determination of this application in a positive and 
creative way and, where appropriate, has worked pro-actively with the applicant to 
secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development 
Plan for the area.

Page 128



2 DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED PLANS 

It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as 
a ‘material’ change requiring a further application/permission.  In the event that any 
change is proposed, applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning 
Authority [as proceeding without the necessary permissions could nullify this 
permission].

3 WORKS OF CONSTRUCTION

Hours of work of construction site plant, equipment and machinery, should be restricted 
to not earlier than 7.00 a.m. and not later than 6.00 p.m. weekdays and Saturday 
working should be restricted to not earlier than 8.00a.m. and not later than 1.00 p.m.  
No work shall be carried out on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. 

i.  Suitable sound attenuation shall be used at all times in respect of all plant, 
machinery and equipment in operation on site in order to aid prevention of noise 
nuisance.  Compliance with BS 5228: Part 1: 1984 and subsequent amendments 
regarding the use of equipment on site will be required in appropriate cases.

ii.  A suitable method of control shall be used in order to aid prevention of dust 
nuisance arising from work activities on site.

iii.  Burning of waste materials shall not be carried out on site.  Such materials are to be 
stored in a suitable receptacle, as far from residential accommodation as reasonably 
practicable, pending disposal off site.

iv.  Adequate arrangements shall be made to remove all waste material from the site on 
a regular basis and to dispose of it at a suitably licensed waste disposal site.

4 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT 

This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building 
Regulations or under any other enactment or provision.  Nor does it override any 
private rights which any person may have relating to the land affected by this decision, 
including the provisions of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.

Page 129



Regulatory Board 24.07.2019 - Committee Report APPENDIX A 
Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



 

Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



 

Page 150



 

Page 151



Page 152



20190451
74 Parock Street, Gravesend, DA12 1HF

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 20 4010 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,250

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20190372

Site Address: Land Adjacent to 90 Downs Road, Istead Rise, Gravesend, Kent
DA13 9HQ.

Application 
Description:

Erection of four bedroom dwelling with associated parking and 
landscaping.

Applicant: Mr Evans

Agent: Mr Ben Kilgore, BDK Consulting Ltd

Ward: Istead Rise

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 16th August 2019

Publicity Expiry Date: 5th July 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board – 4 September 2019

Reason for referral:
At the Request of Cllr Burden so Members can consider this 
proposal in relation to the village boundary.

Recommendation: Refusal 

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

The proposal is to construct a detached dwelling within the side garden of 90 Downs Road within 
the Green Belt. The application site contains a number of trees, lawn and vegetation at the 
western end of the site. There are no buildings or structures within the redline boundary.

The application site is not considered to meet any of the Green Belt exceptions as set out in 
paragraph 145 of the NPPF (It does not form part of the village known as Istead Rise) and the 
proposal is therefore considered to be ‘inappropriate’ development in the Green Belt and no very 
special circumstances exist to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.

In addition there have been 4 previous refusals for residential development on this site ranging 
from 1980 to 2014 and this recommendation is consistent with the previous 4 refusals. 

As such it is considered that this planning application cannot be supported.

1. Proposal and Site Description 

1.1 The proposal is to construct a detached chalet style dwelling in the side garden of 90 
Downs Road and consists of 4 bedrooms with an attached garage to the south.

Page 155 Agenda Item 5c



1.2 The maximum height of the dwelling is 6.97m with a floor area of 116.96m² and the 
proposed plans show hardstanding to the front of the property along with a vehicular 
access onto Downs Road. 

1.3 The application site contains a number of trees, lawn and vegetation at the western end 
of the site. There are no buildings or structures within the redline boundary. 

1.4 The front of the site has fencing around 1m high with vehicular access in the centre of the 
site providing a parking space for 1 vehicle. 

1.5 The site originally formed part of the Walnut Woods until permission was granted in 1986 
to change the land the subject of this application into residential garden for 90 Downs 
Road.  

2. Relevant Planning History

2.1 Since the construction of the dwelling of 90 Downs Road (Which pre dates 1940) there 
have been the following relevant applications in the side garden of 90 Downs Road. It 
should be noted the latest refusal for residential development on the plot was recent 
(January 2014).  

20130911 - Erection of detached two storey, three bedroom dwelling with detached 
double garage. Refused 15.01.2014 

19990615 - Outline application for the erection of detached dwelling and garage. 
Refused 01.11.1999

19860594 - Change of use of land to residential garden and formation of vehicular access 
on land between 88 and 90 Downs Road. Permitted 29.09.1986

19800403 - Outline application for the erection of two detached two storey dwellings with 
garages. Refused 24.06.1980

19800153 - Outline application for the erection of 5 detached two storey dwellings with 
garages. Refused 15.04.1980

3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS01 – Sustainable Development 
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS11 - Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS15 – Housing Density
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19 – Design & Development Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network

Page 156



Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Development 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
• Section 13 – Protecting Green Belt land
• Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
• Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015; and
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards.
• Landscape Character Assessment (2009)

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Publicity

4.1 This application was advertised with an site notice and the adjacent property to the 
north was consulted by letter. The consultation period had an overall expiry date of 
17 May 2019 and no comments were received from 3rd parties. 

Consultees 

Internal 

Highway Development Management Officer 
No objection but states the new access requires sight lines of 43m x 2.4m x 43m at the 
access, although it may be possible to reduce this if evidence is available on actual 
speeds.

The sight line requirements appear to be achievable as although they cross over 
neighbouring land, there is no permanent obstruction except for a boundary fence which 
appears to be in the applicant’s ownership and could be removed for the section required 
for the sight lines.  

External

Kent Fire & Rescue Service
Confirms that means of access is considered satisfactory.

Natural England
No objection subject to securing appropriate mitigation  

Environment Agency
Does not object to the proposal in principle providing only clean surface water 
drainage goes to soakaway with sealed trap gullies, as the site is in an Source 
Protection Zone 1 for public water supply. Furthermore, foul drainage must be 
connected to mains.

Kent County Council Highways & Transportation Services

Page 157



No objection but requests standard KCC informative to be included.

5. Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

Site Context

5.1 The application site lies within the Green Belt as defined on the adopted Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) policies map and this must be the starting point for 
determining this application. Paragraph 136 of the NPPF states that Green Belt 
boundaries should only be amended in exceptional circumstances, in the context of the 
preparation or review of a Local Plan, it is not for the current application to seek to 
amend such a policy designation.

5.2 Similarly, whilst the Council is committed under policy CS02 (LPCS) to meet its full 
objectively assessed housing need for housing and employment and to undertake a 
strategic Green Belt review, if required, to achieve this end, it is not for this application 
to pre-empt due process given the outcome of this process may be to identify 
preferable and more sustainable alternatives.

5.3 On this matter, it is noted that the Inspector in finding the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (2014) sound, was clearly of the opinion that a plan-led process should be 
followed rather than the ad hoc release of sites. The Inspector’s report states at 
paragraph 48 that:

Nevertheless, a small element of total new housing supply would still need to come 
from the Green Belt to meet the overall requirements in the plan period, albeit in the 
latter part thereof. This should only reasonably and realistically be identified as part of 
a formal Green Belt review process that includes full public consultation and a 
comparative assessment of realistic opportunities, rather than through any “one off” 
releases in advance thereof. This should be conducted through a formal statutory 
process, as distinct from any ad hoc site by site decisions that would not necessarily 
identify the most suitable and sustainable locations for any new housing that may be 
required in the Green Belt.

5.4 It is therefore considered that the key issues in this application relating to the Green 
Belt are:

• Whether the proposal is inappropriate development in the Green Belt for the 
purposes of the National Planning Policy Framework and development plan policy.

• Whether any harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations, so as to amount to the very special circumstances 
necessary to justify the development.

Housing Need 

5.5 In regard to housing need, Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively 
assessed need for housing over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that 
there is a need for at least 6,170 new dwellings during the period. Evidence now 
available shows that the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year housing supply. 
This engages the first part of footnote 7 of the NPPF and this means for decision-taking   
that planning permission for applications involving the provision of housing should 
granted in line with the requirements of the NPPF Para 11(d) unless:

Page 158



i. the application of policies in this Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed. 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the   
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken

5.6 The proposed development for a net increase of 1 dwelling would offer a minimal 
contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, it is  considered that this 
should be accorded minimal weight in support of the application. However, this has to 
be balanced against other requirements of the NPPF which requires development to  
add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local 
character and create acceptable amenity for future occupiers and not be harmful to the 
Green Belt.

5.7 The applicant has failed to provide any evidence that the proposed scheme would not 
adversely affect the integrity of habitats sites i.e. carried out an appropriate 
assessment, therefore in keeping with Paragraph 177 of the NPPF the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development would not apply to this application. As alone or in 
combination with other development the proposed scheme is likely to have a significant 
effect on habitats sites. 

Whether the proposal is inappropriate development in the Green Belt

5.8 Paragraph 145 of the NPPF states that a Local Planning Authority should regard the 
construction of new buildings as inappropriate in Green Belt. Exceptions to this are:-

a) Buildings for agriculture and forestry;

b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a  
change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds 
and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and 
do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;

c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building

d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces;

e) limited infilling in villages;

f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out the 
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and

g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), 
which would: 

‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or 
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an 
identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority.

5.9 Clearly (a), (b), (c), (d) and (f) do not apply in this instance as the proposal is not for 

Page 159



agriculture or forestry, appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, 
cemeteries, burial grounds or allotments, extension or alteration of an existing building, 
is not a replacement building and it is not affordable housing.

5.10 Consideration therefore needs to be given as to whether the development falls under 
(e) or (g).The site the subject of this application is the side garden of 90 Downs Road 
and therefore meets the definition of previously developed land (Case Law (Dartford 
Borough Council -v- SSCLG [2017] EWCA Civ 141, 14 March 2017). However this 
application has been submitted based on the premises of the proposal meeting 
exception (e) limited infilling in villages. As such the proposal will be considered against 
145 (e) ‘limited infilling in villages’ of the NPPF. 

5.11 Neither the NPPF or the development plan define the terms ‘limited’, ‘infilling’ or even 
what constitutes a ‘village’. Because of this, the following points need to be addressed 
to determine whether the proposal should be considered as an exception or be deemed 
‘inappropriate’ development.

5.12 These points are:

• Whether Istead Rise is a village
• If Istead Rise is a village, where its boundary lies relative to the application site
• Whether the proposal subject to this application can be considered ‘limited’; and
• Whether the proposal constitutes ‘Infilling’

5.13 For the proposed development to constitute an ‘exception’ rather than be classed as 
‘inappropriate’ development, it is contended that all of the above criteria need to be 
met.

Whether Istead Rise is a village

5.14 The adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) at 4.2.4, Table 2 and at 4.2.6 
sets out a settlement hierarchy with 13 rural settlements inset from the Green Belt and 
two others (Harvel and Luddesdown) that are ‘washed over’. None are specifically 
identified as ‘villages’.

5.15 It is stated at 4.2.6 that where the rural settlements have been inset, the boundaries do 
not define the full extent of each settlement but relate to a coherent and established 
built up area where infilling would not adversely affect local character and identity or 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt.

5.16 This settlement hierarchy is reproduced below:

First Tier Settlements Gravesend/Northfleet/Ebbsfleet, i.e. the urban
 area

Second Tier Settlements Istead Rise, Hook Green Meopham, Higham
Third Tier Settlements Culverstone Green, Meopham Green, Vigo
Fourth Tier Settlements Cobham, Shorne, Sole Street
Other Settlements Harvel, Lower Higham, Luddesdown, Lower 

Shorne, Shorne Ridgeway, Three Crutches

         Source: Settlement Hierarchy Technical Paper December 2009

5.17 As noted above, there is no definition of a ‘village’ in either the NPPF or the 
development plan. Whilst the boundaries and status of individual rural settlements may 

Page 160



be subject to review in the context of the emerging Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies DPD, the boundaries shown on the policies map derive directly 
and are unchanged from those shown on the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 
proposals map (1994) as villages under now defunct policy V1.

5.18 This issue has been recently considered at appeal where the Planning Inspector 
(APP/K2230/W/16/3161653) considered whether Culverstone Green is a village and 
the Inspector stated:

Culverstone Green is defined in the Council’s Core Strategy (CS) 2014 as a 3rd tier 
settlement and it is inset from the Green Belt boundary. Paragraph 4.2.6 of the CS 
states that where settlements have been inset, the boundaries do not define the full 
extent of each settlement but relate to a coherent and established built-up area where 
infilling would not adversely affect local character and identity or impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt. From what I have seen and read, it seems to me that 
Culverstone Green may be regarded as a ‘village’ for the purposes of this aspect of 
this appeal.

5.19 Istead Rise has its origins as a detached housing estate in the rural area under the now 
defunct Northfleet Urban District Council.  However, because it has all of the 
characteristics of a village in terms of having a local centre, church and a range of other 
facilities, treating Istead Rise as a ‘village’ would appear to be consistent with the intent 
of national Green Belt policy.

As Istead Rise is a village, where does its boundary lie relative to the application site?

5.20 As paragraph 140 of the NPPF only allows ‘villages’ to be excluded from the Green Belt 
by way of an inset designation and the above mentioned rural settlements are inset 
from the Green Belt within the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, it is 
considered that Istead Rise should be treated as a village for the purposes of the 
application of planning policy.

5.21 As Istead Rise is considered for the purposes of this application to be a village, the 
question arises what are its boundaries are on the ground and whether the application 
site lies within those boundaries. In this context it will be noted that the Court of Appeal 
case (Wood v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2014] EWHC 
683 (Admin)) is relevant. This case related to application 20120693 which was an outline 
application for the erection of a detached dwelling and garage adjacent to See-Ho Public 
House Shorne located within the Green Belt.. 

5.22 In quashing the original decision, the Court did not make a planning judgement as to 
where the boundary of Shorne might lie, instead concluding that the original appeal 
Planning Inspector had misdirected himself, in accepting the Green Belt/inset boundary 
as being the edge of the village (as defined within the development plan) after he had 
already noted the built development continuing to the east. As such the decision-maker 
must consider as a matter of fact on the ground if the site is within in the village and the 
village boundary may be different from the boundary of the rural settlement inset from the 
Green Belt.

5.23 Whilst the application site is outside the identified adopted inset rural settlement 
boundary, paragraph 4.2.6 of the Local Plan Core Strategy accepts that these 
boundaries do not necessarily represent their full extent.  Rather, they are intended to 
relate to the coherent and established built up area where policy accepts infilling would 

Page 161



not adversely affect local character or identity or impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt.

5.24 In regard to the application site, it is considered that there remains a clear distinction 
between the existing residential development to the north - which in this instance 
corresponds with the adopted inset rural boundary - within the village envelope and the 
application site which is void of built development. The application site shares the 
characteristics of undeveloped woods within the Green Belt and does not share any of 
the characteristics of the village of Istead Rise to the north. This is demonstrated on the 
following photographs taken in August 2019. 

Application Site 

Housing to the North (Within inset rural boundary and village envelope)

5.25 Istead Rise was a post war housing development. When Northfleet Urban District 
Council developed Istead Rise the boundary for the settlement was carefully 
considered and since its creation it has not been amended. 

5.26 In the case of the application site it would appear Northfleet Urban District Council                   
concluded that the established woodland extending from the west onto the application 
site (Known as Walnut Woods) forms a clearly identifiable marker / barrier for the 
southern element of the village. As such residential development has not expanded 
south into Walnut Woods since the development of Istead Rise. 

5.27 The following aerial photographs from 1940 to 1990 demonstrate how the village of 
Istead Rise to the north of the application site evolved. 

Page 162



1940 1960

  

1990 2018

  

5.28 In the case of the 
application site it  no visual connection with the dwellings to the north within Istead Rise 
village and whilst it is residential curtilage it was historically woodland and still has a 
number of trees within the site and shares the characteristics of the woodlands rather 
than the more urbanised village to the north. 

5.29 As a result of the above it is concluded that there remains a clear distinction between 
the more built up areas of Istead Rise village and the application site wooded land to 
the south. Quite rightly the application site is washed over by Green Belt designation as 
it is considered important to maintain its openness as a key characteristic of the Green 
Belt.

5.30 As such the designated rural settlement boundary shown on the adopted policies map 
clearly reflects the discernible village as evident on the ground and that the application 
site lies beyond it, within the Green Belt.  The proposal is therefore considered to be 
‘inappropriate’ development in the Green Belt and does not form part of the village 
known as Istead Rise. 

Page 163



Whether the proposal subject of the application can be considered ‘limited’.

5.31 Whilst the development is considered to not lie within a village, because the proposal 
only comprises a single detached dwelling it can be considered to be ‘limited’.

Whether the proposal constitutes ‘infilling’. 

5.32 Again, whilst the development is considered to not lie within a village, it is, in the 
interests of thoroughness, necessary to consider if the proposal constitutes infilling. 
Neither the NPPF nor the development plan currently defines the term ‘infilling’. 
However it is accepted the generally agreed definition of infilling is as follows:

The development of a small gap in an otherwise continuous built-up frontage, or the 
small-scale redevelopment of existing properties within such a frontage.

5.33 The application site consists of a frontage of some 16m, with the dwelling of 90 Downs 
Road to the south and 88 Downs Road to the north. As such it is considered that for the 
purposes of infilling the proposal would represent infilling. This has been established by 
the recent appeal decision (APP/K2230/W/17/3183170 – Twinville, Meopham) where 
an inspector concluded that a site adjoined on three sides by existing houses could 
meet the definition of infilling. 

The appeal site consists of a roughly rectangular shaped piece of land, bordered on the 
western side by Rhododendron Avenue. The site is largely covered by rough grassland, 
with some trees around the site edges, including the boundary with the highway. The 
northern, eastern, and southern boundaries all border existing houses and their plots, 
with these borders mainly demarcated by close boarded fencing. On the other side of 
the road lies a further house. I therefore consider that the site would represent an 
infill plot, and the first part of bullet point 5 of paragraph 89 is therefore satisfied.

5.34 Notwithstanding this the Inspector in that appeal concluded that even though it may 
constitute infilling, it is not within the village and is thus inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt. The Inspector stated:

I therefore conclude that although the site would constitute infill, it does not fall within a 
village. The proposal is therefore inappropriate development in the Green Belt, and as 
such conflicts with the Framework and Policy CS02 of the Core Strategy.

Conclusion on Green Belt issues and assessment of harm

5.35 Relevant appeal decisions and case law, as well as the appearance, position, character 
and setting of the site itself, have been taken into account in officers consideration of 
the extent of the settlement of Istead Rise relative to the application site.  It is 
concluded that the application site lies outside the settlement of Istead Rise which for 
the purposes of the NPPF is a village and the site is located within the Green Belt. 
There have been no significant changes in circumstances since that boundary was 
defined that would warrant a different interpretation being taken now. This is not 
withstanding the fact the proposal is considered to be ‘limited and infilling’.

5.36 It is therefore considered that the proposal represents ‘inappropriate’ development in 
the Green Belt which is by definition harmful and which should only be permitted where 
the applicant can demonstrate ‘very special circumstances’ that clearly outweigh harm 
caused by inappropriateness and any other harm.

Page 164



5.37 In undertaking the balancing exercise to determine whether or not those ‘very special 
circumstances’ clearly outweigh such harm, substantial weight must be accorded to the 
harm caused to the Green Belt.

5.38 The harm to the Green Belt in this instance primarily comprises:

Permanent loss of openness – Openness and permanence are the essential 
characteristics of the Green Belt. The site is currently a laid lawn with a number of 
trees. The construction of a dwelling with associated parking, hardstanding, residential 
paraphernalia and lighting will permanently and irrevocably harm the Green Belt 
though loss of openness at this point. Whilst it may be possible to mitigate visual 
impact to a limited degree by screening, this cannot in itself overcome the adverse 
impact on openness which is defined by the presence or absence of the buildings 
themselves.

Encroachment of the countryside – This is a stated national purpose of the Green 
Belt at paragraph 134 of the NPPF. The construction of dwelling on the site would 
introduce an urbanising features (Car parking, light pollution, hard landscaping and 
residential paraphernalia) that would adversely affect the character of the settlement at 
a point of transition from the built form of Downs Road to the wooded area to the 
south/east. Whilst landscaping and boundary treatment could be introduced to reduce 
the impact of the development on the development would represent the encroachment 
of built development which would result in a reduction in openness. 

Safeguarding the countryside by minimising the expansion of the Borough’s 
rural settlements - This is a stated local purpose of the Green Belt as set out at 
paragraph 4.2.7 of the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014). As noted 
above, it is considered the proposal subject of this application represents an 
encroachment in the countryside. This would take place as a result of the effective 
expansion southwards of the Istead Rise rural settlement. A further concerned is that 
this could establish a precedent for similar such development elsewhere in the 
borough.

Consideration of ‘very special circumstances’

5.39 The application as submitted did not include any argument for ‘very special 
circumstances’.

Final balancing exercise on Green Belt issues 

5.40 The application site lies within the Green Belt and constitutes ‘inappropriate’ 
development. The proposal introduces 1 dwelling onto a site which currently contains 
no built form. This proposal adversely impacts on the openness of the Green Belt at a 
point of transition between the more densely and finer grained development within the 
Istead Rise settlement, and the application site, adjoining woods and countryside to the 
east west and south which are within the Green Belt. The introduction of built 
development on the application site would blur the distinction between the two areas 
and represent an encroachment of the countryside through the insertion of an 
urbanising form.

5.41 It is considered therefore that substantial weight should be accorded to Green Belt 
harm as directed by the NPPF.

5.42 The Local Planning Authority is of the opinion that the applicant has failed to 

Page 165



demonstrate the existence of ‘very special circumstances’ that clearly outweigh harm to 
the Green Belt caused by inappropriateness.

Impact on the Landscape

5.43 Section 11 of the NPPF highlights the importance of conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment, one aspect of which is the protection and enhancement of valued 
landscapes.  Policy CS12 (LPCS) states that the overall landscape character and 
valued landscapes within the Borough will be conserved, restored and enhanced and 
that proposals will take account of the Gravesham Landscape Character Assessment.

5.44 In May 2009 the Local Planning Authority published the Gravesham Landscape 
Character Assessment which identified 11 distinct areas within the borough. The 
application site falls within Istead Arable Farmlands.

5.45 The 2009 Landscape Character Assessment lists the following key characteristics 
found within Istead Arable Farmlands as follows:
 Gently undulating topography with open arable fields
 Fields divided by tracks, roads and occasional hedgerows
 Orchards to the east
 Minor native woodland clumps
 Few roads, which are open in character
 Istead Rise modern housing development
 Clusters of properties and farmsteads
 Large pylons

5.46 The Gravesham Landscape Character Assessment demonstrates the qualities with 
make the landscape area special and undermines Policy CS12 (LPCS) which seeks to 
conserve and enhance its quality.

5.47 It is considered that no amount of landscaping/planting would be able to repair the loss 
of landscape quality and character following development.  The site is a mixture of laid 
lawn, trees and semi-mature vegetation which was historically part of the minor native 
woodland clump known as Walnut Woods. 

5.48 The introduction of detached dwelling with all the associated residential paraphernalia, 
particularly in regard to the large proportion of forecourt area given over to vehicle 
parking and turning, affording relatively little space for replacement landscaping, will 
significantly  undermine one of the key characteristics of Istead Arable Farmlands 
which are minor native woodland clumps.

5.49 The impact of residential development on Istead Arable Farmlands has very recently 
been considered at appeal for Willerby Farm (APP/K2230/W/18/3211128)  where the 
Inspector stated:

Fundamentally however, the proposal would give the appeal site an unmistakeably 
residential character with the inevitable attending enclosure, activity, lighting and 
domestic paraphernalia. As such, it would lead to the encroachment of modern 
residential development into the rural landscape.

5.50 The Inspector went on to conclude:

I recognise that the appeal proposal would be visible from a limited number of 
viewpoints. Furthermore, with the exception of the close range view along the site 

Page 166



access, it would not be conspicuous in external views. Nevertheless, by virtue of its 
impact on the rural character of the site and its setting, I consider the proposal would 
not conserve, restore or enhance the landscape. As such, it would conflict with CS 
Policy CS12. It would also conflict with CS Policy CS19 to the extent that it requires 
development to conserve and enhance the character of the natural environment.

5.51 In summary, the proposed development would adversely affect the existing rural 
character of site, and its contribution to the wider character of the area, causing it to 
become more suburban and less rural. The proposal would therefore cause harm to the 
landscape character and natural beauty of the valued landscape. Therefore this 
proposal would conflict with Policy CS12 (LPCS) which seeks to ensure valued 
landscapes will be conserved, restored and enhanced.

Design

5.52 When evaluating the design of this application it needs to be considered against the 
design principles of Policy CS19 (LPCS) which require development to conserve and 
enhance the character of the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well 
with the surrounding local area and meet anti-crime standards. At a national level the 
NPPF at section 12 provides guidance on providing good design.

5.53 It is considered that, putting aside the impact of the built form on the landscape, and 
upon the Green Belt, its form, massing and design is acceptable and would comply with 
local and national planning policy independent of the aforementioned, overriding issues.

The effect on neighbouring properties living conditions

5.54 Gravesham’s adopted residential layout guidelines provide clear guidance on the window 
to window distance between dwellings and how to consider impact on overshadowing. 
Having considered these guidelines, the development would not exert an adverse impact 
on neighbouring properties living.

Effects on highway safety/parking provision

5.55 The application needs to be considered against saved policy T1, T5 and P3 of 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994), Policy CS11 of Gravesham Core Strategy 
and Section 4 of the NPPF. These policies ensure that development has an acceptable 
amount of parking, is not detrimental to the highway network and promotes sustainable 
transport methods.

5.56 The proposal would provide an acceptable amount of onsite parking and the proposed 
dwellings will not have an adverse impact on the surrounding highway network.

5.57 Gravesham Highway Engineer raises no objection subject to a condition on visibility 
splays being secured through a planning condition. If the application was to have been 
supported the highway requirements would be conditioned. Furthermore an existing 
highways access onto the application site exists which was approved under reference 
19860594.

Sustainable Development

5.58 The site fronts onto Downs Road which is served by a bus route and is only 10 minutes’ 
walk to Istead Rise local centre which includes a number of shops and just behind the 
local centre is a doctor’s surgery. To the north of the site less than 10 minutes’ walk is 
Istead Rise Surgery. 

Page 167



5.59 Therefore for the purposes of this application it is considered to be in a sustainable 
location and complies with local and national planning policy in this regard. 

Living environment for future occupiers

5.60 Planning Policy requires that development provides adequate living conditions for future 
occupiers and this is reinforced by the Council’s Residential Layout Guidelines. These 
provide requirements for room sizes and amenity space. Consideration also needs to be 
given against how the scheme compares to the Nationally Described Space Standards.

5.61 In this case, the proposed dwelling complies with all local and national room size 
standards, would provide adequate levels of sunlight, daylight and outlook, and has 
acceptable garden depth/area in terms of size requirements against the adopted 
residential layout guidelines.

Drainage 

5.62 The application site lies within Ground Source Protection Zone 1 and is not within a flood 
zone. The Environment Agency has been consulted and their response raised no 
objection subject to only clean surface water drainage goes to soakaway with sealed trap 
gullies, as the site is in an Source Protection Zone 1 for public water supply.

5.63 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage and 
surface water run-off.   Kent County Council (KCC) is the Lead Local Flood Authority and 
have not been consulted as they do not provide comments on schemes of this size. As 
KCC have provided comments on similar developments within the borough if the 
application was to be supported the standard KCC condition on sustainable surface 
water drainage would be included which would require the following:

1. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Council.

2. Details of operation and maintenance of the sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme.

3. Verification Report pertaining to the surface water drainage system.
4. Details of infiltration if used to manage flood water.

5.64 In summary it is not considered that the proposal would conflict with Policy CS18 
(LPCS) in regard to drainage matters.

Ecology and Biodiversity

5.65 The application site falls within 6km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA) classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive which 
requires Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed on 
Annex 1 of the European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European 
context, and also sites that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  It 
is also listed as a Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention 
(Ramsar Site).  Studies have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in 
areas that are busiest with recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found 
that additional dwellings were likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing 
disturbance to protected bird species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and Ramsar 
Site.  The studies found that 75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent coast 
originate from within 6 km of the SPA boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts of 
recreational disturbance can be such that they affect the status and distribution of key 

Page 168



bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of the 
European Sites.  

5.66 The Local Planning Authority has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every 
planning application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 
6km zone since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and 
Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £245.56 per dwelling).  This 
approach is approved by Natural England for all new residential developments.

5.67 For every planning application for a new dwelling, which does not require any other 
contributions to be secured through a Section 106 legal agreement or unilateral 
undertaking, the tariff has been secured through a freestanding contribution agreement.

5.68 The tariff has previously been accepted effectively in lieu of an Appropriate Assessment 
(AA). However in a recent Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling this approach 
not considered to be valid, as the CJEU ruling considered the first stage to be a 
screening assessment as to whether the development either alone or in combination, is 
likely to have significant effects on a designated site without mitigation.  The CJEU 
sees a distinction between “the plan or project” itself and “measures intended to avoid 
or reduce the harmful effects of a plan or project on a European site”. This means that 
mitigation measures, which are intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be 
assessed within the framework of an AA and that mitigation measures cannot be taken 
into account at the screening stage.

5.69 An AA could conclude that mitigation measures (in the form of a tariff payment) are 
required and such payments would still need to be secured. However, adequate 
information to inform an AA has not been submitted, nor has any contribution 
agreement been provided, therefore it is not been possible to undertaken an AA or 
satisfactorily conclude that adequate measures could be put in place to mitigate the 
significant adverse effects of permitting the development on the designated site of the 
North Kent Marshes SPA/Ramsar.

5.70 This proposal is considered to be contrary to Paragraphs 175 and 176 of the NPPF and 
Policy CS12 (LPCS).

6. Conclusion 

6.1 The proposal has been fully evaluated and the proposed is considered to constitute 
inappropriate development within the Green Belt and will have an adverse impact on 
the wider landscape. 

6.2 In the absence of adequate information to inform an AA, the Council are unable to 
satisfactorily conclude that adequate measures could be put in place to mitigate the 
significant adverse effects of permitting the development on the designated site of 
the North Kent Marshes SPA/Ramsar. As such the proposal is considered to be 
contrary to Paragraphs 175 and 176 of the NPPF and Policy CS12 (LPCS).

6.3 The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to local and national planning 
policy it is recommended the proposal is refused.

_________________________________________________________________________

REFUSAL on the following grounds:

Page 169



1. The site is within the Metropolitan Green Belt.  Within the Green Belt there is a strong 
presumption against permitting new development outside of the present defined 
extent of urban areas and the present extent of any village. National Planning Policy 
Framework Section 9 (Protecting Green Belt Land) indicates that the most important 
attribute of Green Belts is their openness.  The development will not preserve the 
openness of the Green Belt through construction of 1 dwelling, associated 
hardstanding, lighting, car parking and residential paraphernalia and will conflict with 
the purposes of including land within the Green Belt as it will encroach into the 
countryside and urbanise the site.  In the absence of any 'very special circumstances' 
that may otherwise outweigh the harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other 
harm, the proposed development is considered to be contrary to the advice in 
National Planning Policy Framework Section 9 (Protecting Green Belt Land), and 
Policy CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) of the Borough Council's 
adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

2. The application site lies within the locally designated Istead Arable Farmlands, 
where local and national planning policy and guidance expect developments to 
conserve, restore and enhance the natural landscape.  The proposed 
development, if permitted, would be harmful to the landscape character when 
compared to the existing site which is laid lawn and trees. The harm from the 
redevelopment of the site in this instance would be derived from the bulk and 
massing of the dwelling, the associated hardstanding, lighting, car parking and 
residential paraphernalia.  The application is therefore contrary to Policies CS12 
and CS19 of the Borough Council's adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

3. The applicant has failed to provide any ecological evidence to inform a habitat 
regulations assessment covering the impact of the development on the SPA/Ramsar 
site or offered a financial contribution towards mitigation measures to address the 
impact of the development on the SPA/Ramsar site.  The proposal is therefore 
contrary to Policy CS12 (Green Infrastructure) of the Borough Council's adopted 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014) which seeks to ensure that 
detrimental effects on the integrity of SPA/Ramsar sites are avoided.

Page 170



223

90 47.5m

233

88

20190372
Land Adjacent To 90 Downs Road,
Istead Rise, Gravesend, DA13 9HQ

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 10 205 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:781

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20180682

Site Address: Hevercourt Residential Home, Goodwood Crescent, Gravesend
Kent, DA12 5EY.

Application 
Description:

Erection of north, south and west wing single storey extensions to 
existing care home to provide 16 additional rooms, communal 
spaces, an increase in parking area and the erection of a new 
entrance canopy.

Applicant: Mr Gilmour

Agent: Mr Timothy Ball, JHD Architects

Ward: Woodlands

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: Extension of time 5th September 2019

Publicity Expiry Date: 17th July 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board – 4TH  September 2019

Reason for referral: At the Request of Cllr Meade and Cllr Bains due to the concern 
regarding the impact on the surrounding properties. 

Recommendation: Permission

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

The proposal seeks to extend the care home with single storey extensions to the north, west and 
south which will focus around two internal courtyards and remodelling of the ground floor to 
provide a total of 27 bedrooms which is an increase of 16 bedrooms at ground floor.

Car parking on the site will be increased from 24 to 30 spaces.

Kent County Council accommodation strategy for social care projects that by 2021 Gravesham 
requires an additional capacity of 56 residential dementia care units. This proposal would go 
directly to meeting this required need.

The design is deemed acceptable and the proposal will not have an adverse impact on the 
amenity of surrounding properties as the extensions are single storey and there is no conflict with 
local or national planning policy.

The proposal is deemed to comply with local and national planning policy and subject to the 
planning conditions as set out in this report permission is recommended.

Page 173 Agenda Item 5d



1. Proposal and Site Description 

1.1 Hevercourt Residential Home was constructed during the 1960’s and has been 
operating on the site ever since. Initially it was run by Kent County Council who sold the 
site to Avante around 15 years ago who operated the site until the current applicants 
purchased the site in 2016.

1.2 The home is registered for 46 residents and the home currently operates at a capacity 
of 43 residents as several double rooms are used as single bedrooms and some 
bedrooms have been converted into lounge space.

1.3 The building has a central 3 storey block with projecting wings that have been added 
over the years.

1.4 The proposal seeks to extend the care home with single storey extensions to the north, 
west and south which will focus around two internal courtyards and remodelling of the 
ground floor to provide an a total of 27 bedrooms which is a net increase of 16 
bedrooms at ground floor. The follow image shows the location of the extensions. 

1.5 The following table shows a schedule of the proposed and existing accommodation on 
site 

Floor Existing Proposed Net gain
Ground Floor 11 27 *16

First Floor 15 15
Second Floor 15 15

Total 41 57

Page 174



1.6 The single storey extensions are mainly pitched roofs with gable ends (A small element 
of the extensions are still flat roof) with maximum slab to ridge height of 5.44m.

1.7 The extensions result in the footprint of the building increasing from 894m² to 
1571.04m² which is a 75 % increase in the footprint of the existing building.

1.8 Notwithstanding the increase in built form and the changes to the parking layout the 
site would still retain 2595m² of outside amenity space (This figure includes both 
internal courtyards and excludes the car park).

1.9 The parking to the west of the building will be increased to provide an additional 6 
spaces up from the current 24 spaces. 

1.10 The Arboricultural Method Statement states that 11 trees will be felled with a number of 
shrubs on the site being removed/reduced. 

1.11  The proposed development will allow :

 Adding 16 additional bedrooms specifically designed for people with dementia. 
These new rooms would exceed the minimum standard of 12m² suggested by KCC 
Older Persons Cate Home Design Principles. In addition a number of the existing 
bedrooms will either be remodelled or repositioned. 

 All 27 bedrooms at ground floor will have ensuites where currently none of the 11 
existing bedrooms have ensuites.

 Redeveloping the reception area to make this more welcoming and provide an 
"Internal Street" to allow more choice for residents about where they spend their 
time.

 Creating safe and secure courtyards to allow residents access to the outdoors when 
they wish, without compromising their safety and security 

 Improving the landscaping and outdoor area facilities to enhance residents’ well-
being and quality of life

1.12 As a result of this proposal it will update the dated 1960’s care home which is a bland 
and featureless building and internally has a poor layout.

1.13 To the north of the site is open space and to the east and south of the site are the 
1960’s dwellings of Goodwood Crescent.

1.14 West of the site is Cheltenham Close which was constructed in the 1990’s and 4 of 
those properties directly abuts the western boundary of Hevercourt care home. A 1.8m 
fence separates the care home from surrounding properties and land.

2. Relevant Planning History

2.1 Since the construction of the care home in the 1960’ there have been the following 
relevant planning applications 

Page 175



20100512 - Erection of single storey extension to form an enlarged laundry room. 
Permitted 26.07.2010

20000325 - Retention of the extension at the rear for replacement pump enclosure for 
disabled lift. Permitted 08.05.2001

19840741 - Erection of single storey extension to dining room. Permitted 12.11.1984 

TH/2/65/14 – Erection of Old Peoples Home.  Permitted 25.3.1965

3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS01 – Sustainable Development 
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS10 – Physical and Social Infrastructure 
 CS11 – Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS14 – Housing Type and Size
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19 – Design & Development Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
• Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development  
• Section 2 – Promoting healthy and safe communities  
• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Development 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
• Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Publicity

4.1 It should be noted that the application was advertised with the following description

Erection of north, south and west wing single storey extensions to existing care home 
to provide 24 additional rooms, communal spaces, an increase in parking area and 
the erection of a new entrance canopy.

Page 176



4.2 The above description referred to their being 24 additional rooms but counted the 
existing bedrooms. As such the description has been amended to the following:

Erection of north, south and west wing single storey extensions to existing care home 
to provide 16 additional rooms, communal spaces, an increase in parking area and 
the erection of a new entrance canopy.

4.3 This application was advertised with an article 13 site notice and letters were sent to 
89 surrounding properties. 3 rounds of consultation were undertaken with the latest 
closing on 18 July 2019. As a result of this a total of 46 letters were received. It 
should be noted that 44 of the letters received were the same letter signed by 
different residents.  A summary of the material planning considerations raised by 
neighbours are summarised below.
 The proposal will have detrimental impact on the amenity of the surrounding 

properties and the local character of the area. Contrary to local and national 
planning policy.

 The proposal is overdevelopment of the site and does not respect local context in 
relation to scale of surrounding properties and the proposal does not respect the 
character of the area.

 Intensification of use will change the character of the area and harm the amenity 
of surrounding residential properties in relation to noise disturbance. 

 The proposal will result in unacceptable levels of light pollution.
 Insufficient community engagement was undertaken prior to the application being 

submitted.
 The proposal would be harmful to the human rights of the surrounding properties.
 Concern regarding the possible loss of trees and existing soft planting.
 Insufficient natural light and poor living conditions for future occupiers. 
 The proposal will increase traffic movements harmful to the amenity of 

surrounding properties.
 Questions whether there is a need for this development of this scale.
 If the proposal is approved neighbours would wish to see conditions controlling 

hours of use and a conditions relating to means of access for construction traffic.
 Objection to the planting of any further trees of the site and the current owners 

are unable to maintain the current trees/ivy on site.

Consultees 

Internal 

Highway Development Management Officer 

33 car parking spaces will be required.  Swept path drawing is required to demonstrate 
that a large refuse freighter can be turned within the site. Much depends on the operator 
that collects the refuse and where the refuse will be collected from, this can be 
conditioned

SPG4 states that there should be a minimum of 1 cycle parking space per 10 beds. 
Therefore, with an increase of 16 bedrooms, secure weather proof cycle parking should 
be provided for two bicycles. There is sufficient space to provide this so it can be 
conditioned

An element of the car park should be reserved for disabled use, spaces 9 and 19 can 
easily be adapted, whilst 1,8,20 and 33 have some potential to be adapted at the cost of 
soft landscaping. This can easily be provided so again can be conditioned.  

Page 177



Regulatory Services

Noise
No objection to this application to extend the residential care home however it is noted 
that neighbours are concerned about the potential for noise from the home’s residents. 

The new wings will be some distance away from the residences however the 
commencement of the development shall not take place until a comprehensive Noise 
Management Plan covering all potential noise from the new developments and its 
residents and how it will be controlled on an ongoing basis is provided by the applicant 
and submitted for approval to the LPA. No works shall commence until approval of this 
report has been given by the LPA.

The approved management plan will be implemented at all times the wings are occupied. 

Refuse Arrangements 
The extended care home should have sufficient storage capacity to cope with the waste 
generated in between collections by a waste contractor (1 week).  A large internal / 
external storage area should be considered.  The distance between the storage area and 
the collection point shall not be more than 30 metres. 

Works of Construction
The commencement of the development shall not take place until a comprehensive Code 
of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts from the 
clearance/construction phase of this development is provided by the applicant and 
submitted for approval to the LPA. No works shall commence until approval of this report 
has been given by the LPA.

External

Kent County Council – Strategic & Cooperate Services
Kent’s Accommodation Strategy for social care projects that by 2021, Gravesham district 
requires an additional capacity of 56 residential dementia care units.  The Strategy will be 
refreshed to forecast to 2031 and with the increasing demographic changes for older 
people this will evidence further need.
 
The above care home development is of a size and scale that would be financially viable 
and would be needed for older people. The intended provider is one that is already 
working with Kent County Council.  From the details of their planning application it is 
understood all new rooms added to Hevercourt will have modern en-suite facilities and 
will be specifically designed for people with dementia.  However, we would appreciate a 
discussion with the provider regarding their business model for the service as plans are 
refined.  

We are also aware that the profile of existing care home accommodation needs to 
change to more modern fit for purpose accommodation and as a result could see the 
closure or remodelling of older, smaller provision. 

Therefore, on the basis the above application will specifically deliver further needed units 
of residential dementia care with modern fit for purpose design, I can confirm that Kent 
County Council Strategic Commissioning, on behalf of Adult Social Care, supports this 
application.

Page 178



Kent Fire & Rescue Service
Means of access is considered satisfactory.

Natural England
The proposed development will be covered by the C2 planning use class and will 
provide accommodation and care for frail, elderly residents who are extremely unlikely 
to visit the Thames Estuary & Marshes SPA and Ramsar site for recreational 
purposes. SAAMS payment not required in this case.

5. Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

Principle of Development

5.1 The application site lies within the urban area.  Policy CS02 Local Plan Core Strategy 
(LPCS) prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable location for 
development. Policy CS02 seeks to achieve this by:  

Promoting regeneration by prioritising the redevelopment and recycling of underused, 
derelict and previously developed land in the urban area.

5.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is explicit that planning policies and 
decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and 
other uses. Paragraph 119 advises that local planning authorities should take a 
proactive role in identifying and helping to bring forward land that may be suitable for 
meeting development needs, including suitable sites on brownfield registers or held in 
public ownership, using the full range of powers available to them. 

5.3 The application site meets the definition as previously developed land.

5.4 Policy CS14 (LPCS) states that ‘sheltered housing and extra care housing for people 
with special needs will be supported on suitable sites in areas with access to a range of 
services that provide for the needs of future occupants’. It is considered that as the site 
is an established care home (C2 – Residential Institutions) operating since the 1960’s 
the use has been clearly established on site and if there is an opportunity to increase 
the capacity of this care home policy supports this subject to no conflict with other local 
and national planning policy.

5.5 For the purposes of this application the principle of the use is not being considered but 
if the intensification of the use with the increase in residents is acceptable.

5.6 Kent County Council accommodation strategy for social care projects that by 2021 
Gravesham requires an additional capacity of 56 residential dementia care units.  The 
Strategy will be refreshed to forecast to 2031 and with the increasing demographic 
changes for older people this will evidence further need. This proposal would go 
directly to meeting this required need. A further benefit to this proposal is that the 
expansion of the care home will create 12 additional full times jobs.

5.7 In conclusion it is considered that the principle of development here is acceptable 
subject to extensions/refurbishment of the building complying with the relevant policies 
relating to design, amenity, parking provision and any other material planning 
considerations.

5.8 The key issues to be considered are as follows:
 Design, Character and appearance;

Page 179



 Amenity for future residents;
 Impact on surrounding properties;
 Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements;
 Drainage;
 Contaminated Land;
 Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking; and
 Ecology and Biodiversity.

Design, Character and appearance 

5.9 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires development to conserve and enhance the character of 
the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well with the surrounding local 
area and meet anti-crime standards. This stance is reflected in chapter 12 (Achieving 
well-designed places) of the NPPF.

5.10 The scheme before Members is a result of extensive negotiations with the architect.

5.11 The scheme as submitted originally showed a net increase of 19 bedrooms taking the 
ground floor accommodation from 11 bedrooms to a 30 bedrooms. Secondly the 
proposal being entirely flat roofed which as the below image shows would be poor 
design and provide a poor outlook from the 1st and 2nd floor residents.

Originally submitted scheme 

5.12 In order to address concerns regarding the roof design and to ensure internal layout of 
the proposed development creates the best possible environment for future occupiers 
revised plans were submitted (Neighbours were formally re-consulted on the revised 
plans) which included the following key changes:
 The internal layout of the building has been amended so there is now a corridor 

providing access around the main court yard on all side.
 The courtyard has been increased in size with 8 separate doors from the circulating 

corridor providing excellent links between the inside and outside space.
 Improved access is provided from the communal corridors to the surrounding 

gardens
 The improved internal layout now has a total of 27 bedrooms which is a net gain of 

16 over the original layout and a reduction of 3 rooms over what was originally 

Page 180



proposed. 22 bedrooms are new with the remaining 5 being remodelled existing 
rooms.

5.13 The following aerial image shows the revised layout of the extensions with the 
excessive flat roofing removed.

5.14 Whist it is acknowledged that the extensions are large it is considered that the scale of 
development proposed does not represent overdevelopment of the site.  This is due to 
it being of a form that is both reflective of the roof form and detailing of the main 
building, remaining subservient to the host building, and there is still sufficient amenity 
space to serve the development with the added bonus of two secure courtyards which 
residents could access on their own.

5.15 The site is located within a residential area but as the site is part of the pre-planned 
estate the proposed extensions to this site does not result in the building being out of 
context or character with the wider area.  The additional single storey built form is 
located a sufficient distance away from the site boundaries to site comfortable within 
the site, subject to appropriate landscaping and boundary treatments

5.16 To ensure that neighbours’ concerns are addressed and to ensure a high quality 
development, conditions will be included which ensure the following:

 Full details of external facing materials
 Details of soft landscaping scheme including details of all trees to kept, additional 

planting and a management plan for landscaping scheme.
 Details of hard landscaping scheme including details of boundary treatment, 

paths, patios and details of finish to the internal courtyards and surface treatment 
to car park.

5.17 In summary the overall design of the scheme is acceptable and its felt that the design 
which has been the subject of negotiations complies with local and national planning 
policy in relation to design and no further amendments are required to the design.

Amenity for future residents 

Page 181



5.18 Policy CS19 seeks to protect amenity and ensure acceptable future living conditions 
are included in the LPCS.  The NPPF also assists and seeks to ensure developments 
will function well, do not undermine quality of life and create attractive and comfortable 
places to live, work and visit and seeks to “secure high quality design and a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings”.

5.19 Whilst the residential layout guidelines apply more specifically to residential 
development they still provide a good indication of what an acceptable room size 
should be. Under these guidelines a double bedroom should be 11.2m² and a 
bathroom/WC should be 3.6m². 

5.20 Each of the new units has a bedroom size of 15.4m² (Apart from 1 new room which is 
11.6m² with a 2m² ensuite) with ensuites serving each room with a size of 4.1m². This is 
a clear improvement over the existing ground floor rooms which are between 10m² -
14m² and none of these rooms have ensuites.

5.21 The proposed extensions and reconfiguration of the existing ground floor increases the 
total number of bedrooms at ground floor from 11 to 27 bedrooms which is a net gain 
16. The existing 11 bedrooms are either remodelled or relocated in order to provide all 
future occupiers with ensuites.

5.22 It should be noted the minimum room sizes as suggested by the Care Quality 
Commission is 12m² and each of the new rooms are 15.4m² with 4.1m² ensuites. Some 
of the existing rooms which are being remodelled have room sizes varying from 10.3m² 
to 12.4m². As such it is considered overall that the room sizes are acceptable and 
provide accept living conditions for future occupiers. 

5.23 Outlook from all the rooms are acceptable with all new bedrooms have windows looking 
onto the communal gardens. Only 4 of the original ground floor bedrooms would look 
inwards into the smaller communal courtyard opposed to outward onto the gardens. 
However to ensure their outlook into the courtyards are acceptable a planning condition 
will require full details of the hard/soft landscaping to each courtyard and to ensure 
there is some form of defensible barrier for privacy for the bedroom windows looking 
directly into the courtyards.

5.24 Running north south and east west two wide corridors are proposed with are indicated 
on the plan as cross street and main street. Off cross street a quiet room and lounge is 
proposed along with a dining room.  In addition the reception area is being reconfigured 
to provide a more welcoming environment. 

5.25 Kent County Council have been consulted and are fully supportive of the scheme 
stating the following: 

We are also aware that the profile of existing care home accommodation needs to 
change to more modern fit for purpose accommodation and as a result could see the 
closure or remodelling of older, smaller provision. 

Therefore, on the basis the above application will specifically deliver further needed 
units of residential dementia care with modern fit for purpose design, I can confirm that 
Kent County Council Strategic Commissioning, on behalf of Adult Social Care, 
supports this application.

Page 182



5.26 To further provide future occupiers with an acceptable layout two communal courtyards 
are proposed along with new paths and patios around the exterior of the building. The 
details with the application are sparse on exactly how these areas will be designed / 
treated and as such full details of the soft and hard landscaping scheme shall be 
secured by condition. 

5.27 Subject to the above details being secured by condition it is considered that overall the 
proposal provides acceptable living conditions for future occupiers and complies with 
Policy CS19 (LPCS). 

Impact on surrounding properties

5.28 Development should not cause demonstrable harm to the amenity of any existing 
residents or property such that it will materially harm their living conditions. This is 
reflected in Policy CS19 (LPCS) which requires new development to safeguard the 
amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of 
neighbouring properties and land and paragraph 127 of the NPPF which requires the 
amenity of existing residents to protected.

5.29 Firstly it must be noted that the proposal is not looking to introduce the care home use 
into the area but simply expand the current use. 

5.30 The application has attracted 46 letters of representation with 44 of the 46 letters being 
the same letter signed by different residents. The letter raises a number of issues, not 
all of which are material planning considerations.  All material matters raised by 
residents have been fully taken into account.

5.31 With regard to the single storey extensions facing Cheltenham Close they would lie 
9.2m from the boundary fencing which is 1.8m high and the slab to ridge height of the 
single storey extension is 5.44m.  Although the scheme would introduce built form 
closer to this boundary, as the development proposed is single storey there will be no 
overlooking/overshadowing or loss of outlook for any of the residents of Cheltenham 
Close.

5.32 The distances between the proposed single storey rear (west) extension and the rear 
elevation of the existing dwellings of Cheltenham Close are shown below (varying 
between 15.5m and 21.43m).

Page 183



5.33 The extension to the south fronts onto the road into Cheltenham Close and the 
extension to the north fronts onto open space and results in no harm to amenity of 
surrounding properties, which lie at a further distance away.

5.34 To the east of the site are two storey dwellings of Goodwood Crescent. The proposed 
extensions will have no impact on these properties. As a result of this proposal car 
parking capacity would increase but the increase in parking/traffic movements would 
not be excessive, and are not considered to be liable to be detrimental to their amenity. 
A concern from some of these residents was in relation to the care/maintenance of 
trees/soft landscaping. This will be addressed by ensuring a condition for soft 
landscaping and management plan is included.

5.35 With regard to noise generated by future occupiers the external space is already in use 
as amenity space and Regulatory Services have confirmed that to date no complaints 
have been received from surrounding local residents regarding any noise or 
disturbance from the care home.

5.36 Whilst the development would increase the intensity of accommodation on site, it is not 
considered that the additional accommodation will result in a material increase in 
activity and associated noise/disturbance which would adversely impact on the amenity 
of surrounding properties. In fact there is good chance that residents are likely to use 
the two internal courtyards which would further reduce any potential noise travelling.  It 
is important to note that the new bedrooms proposed are all accessed from inside the 
building, and not directly out onto the peripheral amenity spaces.  This management of 
amenity function and site layout would by its nature make residents noise management 
more practical.

5.37 A Noise Management Plan shall be secured by condition which will set out how the use 
of premises will be undertaken to ensure that no new harmful level of disturbance 
occurs.  Again, it must be noted that officers are not aware of existing noise complaints 
having been received by the Council, and any residential use of the site would by its 
basic nature be expected to lead to activity and some degree of noise in external areas. 

5.38 A further concern from residents is the issue of light pollution generated by the 
extensions. It is not considered the extensions with their ground floor level bedroom 
windows would generate excessive lighting which would be harmful to the amenity of 
surrounding properties. 

5.39 The potential issue from light pollution has been raised as concern from objectors. 
There could be excessive external lighting and in order to address this a condition will 
be included that no external lighting shall be installed without the permission of the 
Local Planning Authority.

5.40 Neighbours raise concern that the increase of bedrooms will result in unacceptable 
increase in traffic movements. It is not considered with the nature of the existing use 
and the scale of additional accommodation proposed, with the associated visitor 
generation to the care home would increase parking or traffic movements at a level 
which would be materially detrimental to the function or safety of the surrounding 
highway network.

5.41 In order to ensure that the impact of the development during the construction phase 
has a minimal impact on the surrounding properties a construction management plan 

Page 184



will be conditioned. This would cover such issues as hours of work and ensuring wheel 
washing facilities are included on site.

5.42 In summary the proposal would not have a materially adverse impact on the amenity of 
surrounding properties and there is no conflict with local or national planning policy.

Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

5.43 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate appropriate facilities for 
the storage and recycling of waste. 

5.44 The applicant has confirmed that the existing refuse storage area located to the east of 
the laundry room is acceptable. The majority of the waste collected is domestic in 
nature with some being disposed as clinical waste.

5.45 Waste is collected weekly by arrangement with two suppliers. These arrangements will 
continue with the higher volumes generated by more residents.

5.46 A concern is raised by Gravesham Highway engineer that a swept path drawing is 
required to demonstrate that a large refuse freighter can be turned within the site. 
Much depends on the operator that collects the refuse and where the refuse will be 
collected from. 

5.47 The agent has addressed this issue and submitted a revised plan which shows there is 
sufficient space for refuse freighters to turn on site.

5.48 In summary with regard to refuse arrangements the development complies with Policy 
CS19 (LPCS).

Drainage 

5.49 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage 
and surface water run-off. KCC is the Lead Local Flood Authority, but have not 
provided comment on this application.  As KCC have provided comments on similar 
size developments within the borough it is proposed to provide the standard KCC 
condition on sustainable surface water drainage which requires the following:

1. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Council.

2. Details of operation and maintenance of the sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme.

3. Verification Report pertaining to the surface water drainage system.
4. Details of infiltration if used to manage flood water.

5.50 In summary subject to the suitable conditions there is no conflict with Policy CS18 
(LPCS).

Contaminated Land

5.51 Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF require new development to 
avoid adverse environmental impacts of land contamination and remediating 
contaminated land. 

Page 185



5.52 The use of the site prior to Hevercourt Care Home was agricultural land and there is no 
indication of there being any previous structures or historic landfill on site.

5.53 In order to ensure any unexpected contamination issues are fully addressed a 
watching brief condition for contamination will be included. 

5.54 Subject to the recommended condition no conflict with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and 
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF.

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

5.55 Policy CS11 (LPCS) states that new development should mitigate its impact on the 
public highway and that transport assessments should be provided and implemented 
to ensure delivery of travel choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. 
Furthermore, it states that sufficient car parking in new developments will be provided 
in accordance with adopted standards which will reflect the availability of alternative 
means of transport accessibility to services and facilities. This stance is reflected in the 
NPPF which states at paragraph 109 development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the cumulative impact of development are severe. 
In this instance the nature and scale of the development does not require a transport 
statement or transport assessment.

5.56 The existing care home has 24 spaces which are informally laid out. With this proposal 
to accommodate the additional accommodation and employees on site will be 
increased to 30 spaces (having been reduced from 33 space initially proposed due to 
the need to provide turning areas and no access obstructions). A net gain of 6 spaces 
will occur. For the avoidance of doubt the parking changes are as follows:

 24 spaces serving 26 full time employees along with 41 residents and their visitors.

 Under this proposal there will be 30 spaces serving 38 full time employees along 
with 57 residents and their visitors.

5.57 The Gravesham Highway Development Management Officer has reviewed the parking 
arrangements for the scheme and raises no objection to the proposal. In addition KCC 
raise no objection to the parking provision for the development

5.58 Whilst the above staff numbers and residents may appear high compared to the 
parking provisions it should be noted that the employees will be spread out of shifts 
over a 24/7 period and residents are unlikely to drive. 

5.59 The site is within walking distance of public transport links and cycle storage is provided 
on site which should help reduce reliance on the private motor vehicle to get to work.

5.60 To ensure that the scheme is future proofed and sustainable a condition will require all 
parking spaces should have passive provision for electric vehicle charging. 

5.61 A condition will be included that details of disabled parking bays shall be included in 
the layout and details of which spaces will be for staff and visitors.

5.62 There is sufficient pedestrian access to and from the site and no highway danger 
arises to pedestrians from this development. 

Page 186



5.63 Concern from objectors that the development would have an adverse impact on the 
parking situation within the area. However, there have been no complaints to date over 
the current operation of the building and the additional 6 spaces provided are sufficient. 

5.64 Subject to the provision and layingout of the new access / parking areas and passive 
EVCP provision, the proposal complies with local and national planning policy.

Ecology and Biodiversity

5.65 The application site falls within 6km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA) classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive 
which requires Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed 
on Annex 1 of the European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European 
context, and also sites that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  

5.66 The Borough Council has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every planning 
application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 6km zone 
since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and Monitoring 
Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £245.56 per dwelling).  This approach is 
approved by Natural England for all new residential developments.

5.67 Natural England have been consulted and state that that SAMMS Payment will not 
be required in this instance  as the proposed development will be covered by the C2 
planning use class and will provide accommodation and care for frail, elderly 
residents who are extremely unlikely to visit the Thames Estuary & Marshes SPA 
and Ramsar site for recreational purposes. 

5.68 As such a financial contribution is not required.

5.69 In order to facilitate this proposal 11 trees will be removed. To offsite this loss a soft 
landscaping scheme will be conditioned to ensure that the development does not lead 
to a new loss of trees or landscaping, including where feasible the planting  of some 
semi-mature trees.

5.70 Therefore the proposal complies with Paragraphs 175 and 176 of the NPPF and Policy 
CS12 (LPCS).

6. Other issues

6.1 Objectors have raised concern that the proposed development would be harmful to 
their human rights due to the impact of this development.
 

6.2 This application has to be considered in relation to the provisions of the Human Rights 
Act, in particular Article 8 (privacy/family life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol 
(protection of property).  Having regard to the principles of proportionality, it has been 
concluded that there are no issues arising from the proposal, which appear to override 
the responsibility of the Borough Council to regulate land use for the benefit of the 
community as a whole, in accordance with national law.

6.3 Neighbours have raised concern that prior to the application being submitted 
insufficient community engagement was undertaken with the surrounding community. 
The publicity and consultation undertaken by the Council has met both our own and the 
statutory requirements, and 3 separate rounds of neighbour consultation have been 
undertaken.

Page 187



6.4 Controlling the hours of use of the building would not be possible as it operates over a 
24/7 period.

7. Conclusion 

7.1 The proposed development in principle, is a sustainable form of development that 
accords with national and local policy planning policy and the additional 16 rooms will 
help meet Gravesham’s need for an additional capacity of 56 residential dementia care 
units by 2021.

7.2 The concerns from neighbours have been carefully considered and suitable details 
matter such a noise management and landscaping shall be secured by condition, in 
order to ensure that the proposal complies with local and national planning policy.

________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be GRANTED Planning Permission, subject to 
the following conditions:

Time Limit 

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason 
In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

 
Approved Plans

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans:

Drawing No.232A –P3-1 – Block Plan Existing/Proposed 
Drawing No.232A –P3-3– Ground Floor Proposed 
Drawing No.232A –P3-4-North Elevation/Existing/Proposed 
Drawing No.232A –P3-5-South Elevation/Existing/Proposed 
Drawing No.232A –P3-6-East Elevation/Existing/Proposed 
Drawing No.232A –P3-7-West Elevation/Existing/Proposed 
Drawing No.232A –P3-8-Courtyard Sections 
Drawing No.Artech TPP 01 – Tree Protection Plan 
Drawing No.Artech AIA 01 – Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Drawing No.232A-Q-4-B – Proposed Landscape Parking

Code of Construction Practice

3. Notwithstanding the details shown on Drawing No.232-P3-9A no work shall commence 
until a comprehensive Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts 
of this development is provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local 
Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall include details of hours of work during 
the construction period, delivery times for materials, parking of vehicles of site personnel 
and visitors, loading and unloading of plant and materials, storage of materials and wheel 

Page 188



washing proposals; the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved Code of Construction Practice.

Reason 
To ensure the free flow of traffic on the highway and to minimise the impact on residential 
amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

Sustainable Surface Water Drainage

4. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme for 
sustainable surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The detailed drainage scheme submitted shall 

(i) demonstrate that both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-development 
will be restricted to that of the existing site during any rainfall event (up to and including 
the climate change adjusted 100yr critical storm)

(ii) demonstrate that the existing on-site surface water flow-routes and accumulation 
points will not be altered in such a way that the development places property at risk 
from flooding during any rainfall event, up to and including the climate change adjusted 
critical 100yr storm,

(iii) demonstrate that infiltration features are not located on parts of the site where 
contamination might be present 

(iii)     include a timetable for its implementation, and

(iv) include a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which 
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, 
or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system 
throughout its lifetime. 

The surface water drainage scheme shall thereafter be implemented in full prior to first 
residential occupation of the development and thereafter maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason
To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal; 
to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, or 
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions, in accordance 
with policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Noise Management Plan

5. Prior to the first occupation of the additional ground floor bedrooms hereby approved a 
comprehensive Noise Management Plan covering all potential noise from the new 
development including residents and how it will be managed on an ongoing basis is 
provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved noise management plan shall be followed and/or implemented at all times 
when the property is in use as a residential care home.

Page 189



Reason 
To protect the amenity and the character of the area and to ensure a satisfactory 
environment for existing and future residents as well as surrounding properties in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 
2014).

 
Tree Protection Measures

6. The tree protection measures as detailed in the Arboricultural method statement dated 
21 November 2018 prepared by Arbetch shall be implemented in full and in accordance 
with the approved timetable and maintained and supervised until completion of the 
development.

 
Reason 
To ensure that trees and other vegetation to be retained are not damaged during 
construction works and to accord with in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

External Facing Materials 

7. All the external facing materials to be used in the construction of the development hereby 
permitted shall be in accordance with the details shown on Drawing No.232A-P3-10.

Reason 
To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a satisfactory 
visual relationship between the existing and new development in accordance with 
adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Extraction Vents & Plant Machinery 

8. Before any above ground works commence, scheme detailing all plant, machinery, 
chimneys, ducting, filters or extraction vents to be used in connection with the use have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented prior to the use commencing and be so retained

Reason
To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a satisfactory 
visual relationship between the existing and new development in accordance with 
adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Hard Surface and Boundary Treatments

9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping, including details of 
proposed replacement tree planting, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The landscaping works shall be completed in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the completion of the development or the first occupation of 
any of the rooms whichever is sooner.  The scheme shall include: 
 proposed boundary treatments;
 proposed finished levels and contours; 
 hard surface finishes to the vehicle parking areas, pedestrian accesses, private 

amenity areas and internal courtyards;
 details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other   

supporting structures; and

Page 190



  details of the pedestrian access and circulation areas.

Reason 
To protect and enhance the visual amenity and the character of the area and to ensure a 
satisfactory environment for existing and future residents in accordance with Policy CS19 
of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

 
Soft Landscaping Scheme 

 
10. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 

details shown on the approved plans a scheme detailing the proposed soft landscaping 
shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include the type and species of planting to be carried out, to include their 
quantity and size as well as arrangements for aftercare. Thereafter the approved soft 
landscaping scheme shall be carried out in full during the first available planting season 
following first occupation of the development. Any trees or plants that die, are damaged, 
removed or become diseased within five years from the date that the development is first 
brought into use shall be replaced with a species of a similar size and species during the 
next available planting season.

Reason
To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the long term in the interests of the visual 
amenity of the development, in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Parking Spaces

11. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved the vehicle parking 
areas shown on Drawing No.232A-Q-4-B shall be formed, surfaced, drained and marked 
out in accordance with a scheme first to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and 
Country (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any 
provision equivalent to it in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order, 
with or without modification, no development shall be carried out on the site in such a 
manner or in such a position as to preclude the use of or access to the reserved vehicle 
parking and turning areas.  For the avoidance of doubt this shall include details of staff, 
visitor and disabled parking arrangements.

Reason
To ensure sufficient off street car parking provision is available to serve the development, 
in accordance with Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 
2014) and saved Policy P3 of Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994).

External Lighting

12. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans details of all proposed external lighting shall be 
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.  The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with these approved details and no 
additional external lighting shall be provided on the site without the permission of the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason

Page 191



In order to ensure the development does not cause harm to residential amenity by 
reason of the installation of intrusive lighting and in accordance Policy CS19 Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

 
Cycle Storage

13. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans details of the cycle storage facilities shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
cycle store shall be provided prior to first occupation of the development and thereafter 
be retained for such purposes at all times.

Reason
In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with Policy CS19 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policy P3 of 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994).

Electric Charging Points
 

14. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved details for provision of 
cabling containment to enable charging facilities to be installed for electric vehicles for 
the future occupants of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the first occupation of any of the ground floor rooms hereby 
approved. For the avoidance of doubt the Local Planning Authority would expect at least 
20% of the development to have electric charging points. 

Reason
To encourage the use of sustainable and more environmentally acceptable modes of 
transport, and in accordance with Policy CS11, CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Watching Brief

15. A watching brief shall be undertaken during construction in case any contamination issue 
is encountered.  If during development any contamination is found, the local planning 
authority should be informed as soon as practical and the work shall not continue until 
written agreement is provided by the LPA as to the appropriate measures to be taken to 
resolve the matter and they are satisfied that those measures have been carried out.

 
Reason
To ensure that any risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors, having regard to 
policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

1 REASON FOR IMPOSITION OF PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS

2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION- 
TAKING

3 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

Page 192



4 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

5 SOUTHERN WATER

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



38

32

61

49

30

44

GOODWOOD CRESCENT

21

20

15

CHELTENHAM CLOSE

21

4524

14

8

30

10

2

1

22

41

WE
ST

FIE
LD

 C
LO

SE

14

47

Hevercourt

20180682
Hevercourt Residential Home,
Goodwood Crescent, Gravesend, DA12 5EY

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 10 205 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,000

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20190678

Site Address: 2 Portland Villas, Windmill Street, Gravesend. DA12 1LQ

Application 
Description:

Retention of the uPVC casement windows at 1st floor level and 
replacement of uPVC sash windows with uPVC casement windows 
at 2nd floor on the front elevation.

Applicant: Mr and Mrs Conway

Agent: Ms H Ebcin, Barron Edwards Ltd

Ward: Central

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 30 August 2019

Publicity Expiry Date: 16 August 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board – 4 September 2019

Reason for referral: At the Request of Cllr Thompson.

Recommendation: Refusal 

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

The proposal is to retain recently installed front uPVC windows at first floor and replace 
existing slim-line sash uPVC  windows at second floor with a thicker framed tilting uPVC 
window.

Whilst the Conservation Area does exhibit a limited number of examples of unsympathetic and 
uncharacteristic uPVC windows, which have generally been installed without the benefit of 
planning permission, the proposed windows serve to present a further diminution of the quality 
of character and appearance, and do not preserve or enhance the Conservation Area in which 
they are located.  The development therefore conflicts with the objectives of Policy TC3 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994, Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Core Strategy 2014 
and paragraph 192 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

As such it is considered that this planning application cannot be supported.

1. Proposal and Site Description 

1.1 The proposal is to retain the uPVC bay windows, installed following the unauthorised 
removal of timber casement windows on the first floor, and to replace the existing 
uPVC sash windows with uPVC casement windows on the second floor bay.

Page 197 Agenda Item 5e



1.2 The site is within the urban boundary of Gravesend which is covered by Policy CS02 
of the Gravesham Core Strategy 2014 which supports the principle of development 
within the urban area.  The site is also located within the Windmill Hill Conservation 
Area and Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 requires the LPA to be satisfied that special attention has been paid to 
desirability of preserving the character or appearance of the Windmill Hill 
Conservation Area.

2. Relevant Planning History

2.1 20180963 - Construction of a vehicular access on to a classified road and provision of 
car parking area.  Refused 10.05.2019.  Appeal lodged (GBC ref 2019/00051/REF; 
Planning Inspectorate ref APP/K2230/W/19/3234934) and underway.

3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):

 CS01 – Sustainable Development 
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS19 – Design & Development Principles
 CS20 – Heritage and the Historic Environment

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):

• TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

• Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
• Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance

• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)

• Windmill Hill Conservation Area Appraisal

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Publicity

4.1 This application was advertised by way of site notice, press notice and individual 
neighbour letters to 10 properties.  No letters of representation have been 
received. 

Page 198



Consultees 

Internal 

Conservation Officer

The proposal site forms one of a pair of linked semi-detached Victorian Villas 
(originally four dwellings in the Italianate style which was popularised by Queen 
Victoria and Prince Albert with the reconstruction of Osborne House between 1845 
and 1851 by the architect Thomas Cubitt).  The use of painted render, triple arched 
windows and deep bracketed eaves all contribute to the Italianate style that can be 
seen at 1-4 Portland Villas.

The elevations, and plan form, of Numbers 1 & 2 Portland Villas are a mirror image of 
those at numbers 3 & 4 and the group makes a positive contribution to the 
conservation area.  Whilst there are subtle variations in window fenestration with the 
adoption of timber casement and sash windows there was a harmony of thin window 
frame profile that complemented the group.

The windows in question are those on the front elevation and within the two storey 
bay window of the semi-detached Victorian villa at number 2 Portland Villas.  The bay 
window is reflected in the adjacent bay window at number 3 Portland Villas which 
retains timber sash windows.  Although there is a variation in the use of casement 
windows and vertical sliding sash windows the thin profiles of the window frames and 
traditional design offer visual harmony with a fenestration design that is not out of 
character with buildings of this period.

On the middle floor, the alterations result in the removal traditionally constructed 
timber casement windows with thin profiled timber window frames and flush fitting 
sash casements.  Whilst the upper floor windows are of uPVC construction, they are 
vertical sliding sash windows, whereas the proposed replacement will look visually 
heavy in appearance, being constructed with heavy frame sections and projecting 
window profiles.

It can be seen from the unauthorised alterations that the replacement windows are 
completely out of character with the adjacent villas in the group.  The replacements 
are of visually heavy uPVC window frames with projecting profile storm casement 
sashes.  The appearance is modern and alien to the building and destroys the visual 
harmony of the group.

Such gradual erosion of architectural detail results in a loss of the qualities that 
contribute to the appearance of the conservation area.  It is for this reason that there 
is an Article 4 Direction in place.

For the reasons set out above it is not possible to support the proposals, which cause 
harm to the special character and appearance of the conservation area.

5. Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

           Site Context

Page 199



5.1 The site forms one of a pair of linked semi-detached Victorian Villas (originally four 
dwellings in the Italianate style which was popularised by Queen Victoria and Prince 
Albert with the reconstruction of Osborne House between 1845 and 1851 by the 
architect Thomas Cubitt).  The use of painted render, triple arched windows and deep 
bracketed eaves all contribute to the Italianate style that can be seen at 1-4 Portland 
Villas.

5.2 The elevations, and plan form, of Numbers 1 & 2 Portland Villas are a mirror image of 
those at numbers 3 & 4 and the group makes a positive contribution to the 
Conservation Area.  Whilst there are subtle variations in window fenestration with the 
adoption of timber casement and sash windows there was a harmony of thin window 
frame profile that complemented the group.

5.3 The windows in question are those on the front elevation and within the two storey 
bay window of the semi-detached Victorian villa at number 2 Portland Villas.  The bay 
window is reflected in the adjacent bay window at number 3 Portland Villas which 
retains timber sash windows.  Although there is a variation in the use of casement 
windows and vertical sliding sash windows, the thin profiles of the window frames and 
traditional design offer visual harmony with a fenestration design that is not out of 
character with buildings of this period.

5.4 On the middle (first) floor, the alterations have resulted in the removal of traditionally 
constructed timber casement windows, which had thin profiled timber window 
frames.  Whilst the existing upper (second) floor windows are of uPVC construction, 
they are vertical sliding sash windows, whereas the proposed replacement will look 
visually heavier in appearance, being constructed with heavy frame sections and 
projecting window profiles.

5.5 It can be seen from the unauthorised alterations that the replacement windows are 
completely out of character with the adjacent villas in the group.  The replacements 
are of visually heavy uPVC window frames with projecting profile storm casement 
sashes, evident even when closed.  The appearance is modern and alien to the 
building and undermines the remaining visual harmony of the group.

5.6 Such gradual erosion of architectural detail results in a loss of the qualities that 
contribute to the appearance of the Conservation Area.  It is for this reason that there 
is an Article 4 Direction in place.

5.7 The applicant’s agent has provided a statement to supplement the application which 
references a number of appeals and case law however it is noted that this is over 16 
years old and therefore cannot be considered recent.  A recent appeal decision 
issued on 2nd August 2019 (APP/K2230/D/19/3228435) within Gravesham for the 
replacement of windows within a Conservation Area was dismissed (see appendix A 
of this report).  In this appeal the Inspector‘s attention was drawn to various examples 
within the Conservation Area where less sympathetic windows had been installed.  
The Inspector agreed that the replacement windows were good quality however, did 
not agree that they were a ‘like-for-like’ replacement.  The Inspector gave significant 
weight to the detailed variance in proportions and materials between the prior and 
proposed windows in that case (paragraph 5):

Page 200



“the glazing itself has a distinct flatness and high reflective quality to it, compared to 
traditional glazing. In my view, a combination of that detailing has resulted in 
significant loss of period detailing and detracted from the character of this very 
pleasant building.”

5.8 The Inspector also concluded that the replacement windows caused harm to the 
character of the building and that, as a result, the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area had been neither preserved nor enhanced. In reaching that 
finding, the Inspector was also mindful of recent a recent Court of Appeal decision 
where it was held that a decision maker, having found harm to a heritage asset, must 
give that harm ‘considerable importance and weight’.  

5.9 The appellant had also referenced the same case law from 2002 that the agent for 
this current application has cited, which the Inspector did not afford any significant 
weight, as she stated that she had no particular details of that case and that such 
matters need to be decided on the individual merits and site circumstances of each 
particular proposal.  This recent and relevant appeal, whilst considered on the merits 
of that specific development, clearly concludes that the consideration of detailed 
changes to glazing materials, proportions and form is highly relevant, and able to 
significantly impact upon the character and appearance of a Conservation Area, even 
in instances where there are some examples of other “less than sympathetic 
alterations” (paragraph 7).  The appeal decision also highlights that the intentions of 
the Council to safeguard such detailed elements within the Conservation Area are 
further illustrated by the adoption of an Article 4 direction, as is also the cause at this 
site.

5.10 The use of thick, plastic casement windows in this case clearly neither preserves nor 
enhances the Windmill Hill Conservation Area, only relying on highlighting a limited 
number of other unsympathetic alterations locally which have themselves neither 
preserved or enhance the Conservation Area. Therefore for the reasons set out 
above it is not possible to support the proposals, which cause harm to the special 
character and appearance of the conservation area.  The replacement windows 
therefore conflict with the objectives of Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review 1994, Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Core Strategy 2014 and paragraph 192 
of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

5.11 The limited benefits arising from the installation of the windows already installed or 
proposed to be installed does not outweigh the clear harm to the character and 
appearance of the host building and Conservation Area.  Authentic, wooden or 
otherwise constructed windows are available which can deliver adequate levels of 
thermal and noise insulation, and as such no significant weight can be afforded to the 
environmental benefits of the windows proposed herein.

Neighbouring Amenity

5.12 No adverse impact on the amenity of adjacent properties.  

Parking and Highways

Page 201



5.13 No adverse impact on off road parking or highway safety.

6.         Conclusions 

6.1 The retention of the first floor uPVC windows and the proposed uPVC windows at 
second floor do and will result in a development that is harmful to, and therefore 
neither preserves or enhances, the character and appearance of the host building 
and wider Windmill Hill Conservation Area within which the property lies.  The 
application is therefore contrary to Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review 1994, Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Core Strategy 2014 and paragraph 192 
of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

6.2 The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to local and national planning 
policy it is recommended the proposal is refused.

_________________________________________________________________________

REFUSAL on the following grounds:

1. The retention of the first floor uPVC windows and the proposed uPVC windows at 
second floor will result in a development that is harmful to, and neither preserves or 
enhances, the host building or the Windmill Hill Conservation Area within which the 
property lies and is therefore contrary to Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
First Review 1994, Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Core Strategy 2014 and 
paragraph 192 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

INFORMATIVES

1. DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS 

For the avoidance of doubt the decision to refuse this application was taken in relation to the 
following plans and documents:

Application Form;
Drawing No WS2-A-P1: Location Plan;
Conservation Technical Note prepared by Barron Edwards

2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-
TAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019, the Local Planning Authority has 
approached the assessment and determination of this application in a positive and creative 
way and, where appropriate, has worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a 
development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development Plan for the area.  

Page 202



In this instance the application is not in accordance with local and national planning policy 
and cannot be supported.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

See Appendix A: Appeal decision APP/K2230/D/19/3228435 - 15 The Street Shorne 

Page 203



APPENDIX A: 

Appeal decision APP/K2230/D/19/3228435 - 15 The Street Shorne

Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



1

1

6

24

37.0m
95

23

WINDMILL STREET

Portland Villias

Sunnyside

37.7m

20190678
2 Portland Villas, Windmill Street,
Gravesend, Kent, DA12 1LQ

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 9.5 194.75 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:500

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20160215 - Tollgate Hotel, Watling Street, Gravesend DA13 9RA - report herewith
	20160215 - Appendix 1 - Original Report to Board  07 February 2018
	20160215 - Appendix 2 - Supplementary Report to Board 07 February 2018
	20160215 - Appendix 3 -Tollgate Advice Note re Quashed Decision
	20160215 - Tollgate Site Plan

	5b 20190451 - 74 Parrock Street, Gravesend DA12 1HF - report herewith
	20190451 - 74 Parrock Street SITE PLAN

	5c 20190372 - Land adjacent to 90 Downs Road, Istead Rise, Gravesend DA13 9HQ - report herewith
	20190372

	5d 20180682 - Hevercourt Residential Care Home, Goodwood Crescent, Gravesend DA12 5EY - report herewith
	20180682

	5e 20190678 - 2 Portland Villas, Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1LQ - report herewith
	20190678


